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CHAIRLADY'S STATEMENT
FRE S

The Group faced various difficulties during this financial year.
While the impact of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic was
lessened as it has been persisting for more than three years,
and the Group has adopted various measures to mitigate the
operation risks and to maintain the stability of its businesses, it
is inevitable that the Group’s performance was affected resulting
with an overall decrease in the profitability of the Group’s
business.

Furthermore, the stock market was dragged by a number
of unfavourable news during the year leading to a less than
satisfactory performance from our financial services business.
The Group has diversified into the bond placing market, but
considering the market sentiment and expectation of the macro-
economic environment, the bond placing business is developing
slowly. Our management will strive to increase the Group's
exposure and scale of operations within the capital markets and
may introduce new services to potential customers.

All in all, the Group will be reassessing and re-engineering its
strategies from time to time in response to the ever changing
environment. In May 2023, the Group entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with two potential
vendors, pursuant to which the Group may venture into the
healthcare business in the mainland China.

Looking ahead, the Group will actively identify and explore
investment and business opportunities to strengthen and
broaden its assets and revenue base into a comprehensive
portfolio. The Group will cautiously grasp of every opportunity to
enhance and improve the business operation and profitability of
the Group.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our Board and
colleagues for their effort and dedication. | would also like to
express my deepest appreciation to all our business partners and
shareholders for their continuing confidence in our Group.

Zheng Juhua
Chairlady
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$198.9 million
with a gross profit of approximately HK$32.9 million during
the year ended 31 March 2023 as compared to approximately
HK$169.4 million and HK$43.1 million respectively for the last
corresponding year. The loss for the year was approximately
HK$41.8 million as compared to approximately HK$27.2 million for
the last corresponding year. The increase in loss for the year was
mainly attributable to the net effect of the followings:

(i) decreases in gross profit and other income for the year
of approximately HK$10.3 million and HK$7.9 million
respectively;,

(i) a decrease in administrative expenses of approximately
HK$3.6 million and the recognition of a tax credit of
approximately HK$3.1 million whilst a tax expense of
approximately HK$0.8 million was recorded in the last
corresponding year,

(i) a decrease in aggregate amount of impairment losses on
receivables of approximately HK$11.6 million;

(iv) adecrease in gain on disposal/changes in fair value of held-
for-trading investments of approximately HK$3.7 million,
and

(v) a decrease in gains on bargain purchase of approximately
HK$11.8 million arising from the acquisition of additional
interest in an associate.

As at 31 March 2023, the total assets and net assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$916.1 million (2022: HK$1,018.7
million) and HK$833.1 million (2022: HK$924.3 million) respectively.
The decrease in total assets and net assets were mainly caused
by the loss for the year as mentioned above and the exchange
losses recognised as other comprehensive loss due to the
depreciation of Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars in the current
year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Trading Business

The Group is principally engaged in trading of food and
electronic products in the PRC. The Group recorded a turnover
of approximately HK$169.2 million with a loss of approximately
HK$6.3 million from its trading business during year ended 31
March 2023 as compared to approximately HK$125.9 million with
a loss of approximately HK$7.5 million for the same period in
2022. The decrease in the loss recorded for the year ended 31
March 2023 was mainly caused by the increase in gross profit
generated as a result of the increase in revenue.

A turnover of approximately HK$63.2 million was attributed
from trading of food products for the year ended 31 March
2023, as compared to approximately HK$53.6 million for the
last corresponding year. In addition, the Group also recorded a
turnover of approximately HK$106.0 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 from trading of electronic parts for production
of electronic equipment mainly for local consumption in the
PRC, as compared to approximately HK$72.3 million for the last
corresponding year. The gross profit attributed by the trading
business was approximately HK$3.2 million for the current
year whilst it was approximately HK$2.3 million for the last
corresponding year.

During the last corresponding year, the continued impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic and the signs of the down-turning economy
in the PRC affected the demand of consumer goods which led to
the management of the Group taking a more prudent business
strategy to minimise the Group’s business risk. However, as
the COVID-19 pandemic has persisted for over 2 years since
its outbreak, people is becoming more adapted in living with
the pandemic around and anti-pandemic measures are finally
relaxed in early 2023. The disrupted supply chains are gradually
improving, and in light with the introduction of the economic dual
circulation strategy by the PRC government with an emphasis on
the domestic market, the management has been sourcing new
potential customers for our trading business for the expected
increase in consumption demand in the retail markets. According
to the statistics from the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC,
dispensable income per capita recorded an increase in 2022 as
compared to 2021. As the Group's trading business focused on
electronic parts and imported seafood which are discretionary
goods in nature, such changes in the macro-economic
environment contributed to an increase in revenue from the
Group's trading business. The Group is prudently optimistic of the
prospects of the trading business while remains vigilant in the
development and impact of the pandemic and the subsequent
normalization.
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Money Lending and Factoring Business

The Group offers corporate and personal loans in Hong Kong and
the PRC to well-established businesses and affluent individuals
of occupations ranging from executives, businessmen and
professionals. Clients are generally solicited through (i) the
directors and senior management of the subsidiaries whom are
in charge of each of the lending businesses; (i) direct approaches
from clients; and (iii) referral from existing clients.

The loan portfolio consists of loans with initial terms generally
ranging from 1 to 3 years and outstanding balances of
approximately HK$5 million to HK$30 million which are principally
for the development and expansion of their businesses and their
corporate and personal needs.

The Group also offers factoring loans on trade receivables in
the PRC with initial terms of not more than 6 months and sizes
ranging from approximately RMB10 million to RMB20 million in
general. The financing purpose of the Group’s clients is principally
for their operation requirements.

The Group has outstanding loan portfolios in Hong Kong and the
PRC amounted to approximately HK$209.9 million and factoring
receivables of approximately HK$20.9 million as at 31 March
2023. The Group recognised an aggregate interest income of
approximately HK$15.3 million and a profit of approximately
HK$9.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 as compared
to approximately HK$16.4 million and a loss of HK$5.4 million
respectively for the last corresponding year. The turnaround was
mainly caused by the decrease in provision for impairment loss
on loan and interest receivables which was approximately HK$3.6
million (2022: 16.4 million) for the current year.

Collaterals and guarantors would be obtained from clients
as appropriate on a case-by-case basis by considering the
background, repayment ability and credit worthiness of the
potential clients a whole. While the Group aims to have securities
over the loans granted in accordance with the industry practice
and in compliance with the relevant regulations, if applicable,
unsecured loans may also be granted which is considered by the
Group as a balance of our product-mix and part of our portfolio.
Nevertheless, the Group is conservatively prudent in assessing
the creditworthiness of the unsecured loans including but not
limited to the review and inspection of asset title, asset portfolio,
leverage level and liquidity conditions before approval.
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In 2022, the lending prime rate of the PRC has been decreasing
and new bank lendings in the PRC has been increasing. Amid
the introduction of policy-easing measures included policies
to stabilise economy by the PRC government, the Group has
cautiously adjusted its loan portfolio to take advantage of the
market opportunities to generate revenue for the shareholders
of the Company under acceptable and controllable levels of risk,
and re-balance the mixture of different types of loans according
to their various risk profiles. However, as a majority of new
loans from this segment were granted in the second half of the
current financial year at interest rates as marked to market,
the contribution of such loans to the results of the Group was
not fully reflected in the current financial year. The Group will
assess and closely monitor the credit worthiness of our new
and existing clients respectively, in accordance with our internal
control measures and, when necessary, formulate the appropriate
actions to reduce our credit risk and recovery of the outstanding
amounts.

Finance Leasing Business

The Group is engaged in finance leasing business in the PRC and
mainly offers machinery/equipment-based finance leases, the
terms of which generally ranges from 1 to 5 years and the size of
which generally ranges from RMB5 million to RMB30 million. The
Group provides both direct leasing and sale-leaseback services to
customers and the financing purpose of the Group's customers is
principally for the development and expansion of their business.

The finance leasing business maintained a portfolio with
outstanding principal amount of approximately HK$47.1
million as at 31 March 2023. The finance leasing portfolio has
attributed a turnover of approximately HK$1.9 million with a loss
of approximately HK$6.7 million to the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2023 as compared to approximately HK$7.6
million and a loss of approximately HK$1.3 million respectively
for the last corresponding year. As the management considered
asset-heavy clients faces more business risks in this turbulent
economic environment and hence was more prudent in
accepting new businesses, no finance lease was granted during
the year, resulting with decrease in interest income generated.
As previously reported, there were clients who were severely
affected by the down-turning economy and the incidental
disruption of supply chains caused by the COVID-19 pandemic,
resulting with default in repayments on schedules. While the
Group has taken necessary legal proceedings to seize and
safeguard the assets secured, a further provision for impairment
loss on finance lease receivables of approximately HK$3.9 million
was made which attributed to the loss recorded for the current
year. The Group will closely monitor the credit worthiness of the
clients and formulate appropriate actions for recovery of the
outstanding lease receivables.
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Financial Services Business

The Group acquired the financial services business in December
2019 (the "Acquisition”) which is principally engaged in provision
of securities dealing broking, placing, underwriting, margin
financing and asset management services in Hong Kong.

The market sentiment was generally positive and the market
was flourishing since the Acquisition, meanwhile the Hong Kong
stock market reached its highest point during the first half of
2021. Thereafter, the stock market was dragged by unfavorable
news including government policies reforms in the PRC, the
sky-rocketing inflation in the United States and the outbreak of
the Russia-Ukraine war etc. Since then, the market sentiment
deteriorated and investors’ mentality eroded. The market
downturn of Hong Kong persisted and plummeted to a new low
point during the year. The management expects the stock market
sentiment may not recover soon and will remain volatile and
turmoil.

The financial services business has attributed a turnover of
approximately HK$12.5 million with a loss (excluding impairment
losses on intangible assets and goodwill) of approximately
HK$24.1 million to the Group during the year ended 31 March
2023, as compared to approximately HK$19.5 million and a loss
(excluding impairment losses on goodwill) of approximately
HK$18.1 million respectively for the last corresponding year.
The increase in loss recorded for the current period was mainly
caused by the decrease in revenue as detailed below and the
increase in provision for impairment loss on account receivables
from margin clients and costs for soliciting bond placing clients.

Considering that the stock market was under-performed during
the years, in order to increase the Group's exposure within the
capital markets, the management has actively explored the
probability on the development of the debt financing market and
other financial services so as to enlarge the sources of income.
However, due to unstable economic conditions, the bond market
was also not performing well with many firms have delayed their
plans.
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During the Company's preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, based on the latest financial information available
and the deteriorating market conditions as mentioned above, the
Group re-assesses its position, with reference to the actual results
up to the date of this report and the prospects of the financial
services business. As such, the profit and cashflow forecast
prepared by the Group for the assessment of the recoverable
amounts of the financial services business has incorporated the
most updated information for the best estimate of the impairment
of intangible assets and goodwill, if any, and the corresponding
changes in fair value of other financial assets arising from the
profit guarantee given by the vendors of this business unit.

Based on the impairment assessment on the assets of this
business unit, the Group noted that the carrying amounts of
this business unit exceeded their recoverable amounts, and
thus, impairment losses on intangible assets and goodwill of
approximately HK$4.7 million and HK$4.0 million respectively
were recognised in the current year. As there is a difference
between the actual shortfall of the profit guarantee and the
expected shortfall estimated at the end of the previous year, a
fair value gain on other financial assets of approximately HK$11.8
million was recognised in the current year. The net effect in
aggregate of the impairments and changes in fair value of other
financial assets is not significant to the Company’s consolidated
net assets or operating results for the year as they were
substantially compensated by each other.

In respect of the profit guarantee given by the vendors of
the Acquisition, there is a net amount receivable from the
vendors of approximately HK$53.1 million, which comprised
the balances due from the vendors under the second and third
guaranteed vears (i.e. the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2022), after setting off the amounts payable by the Group to
the vendors including the relevant retained considerations as at
the end of the reporting period. During the year, the Group has
actively negotiated with the vendors for the settlement and has
instructed our lawyers to issue a writ of summons to initiate legal
proceedings against the vendors for recovery of the amount
receivable in December 2022. In May 2023, the Company and the
vendors agreed on a settlement arrangement, under which the
vendors agreed to pay jointly and severally of the amounts due
from them under the second guaranteed year in five instalments
from May 2023 to August 2023. The legal proceedings in respect
of the balances due under the second guaranteed year was
stayed pending the full payment of such balances. The Company
is in the process of continuing negotiations with the vendors on
payment of balances under the third guaranteed year. Further
updates regarding this profit guarantee will be announced by the
Company as and when appropriate.
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The COVID-19 Pandemic and Prospects

The COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent normalization measures
has significant impact on and brought uncertainty to the global
economy and the Group would review and adjust its business
strategies on a regular basis with a prudent and balanced risk
management approach so as to cope with the current economic
situation. Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
the Group was not aware of any material adverse impact on the
consolidated financial statements as a result of the COVID-19
outbreak.

Potential Business Development

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, in May 2023, the
Company entered into a non-legally binding memorandum of
understanding with two potential vendors, pursuant to which
the Company intends to acquire an equity interest in a target
company which is principally engaged in (a) marketing and sales
of medical equipment and nutritional supplements, (b) marketing
of medicine, and (c) provision of operation systems and training
for clinics in the PRC. As at the date of this report, the Group has
not yet entered into any formal agreements in respect of this
proposed acquisition.

Looking forward, the Group will actively identify and explore other
investment and business opportunities to broaden its assets
and revenue base and may consider restructuring its business
segments pursuant to the ever-changing economic environment
in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group will cautiously search for
investment opportunities so as to produce a steady growth in the
Group's long term performance.

Securities Investments

The Group invested surplus funds in securities listed in Hong Kong
during the year. The fair value of the Group's securities investment
amounted to approximately HK$7.4 million as at 31 March 2023.
The Group recorded a loss on changes in fair value of held-for-
trading investments of approximately HK$4.8 million during the
year as compared to a loss of approximately HK$1.2 million for
the last corresponding year. The Group disposed certain of the
held-for-trading investments with a gain of approximately HK$5.5
million during the year, as compared to a gain of approximately
HK$5.7 million for the last corresponding year. The management
will continue to keep monitoring the stock markets closely and
grasping for opportunities to realise gains from its investment
portfolio.
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$138.5 million (2022: HK$217.0 million) and
total borrowings of approximately HK$22.4 million (2022: HK$14.4
million). The Group's gearing ratio, calculated by dividing total
borrowings by total equity, was 2.69% (2022: 1.56%) and liquidity
ratio, being the ratio of current assets over current liabilities was
9.33 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 11.83).

The decrease in the gearing ratio was mainly due the increase
in lease liabilities to and the decrease in the liquidity ratio was
mainly due to the decrease in cash and bank balances during the
year.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$"), Renminbi (‘RMB”) and US dollar ("US$") and
its revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and borrowings are
principally denominated in HK$, RMB and US$. The Group does
not enter into any instruments on the foreign exchange exposure.
The Group will closely monitor exchange rate movement and
will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange risk as
appropriate.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FUND RAISING
ACTIVITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was 4,120,600,000.

There was no change in the capital structure of the Company
during the year.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS
As at 31 March 2023, none of the Group's asset was pledged to
secure any facilities and borrowings granted to the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
OF ASSETS

Save as the acquisition and disposal of held-for-trading
investments in securities as mentioned below, there has been no
significant acquisition and disposal of assets by the Group during
the year.
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SECURITIES INVESTMENTS HELD FrfssEsRE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had held-for-trading investments R _Z_=F=A=+—H A&EEFE®
in securities in Hong Kong (the “Securities Investments”) with  E#V%7,400,0008 THEFIFEE X HHRES
a market value of approximately HK$7.4 million. The Group  ([EBHKRE)) -RAFEN AEEMZE
recorded a realised gain of approximately HK$5.5 million in FEHFERERIFE “‘ZEEH&E&“’]S 500,000 7T © aZ
respect of the Securities Investments during the year. The other ZFH/FKER T _=F=B=+—HZH
details of the Securities Investments as at 31 March 2023 are as s BEEIINT :

follows:
% of net
assets of
Fair value the Group Loss
as at asat  on changes
Stock Number of % of Cost of 31 March 31 March in fair value
Company name code Principal activities shares held shareholdings  acquisition 2023 2023  for the year
HERER
—ECZ=
RZEZ=§ =Z=B=+-H KEE
ZA=+—-R ZBERE ARAEEH
AERIE RIART FEEH FIsRINEE BRESL WeEg B A ZRRE BAL 3|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR TER FiER
1 Vicon Holdings Limited 3878 Foundation works and ancillary 21,886,000 4.56% 3916 2,714 0.33% (1,202)
services, and general building
works in Hong Kong and Macau
and leasing of construction
machinery
TEEREMRBMETIRREE
PR R — R R TR MR R
WiEE
2 Unity Enterprise Holdings 2195 Provision of repair, maintenance, 63,050,000 6.31% 8,367 4,729 0.57% (3,638)
Limited alteration and addition works
RECEZERBRAR services in Hong Kong
HEBREEE RE BEERM
BIR
12,283 7,443 (4,840)
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
FACING BY THE GROUP

Competition

The Group competes in the finance leasing business market and
financial services business market with other competitors in the
PRC and Hong Kong respectively, which may have substantially
greater financial or other resources than the Group. The Group
may also face competition from new entrants to the industry
having business objectives similar to the Group and have greater
financial resources. If the Group fail to maintain its advantages in
cost control, customer base and quality of service, it may lose its
market share in the market.

Business Concentration

A significant portion of the Group's revenues is derived from the
operations in the PRC. Unfavourable events in the country could
disrupt our overall business, lower our revenues, and impact the
valuation of our assets.

Furthermore, the revenue derived from the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 69% (2022: 72%) of the total
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023. If any of the five
largest customers experiences significant financial difficulty, this
could lower our revenues and the recoverability of the trade
receivables.

Financial Risk

Financial risk factors include credit risk, market risk and liquidity
risk. Details of the aforesaid financial risk factors and the
respective risk management measures are set out in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2023.

COMMITMENTS
Details of the commitments are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed 46 employees. The
Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training.
The Group remunerates its Directors and employees mainly
based on industry practices and individual’s performance and
experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be granted to eligible staff by reference to
the Group's performance as well as individual’s performance.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the
year under review, there were no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to maintain high environmental
standards to ensure sustainable development of its business.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, the Group complied with the relevant laws,
rules and regulation that have a significant impact on the Group
in relation to its business. The Group has always encouraged
all employees to participate environmental activities to make
contribution to the community.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board believes that good governance is essential to the
maintenance of the Group’s competitiveness and to its healthy
growth. The Company has adopted practices which meet the
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”")
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure its continuous compliance with the CG Code.
The Company has been in compliance with all code provisions set
out in the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2023.

CULTURE AND STRATEGIC PLANNING

The Company is committed to developing a positive and
progressive culture that is built on its purpose and values; one
that allows employees across the Group to thrive, meet their full
potential, and that enables the Company to deliver long-term
sustainable growth and success.

The Company’s purpose is to connect, promote and progress our
business and the communities for the prosperity of all. Our values
include:

Integrity — to do the right things

Diversity — to recognize great ideas come from anywhere
Excellence - to promote the best-in-class in what we do
Collaboration - to be better together always

The Company is committed to ongoing strategic planning process
to identify and assess the opportunities and challenges that the
Group might face and to generate sustainable long-term value for
shareholders.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the control and leadership of the
Group and its duties include the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, business strategies, internal control systems,
material transactions, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational, financial and legal compliance matters.
The Board delegates the authority to manage the daily affairs of
the Group to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the senior management
on behalf of the Group.
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Specifically in relation to corporate governance function, the
Board is responsible for the corporate governance function as a
whole, and establishes an internal control group to be responsible
for the specific operation. During the year ended 31 March 2023
and up to the date of this report, the Board had performed the
following duties:

1. Developing and reviewing relevant corporate governance
policy and practice of the Company;

2. Reviewing and inspecting continuous professional
development and training of Directors and senior
management;

3. Reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the
Company being in compliance with the statutory and other
regulatory provisions;

4. Developing, reviewing and checking code and provision of
conducts applicable to the Directors and employees; and

5. Reviewing that the Company being in compliance with the
CG Code and corporate governance reporting requirements.

All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the business
and market changes and the Company's performance, position
and prospectus to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties. All Directors have full and timely access
to all relevant information in relation to the Group as well as the
advice from and services provided by the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”), if and when required,
with a view to ensure that the procedures are in compliance and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

There are established procedures for Directors upon
reasonable request, to seek independent advice in appropriate
circumstances for them to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, at the Company’s expenses.
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Directors’ Liabilities Insurance

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ liabilities in respect
of potential legal actions against the Directors arising out of
corporate activities of the Group pursuant to code provision C.1.8
of the CG Code. Such Directors’ liability insurance will be reviewed
and renewed annually.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, no claim has been
made against the Directors.

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises 2
executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors
from different businesses and professional fields. The Directors,
including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a
balance of valuable and diversified businesses and professional
expertises, experiences and independent judgment to the
Board for its efficient and effective management of the Group's
business.

The Board during the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the
date of this report has comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Zheng Juhua — Chairlady
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen — Chief Executive Officer

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Man Kwok Leung — Chairman of Nomination Committee
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter — Chairman of Remuneration Committee
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth — Chairman of Audit Committee
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There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship) between any members of the Board.
The composition of the Board reflects a diverse yet balanced set
of skills and experience which is essential for effective leadership
of the Company. Biographic details of Directors are disclosed in
the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
section of the Report of the Directors.

The Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company. The Directors have disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies and
organisations and an indication of the time involved. They are
also reminded to notify the Company in a timely manner of any
change of such information.

Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairlady and the Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") are held by different persons for purpose of maintaining
independence and a more balanced basis for judgments and
decisions. The key role of the Chairlady is to provide leadership
to the Board. In performing her duties, the Chairlady shall
ensure that the Board functions effectively in the discharge of its
responsibilities. The Chairlady also has the responsibility of taking
the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company and the Group.

The key role of the CEO is to be responsible for the day-to-day
management and operations of the Company and business of the
Group. The duties of the CEO mainly include:

. providing leadership and supervising the effective
management of the Company;

o monitoring and controlling the financial and operational
performance of various divisions, and

. implementing the strategy and policies adopted by the

Company, setting and implementing objectives and
development plans.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors, of whom Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth has appropriate
professional qualifications and related experiences in financial
matters.

During the year, Mr. Man Kwok Leung (“Mr. Man"), one of the
independent non-executive Directors, retired by rotation and,
being eligible, offered himself for re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 24 August 2022. Mr. Man
joined the Company since April 2011 and has been serving as
an independent non-executive director for more than nine years.
The Company has complied with the code provision B.2.3 of the
CG Code that the election of Mr. Man as an independent non-
executive director was subject to a separate resolution and the
relevant circular contained reasons why the Board was of the
view that Mr. Man was still independent and should be re-elected.
The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of their independence
pursuant to the requirements of Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all independent non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years
which could be terminated by either party giving to the other not
less than 1 month’s written notice.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
The procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws”). The Company has established a nomination committee
to assist the Board for reviewing its composition, monitoring the
appointment and independence, where applicable, of Directors,
and identifying suitable and qualified individuals to become board
members where necessary.

In accordance with the Bye-laws, any Director appointed to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not greater than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election,
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years. The Directors (including those
appointed for a special term) to retire in every year shall be those
who have been longest in office since their last election but as
between persons who became Directors on the same day those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree between themselves)
be determined by lot. Any Director appointed by the Directors
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director will receive comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has proper
understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors whenever
necessary.

The Directors are continuously updated on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by them.

The Directors are committed to comply with code provision C.1.4
of CG Code on Directors’ training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the
Board will be informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities during the year under review.
In addition to their own participation in professional training,
relevant training and reading materials were provided to the
Directors by the Company in the year to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversed Board and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company's
strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge. The
Company will also take into consideration its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, there is one female Director
(i.e. Ms. Zheng Juhua, who is also the Chairlady of the Board).
Going forward, the Company aims to at least maintain the existing
level of female representation on the Board and will continue
to take opportunities to further improve gender diversity over
time, by paying due regard to the proportion of female and male
representation in the Board when identifying potential candidates
for directorships.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the implementation of the Diversity Policy to ensure
the effectiveness of the Diversity Policy.

The Board also recognises the importance of achieving
diversity at the workforce level. As at 31 March 2023, the
gender ratio of the workforce of the Group (including the senior
management) was approximately 1 male to 1 female. In striving
to maintain gender diversity in the workforce, the Group adopts
considerations and measurable objectives similar to those
applicable to the Board level when identifying and recruiting key
personnel across the Group’s operations.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee also reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure
independent views and valuable experience and input are
available to the Board. Taking into account the following channels,
the Nomination Committee considered that the Company had
in place mechanisms which remain effective to ensure a strong
independent and valuable element on the Board:

. Annual meeting between the Chairlady and all independent
non-executive Directors without presence of other Directors
providing effective platform for the Chairlady to listen
independent views on various issues concerning the Group;
and

3 Independent professional advice would be provided to
independent non-executive Directors upon reasonable
request to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company.

Whistleblowing and Anti-Corruption Policies

A whistleblowing policy for employees to voice concerns
about possible improprieties of the Group in a confidential and
anonymous manner and an anti-corruption policy to promote an
anti-corruption culture have been put in place by the Company.
The policies require its officers and employees to adhere to high
ethical business standards and monitors the implementation
of such measures under the overall supervision of the Audit
Committee.

Remuneration of Directors

Independent non-executive Directors are paid fees generally
in line with market practice and taking into consideration the
responsibilities and time spent by Independent non-executive
Directors on the Company’s affairs. The remuneration of
Executive Directors is determined by the Chairlady of the Board in
consultation with the Remuneration Committee after taking into
consideration market trends and responsibilities and performance
of the individual with a view to provide attractive reward to and
retain high performing individuals.

Annual Report 2023

FRN RREEETERZSERFINERS
MR UERESGRERFBITERN
RESEBRRER - KEBUTRE RLE
SERAE AT EETE MBS LIER
EFRETFARBNBIAESTER !

s IREZBEBUFNTESNHMES
TESNBERTRTEESR BERE
REBMFAEUBNERFTEESRE
BENBIER &

s EBRIUFNTEFENSESRORFR
HBUSEESR UMBKEFBRTHEY
RATBIRE

BHREREBEE
RABIBEMBRES  ZBREREURERE
A REHAEBOUEGENAETAZ
%ﬁii’LX&%%%%&@&&%‘FWI:E@&%F
BR -ZERRHATHeABERER BT
%ﬁ%m%ﬁﬁ’ﬁf%ﬁéé@%ﬁ%%
TEEZEHBINER-

EEH
KERBIUIFRTEETUE LR EH ZHE
BEKRFANTHZEE BUFATEFER
AR ERETHENZRE - RITEFTZH
ML REREFETREHFNEZETHER
KEBTSBERENESHELERE
RMmEE > URHITREMREETRES
ZERIES-



BEHEERFRAR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

R E TR

Responsibilities in Respect of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Group's consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, including Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
applicable Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibilities to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquires, they
are not aware of any material uncertainty relating to events of
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditor, Lau & Au Yeung C.PA.
Limited, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
105 to 114.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed and Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. These objectives are
achieved through adherence to proper Board processes and the
timely preparation and dissemination to Directors comprehensive
meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and
Board Committees are prepared and maintained by the Company
Secretary to record in sufficient details the matters considered
and decisions reached by the Board or Committee, including
any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director.
All draft and final minutes of Board meetings and meetings of
Board Committees are sent to Directors and Committee members
respectively for comments and records and are available for
inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and that it takes
these into consideration when making decisions for the Group.
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The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the
Group’s compliance with all obligations of the Listing Rules and
the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs,
including the preparation, publication and despatch of annual
reports and interim reports within the time limits laid down in the
Listing Rules, the timely dissemination to shareholders and the
market of information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on
their obligations for disclosure of interests and dealings in the
Group's securities, connected transactions and inside information
and ensures that the standards and disclosures required by the
Listing Rules are observed and, where required, reflected in the
annual report of the Company.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws. Whilst
the Company Secretary reports to the Chairlady, all members
of the Board have access to the advice and service of the
Company Secretary. Mr. Chau Kin Cheung, Alfred (“Mr. Chau”)
has been appointed as the Company Secretary in November
2021. Mr. Chau joined the Group in October 2021 and he has
day-to-day knowledge of the Group's affairs. The Company
Secretary confirmed that he has complied with all the required
qualifications, experience and training requirements of the Listing
Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the
financial and operating performance, and considering and
approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Notices
of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally
given for other Board meetings.

For committee meetings, notices are served in accordance
with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms of
reference.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are normally sent to all Directors before
each Board meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Group and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to senior management whenever necessary.
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Apart from the regular board meetings, the Board met on other
occasions from time to time when a board-level decision on a
particular matter was required.

Guidelines are in place which stipulate that any material matter
which involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or Director will be dealt with at a duly convened Board meeting.
The Company's Bye-laws also contain provisions stipulating the
procedures according to which any material matters involving
conflict of interests are to be approved at Board meeting.

Minutes of all Board meetings, recording sufficient details of
matters considered and decisions reached, are kept by the
secretary of the meetings, and are open for inspection by the
Directors.

During the year, a meeting has been held by the independent
non-executive Directors and the Chairlady without the executive
Directors present (the “Independent Meeting”), eleven Board
meetings and one general meeting were also held and the
individual attendance of each Director is set out below:
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Meetings Attended/Meetings Held

BHEZEE BRT2EE

Independent
Directors General Meeting Board Meeting Meeting
=5 8 N EETEE BigE
Ms. Zheng Juhua BMEIEL T 11 11/11 11
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen REEfE 11 11/11 N/A 38 FB
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BEBREE 1/1 11/11 11
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter RACKE 11 11/11 11
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEERE 11 11/11 11
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 3 committees, namely the audit
committee (the "Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) for overseeing particular aspects
of the Group's affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference.

The majority of the members of each Board committees are
independent non-executive Directors. The Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors of the Company, namely:

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (Chairman)
Mr. Man Kwok Leung
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter

The Audit Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Chi Chi
Hung, Kenneth, who possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The Audit Committee has specific written terms of reference
which lay down clearly its authority and duties. The main duties of
the Audit Committee include the followings:

(@  To review the consolidated financial statements and reports
and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
Group's staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function, compliance officer or auditor;

(b)  To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s

financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures;
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() To review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectively and the effectiveness of the audit; and

(d)  To review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees
and terms of management, and make recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditor.

The Audit Committee performed the work during the year
includes the followings:

o reviewed the annual and interim reports of the Company
as to whether they are in compliance with the accounting
standards and relevant requirements in relation to financial
reporting under the Listing Rules and other laws,

o reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system of the Group; and

o reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices,
financial reporting and statutory compliance matters.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, three meetings have been
held by the Audit Committee to approve the re-appointment of
the auditor, review the audit service plan for the year ended 31
March 2022, approve the internal control review report, approve
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2022 and to review the unaudited condensed
consolidated interim financial statements (including accounting
policies and practices adopted) of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2022 and recommended such consolidated
financial statements to the Board for approval.

In the meeting of the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, the consolidated financial statements and other
reports for the year ended 31 March 2023 and discuss any
significant audit matters with the Company’s external auditor
and the senior management before recommending them to
the Board for consideration and approval. The Audit Committee
recommended the Board in relation to the re-appointment of Lau
& Au Yeung C.PA. Limited as the Company's external auditor for
the ensuring year at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.
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The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee at the

R&E_T_=—F=-RB=+—HLEFER>

meeting during the year ended 31 March 2023 is as follows: BREZEEEMEHESENERUT !

Director Name Attendance
EENS HEX
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (Chairman) — Z=EE5%4E (Z/E) 3/3
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERASE 3/3
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter RECKEE 3/3

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises the following
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, namely:

Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter (Chairman)
Mr. Man Kwok Leung
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth

The Remuneration Committee has specific written terms of
reference which lay down clearly its authority and duties.
The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
followings:

@)

To review, recommend and approve the remuneration
policy and structure and remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management;

To review, recommend and approve performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

To determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management;

To review, recommend and approve the compensation
payable to executive Directors and senior management in
connection with any loss or termination of their office or
appointment; and

To establish transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration
will be determined by reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.
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The Remuneration Committee performed the work during the
year includes the followings:

o reviewed the remuneration policy for the Directors and
senior management; and

o reviewed and approved, with delegated responsibility from
the Board, the remuneration package of each Director and
the senior management including bonus payment, pension
right and compensation payable, if any.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, two meetings have
been held by the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration
Committee had discussed and reviewed the remuneration
packages for all Directors and senior management.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee
at the meeting during the year ended 31 March 2023 is as follows:
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Director Name Attendance
EEH4A HEE
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter (Chairman) RACKE (FE) 2/2
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BEIRLESE 2/2
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth =EHESE 2/2

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises the Chairlady and the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, namely:

Mr. Man Kwok Leung (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth

Ms. Zheng Juhua

The Nomination Committee has specific written terms of
reference which lay down clearly its authority and duties. The
main duties of the Nomination Committee include the followings:

(@ To review the criteria and procedures of selection
of Directors and senior management, and provide
suggestions;

(b)  To conduct extensive search for qualified candidates of
Directors and senior management;
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(c) To review the Board diversity policy and the progress on
achieving the objectives set for implementing the said
policy; and

(d) To assess the candidates for Directors and senior
management and provide the relevant recommendations.

Nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by
the Nomination Committee include the followings:

. assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

o in considering the nomination of new Directors, the
Nomination Committee will take into account a range of
diversity perspectives, which would include but not be
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service of the individual as the selection criteria; and

. identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, a meeting has been held
by the Nomination Committee to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and the effectiveness of the Diversity
Policy.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee
Director at the meeting during the year ended 31 March 2023 is
as follows:
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Director Name Attendance
EEH4 HEX
Mr. Man Kwok Leung (Chairman) BEREE (F/E) 1”1
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter RACKE 1/1
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth SEERE 11
Ms. Zheng Juhua BHIEL L 1/1
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INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Board adopted the Inside Information Policy, which contains
the guidelines to the Directors, senior management and all
relevant employees (likely possessing the unpublished inside
information) of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code
regarding securities transactions by Directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries and employees of the Group who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of
the Company. The Company has received written confirmation
from each Director that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year. Details of Directors’ interest are disclosed in
the “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” section of the
Report of the Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for the risk management
(including, among others, material risks relating to ESG) and
internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis, and
for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is also responsible
for establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems with regard to the
objectives of the Group. The established systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or l0ss.

The Group has successfully acquired the financial services
business in December 2019. Upon the completion of the
acquisition, the Group has recruited professionals to rebuild
the structure of the financial services business, as well as
the creation and amendment of appropriate procedures to
strengthen the internal control and compliance of the relevant
rules and regulations. The Group will stay focus on proper risk
management and other compliance issues at firms whilst taking
necessary actions and proactively gatekeeping on the code of the
daily operation of the financial services business, and fulfill the
regulatory requirements from time to time.
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During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review via an appointed internal
control adviser to perform internal audit function, on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, covering financial, operational, compliance
and risk management aspects on a rotation basis. Based on the
findings and recommendations, as well as the comments of
the Audit Committee, the Board considered the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group were effective and
adequate.

The Group adopts a complete process style of risk management
in a functional bottom up manner, including risk identification,
assessment, evaluation and treatment. The functional areas
across the Group provide input of risks with treatments, which
are appraised and maintained. The risk management system, as
well as the internal control system, are continuous, proactive and
systematic processes.

With the implementation of internal audit function, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems is reviewed by conducting internal audit assignments.
Recommendations for major observations of control weaknesses
from the audits will be provided, so as to resolve material internal
control defects.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Company's external auditors are Lau & Au Yeung C.PA.
Limited. There has been no change in the Company’s external
auditors for the preceding three years.

The Audit Committee has been notified of the nature and
service charges of the non-audit services to be performed by
the Company’s external auditor, Lau & Au Yeung C.PA. Limited,
and considered that such services have no adverse effect on the
independence of their audit works.

A summary of audit services provided by the external auditor for
the year and their corresponding remunerations is as follows:
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Audit services for the year ended 31 March 2023 1,048
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AMENDMENTS TO THE COMPANY'S
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has not
amended its Bye-laws.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board will take into account the financial
results, general business conditions and strategies and the
capital requirements of the Group. The Board will also consider
the possible effects on the Company’s creditworthiness and the
Company’s shareholders’ interests. The payment of dividend is
also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda, the
laws of Hong Kong and the articles of association of the Company.
The Company currently does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General
Meetings

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at the general meetings of
the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require a special general meeting (‘SGM”) to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. Eligible Shareholders
who wish to convene a SGM must deposit a written requisition
(the "Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
at Suite 2202, 22nd Floor, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails
to proceed to convene such SGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
himself/herself/themselves may do so in accordance with
the provisions of section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda.
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Right to Nominate Directors for Election at General
Meetings

Shareholder who wishes to propose a person other than a
Director of the Company for election as a Director must deposit
a written notice (the “Notice”) to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 2202, 22nd Floor, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong,
or the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited (the “Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar”), at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company Secretary. The Notice must state clearly
the name of the Shareholder(s) and his/her/their shareholding,
the full name of the person proposed for election as a Director,
including the person’s biographical details as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the Shareholder
concerned (not the person to be nominated). The Notice must
also be accompanied by a letter of consent signed by the person
nominated to be elected on his/her willingness to be elected as a
Director.

The period for lodgment of the Notice will commence on the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting held for
the election of Directors and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting.

The Notice will be verified by the Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in compliance with the rules of procedures, the Company
Secretary will ask the nomination committee of the Company
and the Board to consider to include the resolution in the agenda
for the general meeting proposing such person to be elected
as a Director. The right and procedures to convene a general
meeting and to demand a poll on resolutions at general meetings
by Shareholders are set out in the Company's amended bye-
laws headed “General Meetings”, “Notice Of General Meetings”,
“Proceedings At General Meetings” and “Voting”.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at a
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights of those Shareholders having the right to vote at
such meeting or not less than one hundred Shareholders, at the
expenses of the Shareholders concerned, can submit a written
requisition to move a resolution at a general meeting.

The written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied
by a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in the proposed resolution, signed by all the
Shareholders concerned and may consist of several documents
in like form (which between them contain the signatures of all the
Shareholders concerned).

The written requisition must be deposited to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 2202, 22nd
Floor, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary not less than six
weeks before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution and not less than one week in the case of
any other requisition.

The signatures and the requisition will be verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar. Upon verification that the
request is valid, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to
(i) include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting; or (i) convene a special general meeting by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to
all the Shareholders, provided that the Shareholders concerned
have deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in giving effect thereto.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board recognises the importance of continuing
communications with the Company’s shareholders and investors,
and maintains ongoing dialogues with them through various
channels. The primary communication channel between the
Company and its shareholders is through the publication of its
interim and annual reports.

The Company'’s registrars serve the shareholders with respect to
all share registration matters.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a useful forum
for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Board
members and management of the Company are available to
answer shareholders’ questions and explain the procedures
for demanding and conducting a poll, if necessary. Any relevant
information and documents on proposed resolutions are normally
sent to all shareholders at least 21 clear days before the annual
general meeting.

All shareholders’ communications, including interim and annual
reports, announcements and press releases are available on the
Company’'s website at www.chaoshang.hk. The latest business
developments and core strategies of the Company can also be
found on the website, keeping the communications with investors
open and transparent.

The Company has reviewed the above shareholders’
communication policy and considered that the implementation of
such policy was effective during the year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public who may contact the Company by
phone on (852) 2598 9868 during normal business hours, by fax at
(852) 2598 9878 or by e-mail at info@chaoshang.hk.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Purpose and Objective

Hong Kong ChaoShang Group (the “Company” or “ChaoShang”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively known as the “Group”
or "We") is pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG") Report (the “Report”). This Report aims
to provide our key stakeholders with a clear and transparent
overview of our sustainability management approach, strategies,
policies and performance, in creating value for our employees,
customers, the environment, and the community as a whole.

Reporting Scope and Period

Unless otherwise stated, the Report covers the business
segments of (i) trading, (i) money lending and factoring, (iii)
finance leasing and (iv) financial services (including securities
brokerage and asset management) in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") for the period from 1 April 2022 to
31 March 2023 (the “Reporting Period”), consistent with the scope
of the consolidated financial statements of our Annual Report
2023.

The reporting boundary is determined by the corresponding
materiality of each business segment to our business and
operations, as well as their sustainability impacts.

Reporting Standard

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the latest ESG Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide") as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) issued by
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX").

Reporting Principles

The reporting principles (namely materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency) as outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide have
been adopted in the preparation of the Report. Our application of
these reporting principles is detailed in the following table.
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Reporting
principles
HRERA

Description
f

The Group's application
TEEER

Materiality

B2

Quantitative

216

Balance

T

Consistency

—EM

ESG issues that are sufficiently important to
the Group's investors and other stakeholders
should be reported in the Report.

FREEABHAERREERAMBFNE
ELEEEFENESGEH

Key performance indicators (“KPIs") disclosed
in the Report need to be measurable, and
targets to reduce ESG-related impacts should
be disclosed. Comparative data should be
provided where appropriate.

FESKENRBEMIERAN FHE T
FER B RBESCHEMT ENER - TEAEN
B N R M L8R -

The Report should provide an unbiased
picture of the Group’s sustainability
performance, avoiding selections,
omissions, or presentation formats that
may inappropriately influence a decision or
judgment by the report reader.

TR ERETRAGM2RAER N O HFE
BRXRID BROUETNABEMTEBREE
BRRYHEREE BRI WS

The Group should use consistent
methodologies in the Report to allow for
meaningful comparisons of ESG data over
time.

AEBBRAKRESER -—BRERS S
% RESCHIE AR AIEAREMLLER -

We conduct materiality assessment regularly
to identify ESG issues that are significant to
the Group as well as its stakeholders, such as
employees, suppliers, investors and customers.
BMERETEEMT G UHENEEAEER
DRHEHFNE MET - HER BREEAT
F%) BEAEEARERMESGERE

As far as practicable, the Group discloses
quantitative environmental and social KPIs,
and provides historical data for comparison.
ESG-related goals and targets have been set to
monitor and evaluate the Group's sustainability
performance.

RETHERTS AEEREECHNREN
HERBRGENIEE WiRHEELEIR(ELLER -
FAFIHIE T BESGIERA B 12 LIBEE KaTfah
REBMNAIFEZERKRIR

The Group has identified and disclosed the
ESG issues that have a significant impact on
its business in the Report. The information
presented in the Report is unbiased and covers
both positive and negative trends.

AEBMERABREDPHEFLIKE T HAER
EBELTBRATEMESGEE - RIRETME
AR R 2 IR > W K BR 1E H K R E RS

S
Ho

Unless otherwise specified, the quantitative
data presented in the Report is compiled using
consistent methodologies, and any changes
compared to the previous year are provided
with necessary explanations.
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Access to the Report

As part of the annual report of the Group, the Report has been
prepared in both English and Chinese and is available on our
corporate website at http://www.chaoshang.hk. In case of any
discrepancy, the English version shall prevail.

Your Feedback

We highly value the opinions of our stakeholders. Your valuable
comments and suggestions on our sustainability performance
and reporting are important to us. Please share your feedback
with us at info@chaoshang.hk.
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ABOUT THE GROUP RARETEE
The Group is principally engaged in trading, money lending and #HEBFEREEZ - EEARE -MBEHEE
factoring, finance leasing and financial services businesses. R B AR

Trading Business Money Lending and Factoring Business

ERZES

Trading of food and electronic products
in the PRC.
RrERERRRETERER

Finance Leasing Business
MEHEER

Provision of both direct leasing and
sale-leaseback services in the PRC, and
mainly offering machinery/
equipment-based finance leases.
RARBEREEFEERERLDHEERT
FEREMKI/ZHEHMERE

BERFREXRS

Provision of corporate and personal
loans in Hong Kong and the PRC.
REBRFEEEEERBEAER

Financial Services Business
ERRFEER

Provision of securities dealing broking,
placing, underwriting, margin financing
and asset management services in
Hong Kong.

REANEREES:?
B & ~ B1H ~ 1Rz
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OUR MANAGEMENT APPROACH TO

SUSTAINABILE DEVELOPMENT
Sustainability Strategy

BANAREEREES &
o] FF 48 3% R SR B

We firmly believe that sustainability brings benefits not only to the ~ HFIEE > AIFKEERERNMESRLEE  THRK
community but also to our business operations and stakeholders IR ZEFHEENF M EFTREIEN & o FHM
in the long term. We aim to create positive value for our AR AKE BT -FRMEEEAIEER
shareholders, employees, customers, and suppliers. To embrace BE R TIREAFELER EEFEHET
sustainability, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has approved ~HFINFIFFEEEREE  UMERFEXRE
our sustainability strategy, which is built on four sustainability XFAER (NARMANEERSEEE Q%R
pillars: (1) Creating Value for Our Employees, (2) Creating Value For MR E R RIS EE - QRIRIFAIGEE > X
Our Customers, (3) Creating Value For The Environment, and (4) K@4)AFKMNTERISEE 1A S EAIRE
Creating Value For Our Community, and corresponding goals and 2B HHIE 7THEE B ZE* o

targets* for each of the sustainability pillar.

Goal B1Z

To enhance the well-being and
maximise the benefits for our
employees

e ME THEFIMFA =

Creating

Value for Our

Employees

»EMANESR

RIEEE

Creating
Value for Oour
Customers
AHEMANER
ElEEE

Goal B1Z

To uphold a high product quality
standard and enhance customer
satisfaction

R rSEREERE REEE M

BE

* For our detailed environmental targets, please refer to the section
headed “Creating Value for The Environment” of the Report.
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Goal B1g"

To combat climate change and
incorporate environmental
considerations into our daily
operations by the adoption of green
measures
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Creating

Value for The

Environment
ABIRIE
ElEEE

Creating
Value for Our
Ccommunity

AEANLE

RIEEE

Goal B1Z

To give back to the community
through donations and volunteering
activities
BBRERELESOETE

* EREMFENREER F2REREP R
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Sustainability Governance and Board's Oversight

The Board takes the ultimate responsibility for overseeing the
Group's ESG strategy and reporting. Delegated by the Board of the
Company, our ESG Working Group oversees the ESG management
approach, drives the development and implementation of ESG-
related matters, and advises the Board on the ESG-related
matters below on a regular basis, including but not limited to:

o Developing and reviewing the Group's ESG responsibilities,
vision, objectives, strategies, framework, principles and
policies;

o Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s ESG policies and
practices to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements,

o Monitoring communication channels and methods between
the Group and its stakeholders,

o Evaluating, prioritising and managing material ESG-related
issues (including but not limited to climate-related risks,
as well as environmental and social risks along the supply
chain), ensuring adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
ESG-related structures and business models, and adopting
and updating the Group’s ESG policies as necessary;

o Reviewing the annual ESG report to ensure compliance with
relevant requirements; and

J Assessing and reviewing the Group’s ESG performance and
progress made against goals and targets.

ARESERESREFTEE
EFeHEEAREBAESCERE K ERAER
REF-KERTEFERE HFIPESGT
fEVEE BEEESCEIE S # ~ EEESGIERA
SENZERNER TEHRNESEINERE
BARRIRLUTESGIEE EIR (2 ¢

o FIEREFAEEMESCGEE R B
BRI ER RAVRBUR

e BEKRGEEBEAEEMESGHERRER
BERGEEEREEENX;

s EBRAEEEFMNEZMENERRERK
73 5

o S BIHY KR EEESGHRREE (8
FERERRIZER R UK fLrEE
AR g AR  BENEEN
ESGHREAREMEmEEAN TS EME
R WAE N ERIRN K B A E BN
ESGE K ;

o ERFEESCHT  MAEMNGHEBEX;
MR

o FMERBEHRAEENESGRIEMBRN
FAIBT

Our Sustainability Governance Structure

HANARHEERE

The Board
=g

ARE

ESG Working Group

ESG T {F/)\H

ESG-related Functional Departments
ESG#H R i A 5B T
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ESG-related Risk Management

To ensure business resilience, we implemented a robust
ESG-related risk management system and procedures. The
ESG Working Group is responsible for assisting the Board in
identifying and managing ESG-related risks, while the Board
retains the ultimate responsibility for overseeing the Group's
risk management activities and monitoring material ESG risks.
Our sustainability-related risk management process involves the
following key steps:

Step 1.
Identification

Step 2.
Evaluation
- 2

F—F  #A

Prioritisation
B=9 I BRI

ESGHERA A Z EIE

HIEREBHENE  HFIE 7R BIESGHE
HREREERFNESF ESGTIFNMERTH
BhEEEHFMERESCHAR R MEES
REEREAEERREEETHMEREARESG
ERENREEE - AN FESEERR
BREREEEEEUTEESR

Step 3. Step 4.
Mitigation

B FLE

The ESG Working
Group, supported by
an independent third-
party consultant,
identified ESG-related
risks (including
climate-related risks

The potential impacts
and likelihood of the
identified ESG-related
risks are evaluated.
58 Bl H BIESGAR R
R B BB TE R EE A
A BEMEAETT AT ©

ESG-related risks are
prioritised according
to their risk levels

in terms of their
potential impact and
likelihood.

TR HRESGHERE & f Y

Mitigation plans

and actions are
formulated to reduce
the impact and
likelihood of ESG-
related risks that
have been identified.

and environmental BIER EM A e B EREE BB
and social risks along HE kK FETER ESGHERI R R &
the supply chain). BEF o MATREME BT RAR 75 %2
ESGTE/NBfERE L MITE

E=77EEFAIHEN T
s BESGAR A L% (B2
ER AR R R
HEERRIREMN T
R -

Further information on our risk management approach can
be found in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of our
annual report.

Stakeholder Engagement

It is our belief that fulfilling the needs and interests of our
stakeholders plays a vital role in shaping our business strategy
and fostering long-term relationships. We actively engage
with various stakeholders, including employees, suppliers and
business partners, customers, local communities, government
and regulatory authorities, shareholders and investors as well
as financial institutions. Through these regular engagements,
we seek to understand their concerns and gather feedback. The
table below provides an overview of the communication channels
between the Group and its key stakeholder groups:
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Our Key Stakeholder Groups and Regular
Communication Channels

BANEEROEENREHBERE

Stakeholders Communication Channels

B8 BERE

Employees ° Regular communications and meetings
(=] EHBRKRE®E

Suppliers and business partners
HEEE REF SRR

Customers
=R

Local communities
Kitnit&

Government and regulatory
authorities
HT R Es E 118

Shareholders and investors

RERIREE

Financial Institutions
SRS

Staff training and workshops
BIEINETIES

Annual appraisal

FETMh

Welfare activities

wmAESE

Staff conferences

BT AE

Meetings

=

Regular supplier assessments
E R IE R s TS

Meetings

=

Customer feedback

BERRE

Corporate Website

NGIF

Circulars and announcements
BREAS

Charity activities

EEEE

Compliance reports

B E

Industry-related conferences and collaborative projects
TERREERSIFER
Inquiry responses

[ClfEE )

Annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting
RRBFAERRRFEIARE
Regular publications (including annual reports)
ERRTIY (BEFTR)
Circulars and announcements
BR N E

Corporate website

NEIE N

Business meetings

Gk

Emails

BEE

Corporate website

NE L

TEC=FFR
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Materiality Assessment

We conduct regular materiality assessments to identify, prioritise
and evaluate material ESG-related issues that are relevant to the
Group and its key stakeholders. Facilitated by an independent
sustainability consultant, our most recent materiality assessment
was carried out in 2022, engaging both internal and external key
stakeholder groups through online questionnaires. The materiality
assessment follows a three-step process, outlined as follows:

Step 1.
Identification

Step 2.
Prioritisation
B BREF

B—% L #A

EEMTE

KFIEMETEEZ TG U#HB - BRBE
FHFEHAERRETEZFMDERRNE
RESGERRE ° BRI AT F5 /8 3 R BRI 17 8)
ToRMROBENEERTER 2 -
ET BRRLESHERERNHNIELEE
BMEENETEB E2MTENEREE
BUT=ESR

Step 3.
Validation
B=L BT

By referencing to the
requirements of the HKEX
Listing Rules and considering
industry trends, the Group
identified 20 ESG-related
issues that are relevant to the
our business operations.
BB TR EMARA
ERMITEBS NEEH
BT B E RS E AR R
HI201EESGHE B 5% 78
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We conducted an online
survey inviting stakeholders
to rank and prioritise the
identified ESG-related issues.

Based on the survey results,
a materiality matrix was
generated, which indicates
the importance of these
issues from both the
stakeholders” and the Group's
perspectives. The Report
discloses the most material
issues as determined by both
perspectives.
HFET T 8 LRE  BE
Fn & H 2 B RIESCHE R =
BEITT DA E BT o

RIBEFAEER > RAIRHIE
SRR ZEREEERHD
ENMFEENEERRER
NWERE - AWEWE TR
BFEMEAEEENRER

The ESG Working Group and
the Board have reviewed and
validated a list of 11 material
ESG issues to confirm and
finalise the selection of issues
for disclosure in this Report.
ESGTE/NVEMEEZTEEL
E A MR 2 1118 & KESG
ZERTIER LB EELRR
EHHRIEERNHE
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Through our materiality assessment process, we have identified @@ HRMINEE M TEHBE > TR H11
11 material ESG-related issues that hold significant importance for ER R AEBXENFNEEZFRETENE KR
the Group's business and its stakeholders. The materiality matrix ~ ESGAERIE B - U THEEM EMETR 7 :TMh
below displays the results, with the most material ESG-related #58R c R E AMIESGIERA R BB AL FEREM A £
issues indicated in the top-right corner. =

Materiality Matrix
EEER

ngh

iz A ®7

19

o3 @10 @16

09,15 ®11

13 12,14

17

®18

o4

Significance to stakeholders
HiSMmENEEY

®5
3
e2 20

®1

Low
&

v

Low Significance to the Group High

b HEEENESE

ot

List of ESG issues considered: ESGZ % 5%

Environmental Employee Operational Community
Protection Welfare Excellence Contribution
RIE(RE EE @4t HHEE Al =1
1. Air emissions 7. Employee benefits 12. Souall FIS|J]<S in the 20. Community
EE R BE EERF] supp y chain investment
2. Waste 8. Equal opportunity, hffkqﬂﬁm‘iﬁ HEEE
EEEY) diversity and anti- A
3. Carbon emissions discrimination 13. Hazards and
and enrgy T Smen R e
IR HE R BB IR RUZAR 355 B R BR 2 e 18
4. Water resources 9. Occupational health Eil
KER and safety 14. Product safety
5. Climate change risks BEREHTS and stab|||tyt
RIEECRE R 10. Employee management
6. Environmental risks development and EDD LERRREMS
in the supply chain training 15 C t
eI IB 1 BT R - Eg%%g% service
2 11. Egnngg?;ngggt 16. Ijat’c)a protection and
ersecurl
EEE R yﬂ% R

17. Intellectual property
rights management
HHERE
18. Marketmgand
advertising
MmIGHEEKRES
19. Anti-corruption
k&5
CEC=FER 51
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List of Material ESG Issues: B AESGE B !

Material ESG Issue Section

B KESG:: E=1-11]

7. Employee benefits Remuneration and Benefits
EEEH FENFOREF

8. Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination

TEHE LR RIER

9. Occupational health and safety
HEREEZS

10. Employee development and training
BT EEE

11. Employment compliance
BIEEHRN

12. Social risks in the supply chain
HEESE PR S R

13. Hazards and emergency response planning
KR EZEERE

14. Product safety and stability management
ERZeREEMERE

15. Customer service
EEEARTS

16. Data protection and cybersecurity
HBEREREELZD

19. Anti-corruption
R&5

Annual Report 2023

Equal Opportunities, Recruitment and Dismissal
TEWE RIS ER R
Occupational Health and Safety
EREEZ S

Development and Training

2 R Eg

Creating Value For Our Employees
AEMNEEREEE

Supply Chain Management
HEERESIE

Occupational Health and Safety
EfERELe

Response to Climate Change

FE S mIEEE

Quality Products and Services
BENERMRE

Customer Feedback

BERRE

Data Protection and Privacy

IR REHTALE

Anti-Corruption and Anti-Money Laundering
REGRR AR
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR EMPLOYEES

Goal
To enhance the well-being and maximise the benefits for
our employees

Material topics covered

. Employee benefits

° Employee development and training

o Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination
o Employment compliance

o Occupational health and safety

o Hazards and emergency response planning

AEMANESRIGEEE

BiR
REHRMEITAVEMNF =

FRif N ERZE

s  EBEREF

o  BIHEHEIE

s  FEHE ZTERRIKSE

s REGRME

s HMERERAZE

o KEREZELRI J

We highly value our talented workforce and recognise their
crucial role in our long-term success. Our goal is to attract, retain,
and nurture exceptional individuals while fostering strong and
positive connections with them. We are dedicated to cultivating
an inclusive work environment that prohibits all forms of
discrimination and empowers every employee to maximise their
potential and seize growth opportunities.

To safeguard the rights of our employees, promote a harmonious
workplace and ensure a comprehensive understanding of our
internal policies, we outline employment-related arrangements
such as compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, as well as other benefits and welfare in our
Employee Handbook and other human resources policies.

The Group is fully committed to strict compliance with all relevant
employment laws and regulations' in the jurisdictions where we
operate. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations regarding
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

1 Please refer to the section headed “Significant Laws and Regulations” of
the Report for the list of employment laws and regulations significant to
the Group's business operations.

HMEEEREMESFSHET LAt
FERMNRAMIPRIRRIER - LA
DRRS BB EHFHAL > FRFEt
PRI R AM IEERVEHE - RFIB T B —
BEENTIFRE R IE—UIE AR I
MTPEUSTEHFEENMARNES -

AT RESTNED REMBN ISR
WEERMFIZE T ARFIAIBER HME
(BIFM)MEMANERBERRFH5)
HEFEERE R SEHM R R BERE
T TERE BRI FERG 26 RIK
BRUREAN T B R ABH o

AEBBNREBTRAELBEEREMBPR
ERRRRERRER - RS HE ~&F
WA BRI E BRI R IR R E T
TEBE R TFERE ZE RER
D Bt B R EFNERER B R

! EREAEREBEEAEATENEMRER
FER AR RAREERERRERIEH -

TEC=FFR
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Employee Distribution
As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed a total of 46
employees (2022: 58) with the following distributions:

EBESMH
BE2023FE3/3NH  AEBEEB TI6HET
(20224 1 58%) » DHRUIT :

2023 20222

—T-= -
By gender P Rl El
Male 3 24 34
Female %z 22 24
By employment type HEFEELE S
Senior management SR EIEE 10 12
Middle management iR EIRfE 10 13
General employees —MRET 26 33
By contract type b a=E OEECE b
Full-time 2 45 56
Part-time Eid 1 2
By age group FER AR 292
30 or below 30RR AT 10 1
31-40 31-405% 11 19
41-50 41-50%% 10 13
51-60 51-607% 12 11
61 or above 615 £ 3 4
By geographical region i & 2 55
Hong Kong 58 26 35
The PRC H 20 23

Equal Opportunities, Recruitment and Dismissal

We endeavour to build a diverse and inclusive workforce that
promotes equal opportunities and embraces the individuality
of each team member. To enhance the quality and diversity of
our talent pool, we utilise multiple recruitment channels. We
maintain a discrimination-free recruitment process, where no
individual is subjected to discrimination based on age, nationality,
race, religion, gender, marital status, pregnancy or disability. The
evaluation of candidates is solely based on their competencies,
experience, and qualifications. Our Employee Handbook provides
clear and detailed guidelines for dismissal, ensuring transparency
and clarity for all employees.

2 The data has been adjusted to reflect actual situation.
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FTERD  RISAMRE

BPASNEIZTEENER  EREFEH
T WEMASUEKRENEARGR ST R
FHERMAATHNERNZ T HFIRNRZE
REETHE - RARNERANEERRE
TEPREE BB B R8O R ERAR
BB ERRRAREAA L HRBEET
AR BRI MFIRIEE ] AR B - M
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During the Reporting Period, our overall staff turnover rate was
33% (2022: 47%) with the following distributions:

RREIE RPN BEE T RKAERR33%

(20224 © 47%) > D HRI0E -

2023 20223
=== B
By gender ¥R 8 2
Male 5 46% 47%
Female k8 18% 46%
By age group HERERNZ D
30 or below 30RR T 20% 64%
31-40 31-40%% 73% 63%
41-50 41-505% 30% 62%
51-60 51-60%% 8% 0%
61 or above 615k £ 33% 0%
By geographical region EitE S 52
Hong Kong 58 46% 37%
The PRC H 15% 61%

Remuneration and Benefits

We place great emphasis on attracting and retaining talent by
providing competitive remuneration packages. We regularly
review these packages to they remain competitive in the market.
To drive motivation and performance, we conduct annual
staff performance appraisals as a basis for fair and objective
compensation and rewards. Our performance appraisal system
takes into account each employee’s performance and experience,
serving as a reference for promotion decisions. In addition
to complying with relevant laws and regulations* by making
contributions to employee insurance, we also provide a range
of employee benefits to enhance their welfare, including but not
limited to the following:

B A0 42 F
RUERBERHEARINHOFINFER
RSB EE AT - HAIE TR BN IR
RETHELRFERFI N - BT HBE TR
SFE RMHETEFEEIRRTGL FAR
FEBEB A ZRI B AR - IRV RIRT
HRAERIGMUEINRENERERAS
FERENZZE (R T BTHEBNEREREM
BTREN RAERE—RIEITEHN > X
RAMFIBEN > BFEERRRN :

Paid Leaves Caring Benefits Work Incentives
BirREA RAIRER T E32ED
o Marriage leaves o Staff birthday parties o Discretionary
U BTHHIKE bonuses
o Bereavement leaves o Festival celebrations BIIBTCAL
ERR B H B EED
o Maternity leaves o Company trips
ER NEIRIT
o Paternity leaves
FEER
3 The data has been adjusted to reflect actual situation. 3 HIR BRI ERIE R
4 Please refer to the section headed “Significant Laws and Regulations” of ¢ ERHAERERSEREATENEELE

the Report for the list of employment laws and regulations significant to
the Group's business operations.

FER AR RAREERERRERIEH -

TEC=FFR
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Occupational Health and Safety

Ensuring workplace safety is our utmost priority as we deeply
value the well-being and safety of our employees. We strictly
comply with all relevant health and safety laws and regulations®.
To create a safe and healthy work environment, we have
implemented a comprehensive occupational health and safety
policy and various measures. Regular disinfection is conducted
by a trusted service provider to enhance the overall safety and
hygiene of our offices.

To prioritise employee safety, we provide essential protective
equipment to prevent work-related injuries. In the event of any
workplace injuries, we promptly notify the respective department
heads and the human resources department, taking necessary
follow-up actions in accordance with national labour insurance
regulations. Moreover, we have developed guidelines for reporting
duty during typhoons and rainstorms, ensuring that appropriate
work arrangements are in place during severe weather conditions
to safeguard employee safety during their commute.

We actively promote awareness of workplace safety among our
employees by participating in fire drills organised by the property
management. These drills equip our employees with essential
knowledge on responding effectively to fire accidents, including
the proper use of fire extinguishers and familiarisation with
escape routes within the building.

M

o

Work injuries during the Reporting Period:
REPENTEHE

0

-’
Work-related fatalities in the past 3 years:
BE=ZFARTTHIAL :
5 Please refer to the section headed “Significant Laws and Regulations”

of the Report for the list of health and safety laws and regulations
significant to the Group’s business operations.
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BUBn R E > LA THEEHR-EEEETT
B> HFIG IR AMAERREFIE S AMA
HERERFT AR R 5 55 T AR ER AR E $REX
WEBYEREIE N - SN > FFIFIE T R AN £
FREAEIBVEIT IR S 2R AT S HRRIRK
HTITREBENTIHZI MREEIE L
RPN E-

BM2EEEEMEBAHRE TGS U
BIBRASTH TREML 20 £
PNETEENEHNKERHERNH
BEEEER RN SIRTRZRAYRNRE
BRAR

Working days lost due to work injury:
RITEELXTIERE .

0

%

Work-related fatality rate in the past 3 years:
BE=ZFARTTHELEE

0%

-

s EREAEREBEEAEATENRERR
EFERRER FERARE EREREER

=z s
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While the COVID-19 pandemic has alleviated in the past year, the Group remains committed to
implementing comprehensive safety and hygiene measures to safeguard our employees. In addition
to the dedicated COVID-19 Emergency Response Team (“ER Team”) and a reporting mechanism for the
prevention and control of COVID-19 G EAR R E B 15 2 i R BmEHIE) , we have introduced the
following precautionary measures:

BEAE—FHNEREEMER AEENRNERE2ENZE2MEERTE > URERMNET
bR T I T EFIR2019E R FERESNAE (B2 A SRR ERBEZHIERRESE
DU HMEENE T AT FEBRIEE -

> Require employees with fever and respiratory symptoms to report to the ER Team, seek medical
attention, and stay home until fully recovered
EREFENMHRITIREBERNET AR/ NARS SREERE WETEREZABE
e

> Conduct regular sanitation of common areas
EHAHEHETHS

> Implement health declaration for employees returning from high-risk countries or cities, reducing
physical interaction at workplaces
HiteREERSEWmRENE TEERERR > R TSN ER T

> Install additional air purifiers to enhance air quality and remove airborne germs and viruses
ZRIEIINER R REERER ERERPNRERE

J

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any AR HARY > 2 & B W7 A &0 75 {r] B2 B 22 @
material non-compliance with the occupational health and safety %252 L EREENEKERIBE L
laws and regulations.

TECCEFER 57
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Development and Training

We are dedicated to nurturing the professional growth of our
employees and fostering mutual development. To support
their career advancement, we provide a wide range of training
programmes aimed at talent development. These include
orientation trainings for new employees, covering compliance and
company background. Our internal training courses cover various
topics such as standard operational procedures, management
knowledge, regulations, and specific skillsets to enhance
employee’s job competence. Furthermore, we provide subsidies
for employees to attend external job-related training courses,
and encourage them to engage in continuous professional
development activities to enhance their professional knowledge
and expertise.

During the Reporting Period, the training courses offered to
employees covered a diverse range of topics, including but not
limited to:

Corporate governance
TEEER

Market development
hmHEE

o=

Anti-corruption and
anti-money laundering
RES KRR TR
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222

2 R SR

BABNWEEETINEENR  REHXRE
Rom T EMANSEXEER  RARHEEZ
BUIEFIETEIUIB B AT » B E T ARIE
> BESRMNADEREHE - HFIRER
BIRERET REIE SERERFRE
BB ERNBERES  LURHE
TRITIEREA - LS > FFIEBN B T 2050 a0
S TFAERR R IERTE » S Bt F 2 R 55
BEXEIISRE BAFENBMEERES -

RS HMMmE TR ENIEIIRE R
BT ZEFENER SFEEFRIN :

Laws and regulations updates

ERIERER

Occupational health and safety
BERRAZS

Cybersecurity
Witz
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2023 2022¢

—EC-= B
Percentage of employee trained’ ZiIEEE AL
By gender ¥R El 2
Male Es 54.3% 62.5%
Female % 45.7% 37.5%
By employment type ¥EEHENE 2
Senior management SREERE 25.7% 28.1%
Middle management AR EIEE 22.9% 18.8%
General employees —RET 51.4% 53.1%
Average training hours’ TI8E ) RF R
By gender ¥R 8 2
Male B 6.5 4.6
Female k4 3.1 1.9
By employment type RESENE D
Senior management SHREERE 15.6 14.5
Middle management iR EIEfE 3.0 1.9
General employees —mRET 1.6 1.1
Labour Standards & T 4RI
As part of our sustainability strategy, we ensure that our {EAFKFIRCIIFEERESRRI— > F 1M

employees’ rights are fully protected. We strictly adhere to labour
laws and regulations®, maintaining a zero-tolerance approach
towards illegal employment practices such as child labour, forced
labour, discrimination and harassment. Our human resources
department verifies candidates’ identity documents, age, work
experience, education and other information to ensure lawful
employment. In the event that a candidate fails to meet all the
applicable legal employment requirements, the recruitment
procedure will be terminated. Our Human Resources Department
reviews the employment practices regularly to ensure the
effectiveness of our existing measures against child and forced
labor.

6 The data has been adjusted to reflect actual situation.

7 The calculation of the percentage of employee trained and the average
training hours completed per employee included the training data of
employees who left the Group during the respective reporting year, to
present an accurate reflection of the training resources invested by the
Group.

8 Please refer to the section headed “Significant Laws and Regulations” of
the Report for laws and regulations relating to labour standards that are
significant to the Group's business operations.

HEfR B TR EE'JE%E@T%"“%@TF?%H%
BT EEARER - RPIHNEANMET
AOWMEBT REGE T ERNBES FT
BVNEE -RMUNANERBFIGZER
BENSMHEBAXHS  Fi s TRER -HE
ARMEMEE > UHEREEME - IRER
EREMEMBEBANGEREEZR B
BEERELE -RFUNANERBFIEHE
ERFBER > LUHERIFIH LE T MR 55
THRERBMBBE ML

¢ P BAEURBRERIBE R

7 RillEEED LU R ELEE MR I T
RS HEE T HRRSFETRERASN
TERAE I B > B2 R R A E E IR A BYIE
&R

& ERHAEEEREEREALENS T

ERNER AR B2MARE TEMEAERE
FHIEH o

T =FFER
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We provide fair remuneration, overtime compensations and
other relevant benefits in line with applicable laws, regulations
and internal policies. This ensures that employees have adequate
rest time and are not subjected to forced labour in our business
operations. Regular inspections are conducted to ensure that
no child or forced labour is employed. Upon the discovery of
child or forced labour, the labour relationship will be immediately
terminated, and thorough investigation and corrective measures
will be implemented to prevent any recurrence.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any

material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to child labour and forced labour.
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR CUSTOMERS ARMNEREIEEE
Goal BiF
To uphold a high product quality standard and enhance R EeEREERE REEPRERE

customer satisfaction

Material topics covered FRiAENEREE

e Anti-corruption . RES

e Data protection and cybersecurity o BB FRERBEKZE

e Social risks in the supply chain o (REESEFMME R

e Product safety and stability management e ERTENETHEIE
e Customer service e EEMR

- J

We prioritise customer satisfaction and consistently work HKMEBREFRREE > LIFEE RS E®
towards improving the quality of our products and services. FRBHEZ - KMBEE RIS ETHERERN
Our operations are in strict compliance with relevant laws EmEEEEER NGB AEE LR
and regulations? relating to product responsibility. During the — FIZERIA AR EE RMBRFHRERE R
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non- 2 -ES5 -BREEMEEEURBHRAL ENE
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to ~ RERIEH°

health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of

redress.

9 Please refer to the section headed “Significant Laws and Regulations”  ? ERHAERERESEREARENERER
of the Report for laws and regulations relating to product responsibility MHRERRER BF2REARE B AERE
that are significant to the Group's business operations. RIS
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Quality Products and Services

Ensuring the quality of our products is crucial to our business
development. We have adopted product quality and safety
standards and measures for our business segments.

Money Lending and Factoring, Finance Leasing and
Financial Services Businesses

As a provider of financial-related services, we uphold the
responsibility of delivering services of the highest quality and
safety. Our commitment to enhancing the quality of our financial
services is reflected in our internal polices, such as the Internal
Control Manual, Operation and Risk Manual, and the Credit
and Risk Control Policy. We have established robust investment
management procedures that involve comprehensive review,
screening, research and approval processes for investment
opportunities, to ensure effective control and monitoring of the
Group’s investment projects.

To keep abreast of market trends and leverage the latest technology, the Group has launched our
online trading platform and mobile app to enhance customer experience and provide flexibility for our
financial services customers. We have formulated robust measures to ensure stability and security of
our online services, enabling a convenient user experience:

BT RRETHSBBNSARMRN AEEELE T HMANA LXZFaMFHERER  LUEFA
BERBBRNARMNEMRFEERIRHEEEE - RMFE T RE2NEBH  BERFINE -REN

REMMZE2MY SAFREERNER

> Implementing two-factor authentication login practice to verify user identities and protect their

private information from unauthorised access

EEERBEERET LBERR BN I REREMAGERZ KRR ENTHE
> Continuously monitoring system and network performance to proactively detect and address

network issues and enhance operational efficiency

FEEEZGNELRE THEAANBRAEEER REEEWE

> Conducting thorough stress tests before system implementation and after major system
changes to assess stability and identify risks in our online systems
ERAEMAMNEARAESRETEZENEAGE  HMEEEM T ANA L R2ANER

> Tracking client trading activities to identify and respond to any abnormal user activities
EREEANRSZEE UHNERERESNEFJEE

> Generating incident reports in the event of significant system delays or failures to prevent similar

incidents from recurring

HERRHIBE LB ER L SFHRE UL EUSHBREE

BENEMMRE
REEREENNAMNESZERERE
Bo-RPIRABEBRREETEREEN L
ERREME -

BERFRE -HERERERRTEER

ERTMERRBIRERE KSR REM
R ERMNZEMRFIEE - KBRS
HRBEREMHRESSRRBERNAE W
(REEZEFM) ~ (BERRBRZES F) U
ROEEMBERIZENGIE)F -HARILT &2
WREEERF ORHKRERTETE2E
BYEEIZ ~ BRE ~ BREANB|HLMAZ - U R A
EENRBEEEETAEMNEGEENER
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Trading Business

In our trading business of seafood and electronic products, we
implement stringent measures to maintain the quality and safety
of our products, including but not limited to the following:

o Imposing strict requirements on suppliers to ensure
compliance with relevant standards;

o Engaging exclusively with licensed vendors and reputable
suppliers for product procurement;

o Providing comprehensive training to staff on food handling
practices and hygiene;

o Implementing thorough product inspection procedures and
conducting regular checks on supplier-provided products;
and

o Adhering to regulatory requirements and standards for food
handling procedures.

Customer Feedback

Customer feedback plays a vital role in enhancing the quality of
our products and services. To better understand our customers’
needs and interests, we have established a customer satisfaction
management mechanism and implemented comprehensive
procedures for handling feedback.

We regularly invite our customers to participate in customer
satisfaction surveys, where they can rate our performance in
areas such as product quality, pricing and services. Additionally,
we encourage customers to share their suggestions, which we
incorporate into our improvement plans where applicable.

To maintain effective communication with our customers, we
utilise various communication channels including email, WeChat
and QQ to collect their opinions. Our commitment to enhancing
customer satisfaction is reflected in our timely and appropriate
handling of inquiries and complaints. We conduct thorough
reviews of complaint cases and carry out necessary investigation
procedures to address customer concerns. During the Reporting
period, the Group did not receive any material complaints (2022:
nil).
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Data Protection and Privacy

In our efforts to protect the rights of the Group and our
customers, we consistently strive to enhance data protection
and maintain the privacy of our customers. In this regard, we
ensure strict compliance with the relevant laws and regulations™.
To protect the Group's confidential data and information, our
employment contracts include provisions that require employees
to uphold strict confidentiality of information. These provisions
specifically require employees to undertake not to disclose any
information, technical data, trade secrets, know-how or other
confidential information to any third parties without obtaining
written consent from the Group.

In line with our commitment to data security, we have
implemented a range of measures outlined in our Information
Technology Systems Management Policy, including but not limited
to the following:

° Regularly conducting computer virus scans using reliable
antivirus software,

. Encrypting important documents and confidential data to
maintain their integrity and protect against unauthorized
access;

. Enabling the anti-malware protection feature on all
computers connected to the corporate server to mitigate
the risk of malware attacks;

. Conducting regular backups of information to prevent data
loss and ensure business continuity; and

. Providing comprehensive cybersecurity training to our
employees to enhance their awareness and understanding
of potential threats and best practices.

In terms of customer privacy, we have established a
comprehensive privacy policy that clearly articulates our
dedication to customer confidentiality. When collecting customer
information, we strictly adhere to the principle of gathering
only the necessary personal data required to provide relevant
services and products. Under no circumstances is customer
information utilised for any other purposes. The Group ensures
the appropriate protection of sensitive customer information
to prevent unauthorised access, processing, deletion, or any
unintended use.

10 Please refer to the section headed “Significant Laws and Regulations”

of the Report for laws and regulations relating to product responsibility
that are significant to the Group's business operations.
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Anti-Corruption and Anti-Money Laundering

The Group is devoted to creating a working environment with
integrity and transparency. We strictly comply with the relevant
laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption'. In accordance
with our Code of Conduct and anti-corruption policies, employees
are prohibited from soliciting, receiving, or accepting any
form of benefits from customers or suppliers of the Group.
Moreover, employees are not allowed to establish commercial or
financial ties with suppliers, customers or competitors without
written approval from the Group. To mitigate the risk of bribery,
employees are required to declare any actual or potential
conflicts of interest to the Group.

To combat and prevent money laundering and terrorist financing
activities within the Group, we have established the Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter Terrorist Financing Policy, which
stipulates measures aimed at prohibiting third-party transfers
and reporting suspicious activities. These measures include
conducting risk assessments, identification of beneficial owners
and maintaining ongoing customer monitoring. We also adopt
rigorous customer due diligence procedures to prevent money
laundering. As part of our loan application review, we carefully
verify the identity of customers and conduct a comprehensive
risk assessment by thoroughly analysing the documents, data and
information provided.

Our Anti-corruption and Whistle-blowing Policy provides
employees with various channels to report any suspicious
incidents involving potential corruption risks. In the event
that an employee identifies potential malpractices, they are
strongly encouraged to report such incidents to the Group
using our designated email or anonymous hotline. Subsequent
investigations will be conducted in a manner that ensures
fairness and impartiality, with appropriate corrective measures
implemented promptly. To safeguard the whistleblower against
any form of harassment, stringent measures are in place to
maintain the strict confidentiality of their identities. We provided
directors and employees with comprehensive anti-corruption
training sessions to enhance their understanding and awareness
of business ethics, including providing external training and
distributing relevant anti-corruption training materials from the
Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC") to them.

During the Reporting Period, there was no legal case regarding
corruption practices brought against the Group (2022: nil), and
we were not aware of any material non-compliance relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

i Please refer to the section headed “Significant Laws and Regulations” of
the Report for the list of laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption
that are significant to the Group's business operations.
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Supply Chain Management

The Group's supply chain management primarily applies to its
trading business. As our financial service businesses does not
involve the physical production of goods, significant procurement
activities are not involved. Nonetheless, we remain committed
to upholding product quality and promoting supply chain
sustainability. To fulfil these goals, we adhere to a rigorous
supplier selection and evaluating procedure, which is outlined
below.

Step 1.

HEEEE
AEENHEREETEEANEZRER
AREFANEMERFES T RBERNVE M
TE REAFEERNKBIZ® -EEW
> RAPNR N EEEREEN (R EHER
AREER RBEREEER AABRTES
MR EENT AR STl o

Supplier Assessment

—_—

B

Potential suppliers undergo a comprehensive evaluation based on criteria such as product and
service quality, pricing, innovation capabilities, reputation, as well as compliance with environment,
employment, health and safety laws and regulations. Factors such as the provision of environmental,
health and safety training to employees are also considered.
HETHEEREBEELRNRBEE ER - AIFEN BEUKERE - EE BRENZ2EME
HETREREREETEEN G ARTZREINIRIE - BENZ2IBIIERE-

Site visits are conducted to ensure that the supplier meets all the necessary requirements set forth by
the Group.

HEEEETEMZ R BRRENSXANERTIENMAMEE K

Step 2.
Incorporatiqun_in Supplier List

MAGIEIEERE
Suppliers that meet our stringent requirements will be included in our approved supplier list.
RFEHMBERERNHEEBMARMOSIEEREERES-
Qualified suppliers are required to sign a Supplier Integrity Commitment, which explicitly prohibits any
form of corruption.
BRNEEEEES (HEMBRZAES ) BR2 HEAFANETITRC

h, 4

Step 3.
Supplier Performance Monitoring and Evaluation

HrEmRIAE S kT
We perform quality assurance checks on incoming products to ensure that the purchases align with
our specifications and meet our quality expectations.
KM ESERETEHERENE  BREKENERTEHMANRRARERMEESHHE-
We maintain a continuous process of reviewing and assessing the performance of our existing
suppliers to ensure that our requirements are consistently fulfilled.
BMFEHRMNREEERNRIDET EREENT G BRIFERERMNERK-
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To mitigate environmental and social risks, an ESG-related
risk assessment has been carried out to identify potential
environmental and socials risks of our supply chain. The Board
and ESG Working Group closely monitor and manage the ESG
risks along the supply chain on a regular basis. Based on our risk
assessment results, none of these risks were considered “high
risk” in the assessment. Nevertheless, we strive to minimise the
environmental and social risk of our supply chain by requiring
new and existing suppliers to meet environmental and social
requirements.

To promote environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, we have incorporated environmental
considerations into our procurement processes, such as:

. Prioritising the use of energy-efficient equipment, such as
LED lighting where applicable,

. Prioritizing the purchase of office supplies that are more
durable to reduce waste;

. Encouraging the adoption of products that have more
environmentally friendly packaging; and

. Prioritising local sourcing to reduce the carbon footprint
resulted from the transport of goods.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 2 suppliers
(2022: 3), all of whom were from the PRC and implemented the
practices relating to engaging suppliers.
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CREATING VALUE FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

Goal

To combat climate change and incorporate environmental
considerations into our daily operations by the adoption
of green office measures

Material topics covered
o Hazards and emergency response planning

AIRIRRIGEEE

Bz
WBBREAR B ATE I HRREEEN
RIRBERAZAARFNEEEEET

FREENEREE
s KEKRIEERI

J

Environmental Management

With an unwavering dedication to environmental sustainability,
we continually enhance the environmental performance of our
operations by integrating environmentally-friendly practices,
optimising resource efficiency, and addressing climate change.
This involves implementing various green office measures
while strictly complying with applicable environmental laws and
regulations™.

Given the nature of our business, which do not involve raw
material processing and packaging material production, the
Group has insignificant impact on the environment and natural
resources.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

To further enhance our environmental performance, the Group
has established its environmental targets. We will continuously
monitor and report our progress towards these targets for
sustainability and climate resilience. Details of our environmental
targets are outlined below:

12 Please refer to the section headed “Significant Laws and Regulations” of
the Report for the list of environmental laws and regulations significant
to the Group's business operations.
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Environmental Targets

RIEER

Emissions: to reduce air
and GHG emissions by the
adoption of energy saving
measures

HERR - IR ERENEN AEFE T 0 R
DEER OB E AR HEN

Waste: to reduce waste
generation through rasing staff
awareness about recycling
and avoiding unnecessary
consumption

EEZEY)  BBIEE 8 THE U
B =5 AN 26 o NS EDHFE 0 R
DEEMES

t

Energy use efficiency: to
increase energy efficiency
by the adoption of LED lights
and energy-efficient electric
appliance where applicable
FERERN G | BARERFE
FALEDERFA K ERREFE 25 > LR
RV ES

Water efficiency: to achieve
an overall reduction in water
consumption intensity by
the adoption of water saving
initiatives

Bk : @B RENE KIS
i PFRIRERISFEKERE
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Response to Climate Change

In response to the heightening awareness of climate change
issues, we have implemented a comprehensive Climate Change

FEHREEE
HHEREZCHEED=SIENRL HMAE
i 7 2EBIGRIERECEER) - LUINsR I FIEY

Policy to enhance our ability to mitigate climate change and RIEEEAIEES] > WILRF M H RIZELE

strengthen our resilience and adaptability to its impacts.

Mitigation
AR

ErFEMBRES -

Resilience and Adaptation
B4R ERES

e  Establish and monitor carbon reduction and energy-

saving targets
BN BR BRI IR A BN RE B AR

e Integrate energy efficiency considerations
throughout our operations
R EERMENZE BMA KM EE L F

e Maintain robust environmental management
systems to effectively manage energy use and
carbon emissions
BIUMEREMNIRIZRERRA  UEEREIREE
FA R R BET

e  Foster innovation and collaboration to mitigate
climate-related risks
SENBIFT R A1 DURES @ =8 R R & b

e Promote communication with stakeholders
regarding our Climate Change Policy

fRERFNERAEBHREECHRETEE

To identify and mitigate climate-related risks, an ESG-related
risk assessment has been carried out to identify potential
climate-related risks. The Board and ESG Working Group closely
monitor and manage the climate-related risks on a regular basis.
Corresponding risk mitigation measures have been formulated to

address the risks accordingly:

o To ensure the safety of our employees and minimize e
business disruptions, our Crisis Management Policy
explicitly incorporates and addresses climate-related
hazards, given the increasing frequency of extreme weather

events such as typhoons and heatwaves.

° In the event of extreme weather conditions such as e
typhoons, rainstorms and extreme temperatures, the
Crisis Handling and Management Leading Group promptly

Conduct ongoing assessments of climate-related
risks

SRR AR R R AR R e Kot

Integrate climate-related considerations into our risk
management and decision-making processes

B REARENE BAMARMER SRR ARG
Bz

Monitor and respond to market and regulatory
changes associated with low-carbon transition

SR EHERABNELNT S REEEE

75 7 BB R AR R AR R RS 0 R FIETT
TESGHERI R ET 4 LU B BT B RIRAERE
Kz - EFEEFMESGLE/ B ERR Y B EMN
EEREAERRR - KFIHE T EENER
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organises emergency plans and implements necessary

measures.
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Energy, Air and GHG Emissions

AER ~ BE R KR E RASHEK

Our main sources of energy consumption, air and GHG emissions 1 EHIEER Aﬁ E BERMAEREIER
are purchased electricity consumed for daily office operations BIEHEWMAZTESERERMNINEEZTHAR
and fuel consumption of company vehicles. We are not involved  SIEEIAIARDHIE - ERNHFAMAZTEE S
in significant emission generation and energy consumption T RYEFSMEE > FA9 W K K8 M BERD
given the office-based nature of our operations. However, in our  FERIEFE AT > A& T NS0 B L EMIEE
commitment to enhancing the sustainability and environmental — 3RIR > H IR T SEE BT ATEH » 484500
performance, we have adopted various green office measures, TF3% :

which are summarised in the table below:

Aspect Measures

S 5= )il

Lighting systems ] Ensuring lights are switched off in unoccupied rooms to conserve energy
RARS BERTEAGEANEERFEMEE  UEEEIR

Ventilation and
air conditioning systems
BRMZEARR

Company vehicles
NI

Staff commuting
BTEH

Staff engagement
ET8H

= >

Utilising energy-efficient lighting options where applicable, such as LED
lights, to minimise energy consumption

EFRREAENAERRR  UILEDIE - UPR(EAETRHAE

Regulating the temperature of air conditioners to designated levels for
efficient electricity usage

HEERAERIREKT  UBIRE RN R

Performing regular maintenance and ﬂlter to enhance cooling efficiency
FHETHRENERER MEa e ME

Conducting routine maintenance on vehicles to ensure optimal
performance

EHETHEMIRE > U RAERTREMEAE

Requiring drivers to switch off idling engines to reduce unnecessary fuel
consumption

EREMERAAZEEMN 52 LUR D RS EBIREE FE

Implementing vigilant monitoring of vehicle usage to track and minimise
fuel consumption

ERAS BRI B E A - DUBHERN R DI E#E

Promoting the adoption of video conferencing as a substitute for business
travel

FEIFBRBERUAREEBIRT

Enhancing staff awareness of environmental protection through
communication channels such as internal networks and various media
platforms

BANBETNSBEBTYEEEABRERSEINIRMRERM

T =FFER

71



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

72

B 4L RO TR

Water Resources

The Group's water consumption mainly consists of municipal
water use within our office premises. During the Reporting Period,
the Group did not encounter any issues in sourcing water that
was fit for purpose. While water consumption is not considered
a material issue in our business operations, we prioritise
promoting water efficiency and preventing wastage through the
implementation of the following water-saving measures:

o Conducting regular inspections to detect hidden water
leaks and promptly addressing overflowing tanks;

o Timely repairs of any dripping taps to prevent unnecessary
water wastage; and

o Providing staff training and displaying water-saving
reminders in pantries and washrooms to raise employee
awareness about water conservation.

Waste Management

In our office-based setting, the Group mainly generates non-
hazardous waste such as general office refuse and wastepaper,
while we are not aware of any significant generation of hazardous
waste. To optimise resource efficiency and minimise waste,
we have implemented various waste management measures,
including but not limited to:

o Promoting duplex printing and utilising electronic
communication channels to reduce the consumption of
waste paper;

o Maximising the reuse and recycling of wastepaper
whenever feasible,

o Installing recycling bins in our offices to collect recyclables
such as paper; and

o Engaging qualified service providers for the collection

and handling of used toner cartridges from our printing
machines.
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Overview of Environmental Performance Data's4 IRIBENHIEHE

2023 2022  Unit

—EB-= S B
Air Emissions
Ex sm kg
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) 7.9 95 kg
KA1EYIINOX) YNy
Sulphur oxides (SOx) 0.2 03 kg
A 1EH(SOX) Ny
Particular matters (PM) 0.6 0.7 kg
BOERLT(PM) Ny
GHG Emissions™
BE RS
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and 2) 116.3 125.5  Tonnes of COe

BEREBHNEE EE1K%2) S ICHEE

Direct emissions (Scope 1) 40.4 46.2  Tonnes of CO2e
BHEEIW (EEN) S bREE
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) 75.9 79.3  Tonnes of COz¢e
FHEHIN (B E2) M_EbEE
Intensity of total GHG emissions (Scopes 1 and 2) 2.5 2.2 Tonnes of CO¢/
employee
BERBHREESTE EE1R2) Mg — G A
===
Energy
AER
Total energy consumption 253.6 2747  MWh
RERHAEEE TFETF EE
Purchased electricity 115.2 116.5  MWh
HMNEEER TEFEEF
Unleaded petrol 138.4 158.2  MWh
i TEF R
Intensity of total energy consumption 5.5 47  Mwh/employee
EREEERE FETERE &S

RIESARE BEREEZNREBESREFEEE
Z3E3THWE TRHTHE-

B The intensity metric is calculated based on the total number of  ®
employees as of 31 March for the respective reporting year, unless
stated otherwise.

“ Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to “
rounding.

ERE I A BECRB B BT B -

In accordance with The Greenhouse Gas Protocol — A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition) published by
World Business Council for Sustainable Development and World
Resources Institute, Scope 1 direct emissions are resulted from
operations that are owned or controlled by the Group, while Scope 2
indirect emissions are resulted from the generation of purchased or
acquired electricity, heating, cooling and steam consumed within the
Group.

REFEERPEXEERZES TN RERME
PREMHNCAERBRERTSE —LEIFHAR
HER (IEFTHR) ) > BRI EE SR A ER
BERENERINEBERESL  MBE2MN R
WA AERE R EFE (BASEISH) BB
HE RS RV EE -

TEC=FFR
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2023 2022  Unit

—E-= = ==K v
Water®
7}(16
Total water consumption 99.0 820 m
HBEKE 5K
Intensity of total water consumption 2.2 1.4  m¥employee
BREKERE YHEKRE
Non-hazardous Waste'’
mEEFEM
Total non-hazardous waste 24 2.3 Tonnes
mEBEEYES iz
Intensity of total non-hazardous waste 0.05 0.04  Tonnes/employee
WmEEREMERE L1 =1

1 The data on water consumption does not include our leased premise 1 BN HKAYEEE QAT LS @ RIFE D EE

in Hong Kong as the water supply is controlled by the property ERLEE RtAKBEELFEERMES
management and such data is unavailable to individual tenants. HNHEEMRAZE -EBEUWIL  HFATMREE KIE
Nevertheless, we adopt water-saving measures to minimise water i UEERIVIREBRK
wastage.

7 Due to our business nature, we were not aware of any significant 7 EREMANEBEE ROFNBEAMEAN
generation of hazardous waste and did not consume any packaging BEBEEYNES RESHBEMTNRBEERESE
material during the Reporting Period. B EEM R o
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CREATING VALUE FOR OUR COMMUNITY

Goal
To give back to the community through donations and
volunteering activities

ABRMANHERIEEE

Bz
RABRERETEHEEBELSE

We believe in the value of creating positive contributions to the
development of the communities we serve. Our Community
Initiatives, Sponsorship and Donation Policy guides our
commitment to community investment, with a focus on four
main areas: improving the environment, enhancing education and
development, fostering community wellbeing, and promoting the
development of arts and culture.

During the Reporting Period, due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, we prioritized safeguarding the health and livelihoods
of our local community. As a result, we did not engage in
any community and charity activities. Following government
recommendations, we provided guidelines and caring advice to
ensure the well-being of our employees.

We actively encourage our employees to participate in charitable
activities and contribute through donations. Moving forward,
we remain committed to seeking additional opportunities for
community contribution.

HMBEERFTIRB L &R R (F IRk
BEMNEBE RMANGLEER BBRIBHE
HER) RAMELERENAERHIES =
BEREMNEEREE  MSRIE NREE
RERRALERENL  URREZMAXE
e

PR &S HARY - 7ECOVID- 19 1B R Z T » A
B RIEA Mttt & A8 BRAN A 5t o I > T4
REZERMHENZEEEE - RABRE
R E  WRHTIREHRHMAZEE U
FERIPI B TRYREAL

BRPEBXBRMANEIZEZEEEE T
BBIBRBHER - R RFDARAINS
KREZHEFRMAIKS -

TEC=FFR
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SIGNIFICANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS BREERER
Aspect Significant Laws and Regulations

fEm BRERRIER

Aspect A. Environmental ° Environmental Protection Law of the PRC
[EEAIRIR (PEARHENBIRERE L)

o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
(FREARHEMBEARSEPAEED

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste
(FhEE N\ R HMEEREREY) S RIRIEAED

° Alir Pollution Control Ordinance
(ERSREREMD

° Water Pollution Control Ordinance
GRS FEHIEG)

° Waste Disposal Ordinance

(R EIRG)
Aspect B1: Employment o Labour Law of the PRC
BB : B1E (FREAREMESEE)
Aspect B4: Labour Standards ° Labour Contract Law of the PRC
[EEB4 : 85 T %8| (PEAREMESESHEEED

o Social Insurance Law of the PRC
(FREAREMBEHEREZE)

° Minimum Wage Ordinance
(REBEIEERD

. Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance
GasltE Be st EMERG )

o Employment Ordinance
(R

° Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
(rREmERG)

o Sex Discrimination Ordinance
CHER AR GBI )

o Disability Discrimination Ordinance
R ARG

° Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
(R E R LR IERD

o Race Discrimination Ordinance

(FERR R IEA)
Aspect B2: Health and Safety ° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
BmEB2 : BEHELE (FPEE NRHMEBEIBZERBEAED

° Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(B2 2 MR IRAD
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Aspect significant Laws and Regulations
[Bm B AERER

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility e
[EBmEB6 . EREE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption o
HB7 : RES

Law of the PRC on Product Quality
(PEARENBEERESE)

Civil Code of the PRC

(FREARHEMBEIREHR)

Advertising Law of the PRC

(FREARBEMBEESE)

Law of the PRC on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests
(PEARRNMBEEEEERREEX)

Personal Information Protection Law of the PRC

(FhE ARHEFMBIEAE S REE)

Copyright Law of the PRC

(REARHEMBEZ(ERZE)

Trademark Law of the PRC

(FPEE NRHEMEEZE)

Patent Law of the PRC

(FREARHEMBEIEZENE)

Money Lenders Ordinance

O CEUNCD

Trade Descriptions Ordinance

(& R BRI )

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

CERAER FARR) 1&F))

Securities and Futures Ordinance

(B REBEHRG)

Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with the Securities
and Futures Commission
(BHFMEEBEREESFE ASEMARTER])
Fund Manager Code of Conduct

(B2 1RRr£L)

Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC
(FREARBEMBER L)

Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC
(PEARBENBEIR AIEEHRTEED

Organised and Serious Crimes Ordinance

(BB EREFRITIRG)

United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance
(EEE (R E R &)

Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
GTEEBEBHD FESEERM)

Guideline on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Requirements for Licensed Money Lenders
TeRERJMD) FESEEES @RARFRKEN)

TECCEER 77



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
Bibi L& BRI RS

78

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

Bk 32 PRESG#R 5455/ &K 5|

INDEX
Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHR - EE - —RIRBRARENIER =H B BHH
A. Environmental
AIRIE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : HE
General Disclosure  Information on: Creating Value For The 68
(@  the policies; and Environment;
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and  Significant Laws and 76
regulations that have a significant impact  Regulations
on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—ARiRE ERBRMAERBIHN mKE TG ABIRRAGEEE;
G BEEREEEEVNELSN . BIERERER
@ BE;XK
(b)) BFHETABEATZEWEREEK
Nl
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective  Overview of 73
emissions data. Environmental
Performance Data
FRIRENIERA1T BB iR B R B R - RIBENHERE
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope  Overview of 73
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,  Environmental
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of  Performance Data
production volume, per facility).
RIREMIERA12 HiE EEN) RERERE EE2) REREH RIEEYEERE
WE UEEE) R QER) ZE MUESESE
B SERXME) ©
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)  Not applicable for N/A
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit  disclosure, since we
of production volume, per facility). were not aware of any
significant generation of
hazardous waste due to
our business nature.
FRENIEEA3 FMMELEEZEEWEE LIRS & WUER) EREBME HATA TEA
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Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE EEH - —RIEBERARENIER EHmE BH
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in Overview of 73
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.  Environmental
per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance Data
FREMIEREA14 FIELEEEEEYRSE CUETE) K WHEA) RIEENEERE
EE WUSESEN SEXREE) o
KPIA1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps  Environmental 68
taken to achieve them. Management
RREINIERALS AP UMBINEERAAEIELEER RREERE
FrERERBY 2 5% o
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-  Waste Management; 72
hazardous wastes are handled, and a  Environmental 68
description of reduction target(s) set and steps  Management
taken to achieve them.
RRENIERAL HMEBREERBSEEYNG L Riglt BYER;
Frsl I BEE R kA EIEEERMEN RIEEE
B B o
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BmEA2 . BERfER
General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, Creating Value For The 68
including energy, water and other raw  Environment
materials.
— iR E BERERER (BEER AEREMEME) N  BIRBAIEEE
R o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by  Overview of 73
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in  Environmental
‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production  Performance Data
volume, per facility).
RREMIEEA2] RERASNEER/TEEER WE R REENHEEE
oW BFEE UTETREFE KEE (M
MEESBA BEXME) o
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Overview of 73
Environmental
Performance Data
REBEMIEIZEA22 4BEKERTE- RIBENHEBERE
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Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - EE - —RIRBRARENIEE EH B BHH
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s)  Environmental 68
set and steps taken to achieve them. Management; Energy, 71
Air and GHG Emissions
RARENIERA23 WA UMW REANmERRAETE REEE;
LE B AR PTERER B A BR R BakR=ERE
BEm
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in  Water Resources, 72
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water  Environmental 68
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to  Management
achieve them.
FARENIERA24 HWIKRBUBRA KR oI BEABE MR K
SIVHAKNAmERERAEINELEEEMR RIEEE
ERHY A 5% o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished  Not applicable for N/A
products, and if applicable, with reference to  disclosure due to the
per unit produced. business nature
RREMIEEA2S ENRFMAEEMMNEER WER) 84 EREHEE ~EA NER
EBLE- ELRE
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
EEA3 | RIERXAER
General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant  Creating Value For The 68
impact on the environment and natural  Environment
resources.
—RRH R BEZETAHRERANRBEREREATE ABIRENEEE
BIBLER o
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of  Environmental 68
activities on the environment and natural  Management
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.
RERENIEIEAS T WMERIZHHREMIABRNEAFE RIEEE
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Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE EEH - —RIEBERARENIER EHmE BH
Aspect A4: Climate Change
[EEAS : mIRE1E
General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of  Response to Climate 70
significant climate-related issues which have  Change
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
—MRiRE A EHE & & ﬁE%%ﬁ* TAEERE EBHEREZE
NEAREEEETHEER
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related  Response to Climate 70
issues which have impacted, and those which  Change
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.
FAREMIERAL] HIBERROEEHETAELTENER EBHREZ®D
RIZERSEE > REHTH-
B. Social
BitE
Employment and Labour Practices
BERSE TER
Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1 : EfE
General Disclosure  Information on: Creating Value For Our 53
(@ the policies; and Employees;
(b) compliance with relevant laws and  Significant Laws and 76
regulations that have a significant impact ~ Regulations
on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
— iR E ERFWEREE - BERSA TERE R AEMANESRIEEE;
BA-FERE b REGUREMSGE SBREEERER
FeEF8
@) BZ% ;&
(b) TFHETABEAZENEREER
%E BINE RS o
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type  Employee Distribution 54

BB AEE1RB1.1

(for example, full-or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

MR RIBIRE (2R FRE)  Fi0
Fth& B DR BB E o

Wl

— s —

— =
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Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - EE - —RIRBRARENIEE EH B BHH
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group  Equal Opportunities, 54
and geographical region. Recruitment and
Dismissal
RARENIEEB12 M- FREN e TN EEMKLL THERE QAR
Ko
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EmB2 : @FEELZE
General Disclosure  Information on: Creating Value For Our 53
(@  the policies; and Employees;
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and  Significant Laws and 76
regulations that have a significant impact ~ Regulations
on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
— ARk ERAREZE2IFREAERERREBE RAEMNESRISEE;
MEEN: BIERRER
(@ ME; &
b)) BTFHBETABEAZENEMBEER
RAIBER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities  Occupational Health and 56
occurred in each of the past three years  Safety
including the reporting year.
FRENMIEEB21 BE=F (BIEEREE) SFRITHNIA BEREREHEZD
B b=
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health and 56
Safety
FRENIEEB22 RAIBEEAIIEEH- EREEZe
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety  Occupational Health and 56
measures adopted, how they are implemented  Safety
and monitored.
RARENIEEB23 WM ERRE 22BN UKHE BERREZS
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Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE EEH - —RIEBERARENIER EHmE BH
Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EmEB3 : ¥ ERiZd
General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge  Development and Training 58
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.
Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may
include internal and external courses paid by the
employer.
—ARiRE BRHEFEES BT LIEB BN AR ZEEEE
oo fuIEIEB) 0
5 EHlER N T EEHE A BN R
2o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by  Development and Training 58
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).
RARENMIEEB31 HUARESSERN WahEEE -PREIE ZEERHEE
[B) BlomZilEE G Dt e
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per  Development and Training 58
employee by gender and employee category.
RARAENMIEEB32 M REEENE D SREETHZII FEEREEI
RS S]isE e
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JBHEB4 : & T #A|
General Disclosure  Information on: Labor Standards; 59
(@  the policies; and Significant Laws and 76
(b) compliance with relevant laws and  Regulations
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— A EE BREABFIEE T 3 saH% T - TR
@ BE;R BEEERIER
() BETFHETABEASENEREIERK
RAINE R} o
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Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - EE - —RIRBRARENIEE EH B BHH
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment  Labor Standards 59
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
RASRAARIEIRBA. R IB R EAINER LU R E T kol 55 T#8|
BTo
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such  Labor Standards 59
practices when discovered.
RAREMIEEBA2 FMTRIRERBE R ERARBRPIRE 55 T %8|
BY B 0
Operating Practices
SEEG
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEB5 : {HFEHREEIR
General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social ~ Creating Value For Our 61
risks of the supply chain. Customers
—ARiRE BIRHEHENIRIE R g B MEGR REMNEREISEE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 66
Management
RASREIEEBS. HMEIHHNHEERHE - HEEREIE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging  Supply Chain 66
suppliers, number of suppliers where the  Management
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
RASEAEXNIEEB5.2 MG RABAEREENIEN mERNTER MHEREE
BHNEERME  URBEBARNITRERS
P
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify  Supply Chain 66
environmental and social risks along the supply ~ Management
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
RASRAANIEIRB5.3 LB RAN HEEESERANRRERTE® HEREE
EERVIE G U BRI T RER G %
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote  Supply Chain 66
environmentally preferable products and  Management
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
RSRAENISEBS.4 HAAHREHERNREESARRERRER HERESE
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Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
FEHB - EE —RERERAREVIEE EEINE B
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
BEB6 : EmEE
General Disclosure  Information on: Creating Value For Our 61
(@ the policies; and Customers; 76
(b) compliance with relevant laws and  Significant Laws and
regulations that have a significant impact ~ Regulations
on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,  Due to the business
labelling and privacy matters relating to  nature, the Group was
products and services provided and methods  not involved in product
of redress. labelling, and there
were no advertisements
published related to our
money lending business
during the Reporting
Period. As a result,
disclosures in these areas
is not applicable.
— A EE ERFMEHERNRBNEREREZS - EE ARMANEFBIEESE;
BREMFEEE ARG AN BIARERER
@ BH;k&
b)) BTHRTABEAZZNEMEENR HREBEE AEEWT
REINER T R BE iR AEE
TRBRIRE AR
EREBEEBNES
Rt EBEH IR E
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped  Not applicable for N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.  disclosure due to the
business nature
FRENIEEB6T CEENCEZEREHTRAZ2HAREEAR ERERME TEA iERA
[iEE G ER EHIRE
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related  Customer Feedback 63
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.
FRENIEEB62 BREMPNERKRBNEFHEUARERS FERKE

Ee
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Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
TEHE - EE - —RIRBRARENIEE EH B BHH
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing  Not applicable for N/A
and protecting intellectual property rights. disclosure due to the
business nature
RARENIEIEB6.3 it B i 58 Ko (R P& &N 38 2 1 A RE BV IE ) REBMEERNERES EA
=
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and  Quality Products and 62
recall procedures. Services
Due to the business
nature, the Group was
not subjected to product
recall matters.
FARENIEEB64 HMESRTEBREKRERLDIKERF- BENERTRE
HPREBME AER
BRERIERBESEE
%
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and  Data Protection and 64
privacy policies, how they are implemented  Privacy
and monitored.
RARENIEEB6S HIUHBEEBR RERIMBEE UK BIRRELETLRE
HITREEZR G %
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BEB7 : R&S
General Disclosure  Information on: Anti-Corruption and Anti- 65
(@)  the policies; and Money Laundering,
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and  Significant Laws and 76

— AR EE

Annual Report 2023
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Indicator Chapter/Disclosure Page
FEHB - EE —RERERAREVIEE EEINE B
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding  Anti-Corruption and 65

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or  Anti-Money Laundering
its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases.

FARAXMIERB7.1 MRERARNHFTAREEERLELEESE RESHREERRE
NESRAR MBI E KR E R

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and  Anti-Corruption and 65
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are  Anti-Money Laundering
implemented and monitored.

RAREXMIEIRB7.2 M HE R BRET > UREANITE RESEHREER

BERAEe

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided  Anti-Corruption and 65
to directors and staff. Anti-Money Laundering

FARAXMIERB7.3 HRNESERETRHENRESEIC RE5ER T ERE

Community

&

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : &R E

General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to  Creating Value For Our 75
understand the needs of the communities  Community
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.

— RN E BRMMESHERTHREEMEIMTESTSEN AHMNTEAEEE
BREERIDETREEHN K-

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Creating Value For Our 75
community

RISRAENIEIERS. 1 FHXEEEE AERMANTEREEE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Creating Value For Our 75
Ccommunity

REREWNIEIEB8.2 TEEIHEBEMEAER- ABEMANTERISEE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEEHS

The directors (the “Directors”) of the Company present their
report together with the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements, there were no significant
changes in nature of Group's principal activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future developments in the
Group's business, can be found in the sections “Chairlady’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 4 to 17 of this annual report. This discussion forms part
of this Directors’ report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating segments is
set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set forth in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 115 to 116.

The board (the “Board”) of Directors did not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
Nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTY, PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in investment property, property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set forth in Notes 15 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group during
the year (2022: Nil).

BEHEERFRAR

rABREF (EF))REBEE"ZT_=F=
B=+—HUEFEZRERGEMHREK

FEXRBREBRIRE

AABDHNEBEBAREZERMEWE AR
ZEBHNGEMBREMESS AEEE
EEBUHERAFENLES RS

BB EHFRBIM RSP E R 2 E R EFHAY
E—PmROMBENEAEFRBIZVVEZ
TEREEIREEESNHERIN > BF
BEAEEFMEYNEIZARK I EERER
BUES R > AR A B R D] SEEITRI AR R
EIER A RARTEETTREH D

DEEHN
FEEBEEDBUH 2 RAD WK
ERBRRM 6o

HEERDE
rEAREE _ T _ZF=ZA=+—HLE
EZHEHNEISE16BEZ EaBHERE
HEmEmWRERA -

Exg ((EF20) ITEBREBRE_ZT
TZFZR=t+—HULEFEZEIRE CE
S S 9 I

REME - -ME - -REREM
FEEREME -VE RERSMESH 2 5F
B> DRI RSB IRERMEE15K 140

=B
AEERFAEFERNTLEFLESER (CFT
. S

TEC=FFR

89



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

90

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEEHS

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set forth in Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share options scheme below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 2 September 2013 and the Stock
Exchange granting approval of the listing of and permission to
deal in the shares to be issued under the share option scheme
(the"Share Option Scheme”) on 3 September 2013, the Company
adopted the Share Option Scheme in replacement of a share
option scheme adopted on 25 March 2003 which had been
expired on 24 March 2013. The Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 2 September
2013, unless otherwise terminated. The followings is a summary
of the Share Option Scheme:

Purpose
The Share Option Scheme aims to provide the Company with
a flexible and effective means of incentivising, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to the
Directors, employees and other participants of the Company and
the Group.

Participants

The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, invite person(s) who
or which is/are eligible to participate as grantee(s) and receive
options under the Share Option Scheme, to take up share options
to subscribe for shares.
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Maximum number of shares available for
subscription

The total number of share options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued shares of
the Company as at 2 September 2013. Upon approval by the
shareholders, the Company may renew the Scheme Mandate
Limit, provided that each renewal shall not exceed 10% of the
issued shares as at the date of approval by the shareholders,
and a circular regarding the proposed renewal of the scheme
mandate limit has been dispatched to the shareholders in a
manner complying with, and containing the matters specified
in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
of the Company at an annual general meeting on 26 August
2016, the 10% limit under the Share Option Scheme was
refreshed, such that the maximum number of shares available
for subscription was 73,612,000 shares. Subsequent to this
refreshment, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting on 5
September 2016, every one share of the Company of HK$0.10
each was subdivided into five subdivided shares of HK$0.02 each.
Hence, the maximum number of shares available for subscription
was adjusted to 368,060,000 shares, and there were no further
changes since then up to 31 March 2023 and the date of this
report. The aggregate maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total number
of shares in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options under the Share Option
Scheme) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Any excess over 1% shall
be subject to the approval of the shareholders at general meeting
with such participant and his/her close associates abstaining
from voting and the Company shall issue a circular pursuant to
relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Time of acceptance and exercise of a share option
The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within
twenty-one days from the date of the offer letter issued by
the Company. The grantee shall pay HK$1 as consideration for
accepting the offer of the share option granted. The grantee may
subscribe for shares during such period as may be determined by
the Board (the said period shall not in whatever case be later than
the last day of the 10-year period after the day on which the offer
relating to the option is duly approved by the Board in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme (subject to early termination)).

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the offer of
the grant of option to the grantee, the Share Option Scheme does
not provide for any minimum period for which share options must
be held before it can be exercised.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board and shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer,
which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (jii) the nominal value of the shares.

The life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years
starting from 2 September 2013 (which can be terminated before
expiration).

As at 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this report, no share
options has been granted under the Share Option Scheme since
its adoption.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 119 and in Note 37(b) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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BEHEERFRAR

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE AT Z A DIk E
COMPANY
The Company’s reserve was as follows: KRB ZEBEOT .
2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Contributed surplus BHEER 34,178 34,178
Accumulated losses RETE518 (293,807) (200,481)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of the contributed surplus if:

(@ the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of the Company would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities, its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2023
are set out in Notes 14(b) and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 255 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Zheng Juhua
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Man Kwok Leung

Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth
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In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws and
to comply with the requirements of the Listing Rules, Ms. Zheng
Juhua and Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within three years without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Other than the transactions as disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements, no contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 31 March 2023
or at any time during the year then ended.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Directors had an interest in any business apart from the Group's
business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the Group's business that need to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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EEEe
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REBEFEARBERRSAN SFNEA
A5 B 3R 5 42 S0 12 48 B 35 S0 A BE B A
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B EHARBSES 10R A FIREER DN T ¢

Director Name of company Nature of business  Nature of interests

o NGB EBME EEtE

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited Money lending and Chairman and executive
mERLE ("Royal Century”) and its subsidiaries financial services Director of Royal Century

CHRERERARAR (CERER) X
HitERE

As the Board is independent to the boards of the above
mentioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently of, and at arm'’s length, from the business
of those companies.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in
any business (apart from the Group's business) which competed
or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year had the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or
any contract of significance for the provision of services by the
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The transactions as set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements were connected transactions which
were exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements are concerned, the remuneration of the
Directors as determined pursuant to the service contracts/letters
of appointment entered into between the Directors and the
Group were connected transactions which were exempt from
any disclosure and shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company and their
associates in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”),
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register as required to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Directors’ interest in the Company:

EFERESTHRASRKRM - HRR
RRIESHZ K%
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f5l1) EXVER) AR B IRD (TRR15 1) ~ 1BRAR%
M RESTERBREES MPEERAEXY
ERBT7 M8 BB HI B A A B R B X FT U RE 2R Ke
KB RERIRIRE S RIS K HE352K7F
B EBEMAB SRR XA N BRE L
™75 B B 8% 1 0P S AR 22 <7 B A0 & AR A B) K i
RFTERERENWT
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Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director Number of shares shareholding Capacity
B4 RHEE RERLSEIL 59
Ms. Zheng Juhua Long position 834,767,140 shares 20.26% Interest of controlled
BRI L+ (Note) corporations
47 72834,767,1408% (Hi5%) READED

Note: 834,767,140 shares were held by Superb Smart Limited (“Superb
Smart”), a company wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Zheng Juhua,
the executive Director and Chairlady of the Company. Accordingly, Ms.
Zheng Juhua is deemed to be interested in the relevant shares under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors nor chief executives of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and/or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the “Share Option Scheme” section on
page 90 in this annual report and Note 27(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors,
or their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had
any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year ended 31 March 2023.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as it is known by or otherwise
notified by any Director or chief executives of the Company,
the particulars of the corporations or persons who had 5% or
more interests in the following long positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO or were entitled to exercise,
or control the exercise of, 10% or more of the voting power at
any general meeting of the Company (the “Voting Entitlements”)
(i.e. within the meaning of substantial shareholders of the Listing
Rules) were as follows:

Name of substantial

shareholder Number of shares

BEHEERFRAR

EFEBARMDHEFTZLH

PRI AR ERFEIOR MFERES B —BRFE
A IMARMEE27(COFTIREE SN ) R AT HEAE
B A B I A A B AR EE 5T SRR
2 BEEFAEBARQT WM HEA
EANERZERONERES (BFEEZD) ME
m B BEEAESHEEBN KRR /K
FREFEAODBBARDIBF BN K
BERBE_Z_=F=B=+—HLEFER
TR ZFERN -

FERREHMA LR RERR
RzER KR

RIBZ=ZF=ZB=+—H ' BEXREEM
EFURSTHRAEMEHAMBERNE
R IIRER S M E R G E3361R R FER
TEeMATsL iR 2 BR1D RABRERR (D 2 G A P
BS% U L m HEA AT ERAREARE
EEREITHERIERN0% L Lie TR (R
ml) BPEHRAANEBRRAEERSE) 2
BIALTZFHBENT :

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding Capacity

TERRES & B REHRNTIL S92
Ms. Zheng Juhua Long position 834,767,140 shares 20.26% Interest of controlled
EHIELZ L= (Notes (i) corporations

17 2 834,767,14088 (MIEE()) R LYNCIL
Superb Smart Limited Long position 834,767,140 shares 20.26% Beneficial owner

(Notes (i) EmEAA

47 72834,767,1408% (M E())

Dragon Mind Holdings  Long position 341,132,000 shares 8.28% Beneficial owner

Limited
BREEREBRAR

(Note (ii))
¥ 78341,132,0008% (=% (i)
Managecorp Limited Long position 341,132,000 shares
(Note (i)
$F72341,132,0008% (FffE(i))

BmBEAA

8.28% Trustee
ZEEA
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Name of substantial

Approximate
percentage of

shareholder Number of shares shareholding Capacity

TERRES in &8 REMLSESL 59

Mr. Zhang Lirui Long position 341,132,000 shares 8.28% Founder of a discretionary

SRFER A (Note (i) trust

47 2341,132,0008% (B 5%(i) MIBEFERILA
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit Long position 248,280,000 shares 6.03% Beneficial owner and
(Note (iii) interest of controlled
2EREE F 2248,280,0008% (B £ (i) corporations
BaEA ARZEAT

R

Notes: =

(i) 834,767,140 shares were held by Superb Smart, a company wholly and
beneficially owned by Ms. Zheng Juhua, an executive Director and the
Chairlady of the Company. Accordingly, Ms. Zheng Juhua is deemed to
be interested in the relevant shares under the SFO.

(i) 341,132,000 shares were held by Dragon Mind Holdings Limited which
is wholly-owned by a discretionary trust of which Mr. Zhang Lirui (“Mr.
Zhang") is the settlor and Managecorp Limited (“Managecorp”) is the
trustee, and accordingly, Mr. Zhang and Managecorp are deemed to be
interested in the relevant shares under the SFO.

(i) 199,680,000 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Lau Hoi Kit and the
remaining 48,600,000 shares were held by Costrade Group Limited, a
company wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lau Hoi Kit. Accordingly,
Mr. Lau Hoi Kit is deemed to be interested in all of the above mentioned
relevant shares under the SFO. Mr. Lau Hoi Kit is a son of Ms. Zheng
Juhua, an executive Director and the Chairlady of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
corporations or persons who, as at 31 March 2023, had the Voting
Entitlements or any interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Ms. Zheng Juhua, aged 51, is an executive Director and the
Chairlady of the Board of Directors of the Company. Ms. Zheng
has been a member of the Board since April 2011. Ms. Zheng
conducts a property rental and investment business in Shenzhen,
the People’s Republic of China. She has over ten years of
experience in securities investment in Hong Kong. She is the
sole beneficial owner of Superb Smart Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company which holds approximately 20.26%
of the issued share capital. She has not held any directorships in
the last three years in any other public company the securities
of which are listed on the securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, aged 56, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor
degree with honours in Business Administration and a master
of science degree with distinction in Corporate Governance
and Directorship. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He is a practicing certified
public accountant and has extensive experience in financial
management, corporate development, corporate finance and
corporate governance.

Mr. Chan has been a member of the Board since June 2011.
He is currently an executive Director and chairman of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 8125). He was
an independent non-executive Director of Media Asia Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8075) from September 2009 to
March 2020, New Times Energy Corporation Limited (stock code:
166) from May 2012 to March 2020, Asia Energy Logistics Group
Limited (stock code: 351) from September 2004 to July 2020 and
Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1089) (which
shares were delisted from the Stock Exchange on 24 December
2020) from July 2015 to December 2020.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Man Kwok Leung, aged 76, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Man has been a Board member
since April 2011. He is a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong.
Mr. Man has extensive experience in the legal practice and was
appointed by Xinhua News Agency as a district advisor between
1995 and 1997. He is currently a director of Apleichau Kai Fong
Primary School, the committee member of Apleichau Kai Fong
Welfare Association, the secretary of Apleichau Promotion of
Tourism Association and the honorary legal advisor of Junior
Police Officers’ Association. Mr. Man is not related to any
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Man is currently an independent non-executive director of
DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559).

Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter, aged 72, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yu has been a member of Board
since April 2011. He has over 28 years of experience in real
estate and financial services industries. Mr. Yu has a bachelor
degree in Management from Youngstown State University
in Ohio, the United States and a master of science degree in
Financial Services from American College in Pennsylvania, the
United States. Mr. Yu is @ member of the Certified Commercial
Investment Member Institute and was the first Chinese-American
elected to the board of the San Francisco Association of Realtors.
Mr. Yu worked in Pacific Union Real Estate Company in the United
States between 1980 and 1995 and held senior positions in
MetLife and New York Life Insurance Company in managing Asian
customers in North America. Mr. Yu is not related to any Directors,
senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders the
Company.

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth, aged 54, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee of
the Company. Mr. Chi has been a Board member since April 2011.
He has over 20 years of experience in accounting and financial
control area. He holds a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a fellow member
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom, an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators) in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chi is not related
to any Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. Chi is currently an independent non-executive director of
Perfect Medical Health Management Limited (formerly known
as “Perfect Shape Medical Limited”) (stock code: 1830). He was
an executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock
code: 559) from January 2010 to March 2020 and an independent
non-executive director of Greentech Technology International
Limited (stock code: 195) from October 2012 to April 2020, and
Hephaestus Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Union Asia
Enterprise Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 8173) from November
2019 to March 2022.

Senior Management

Mr. Chau Kin Cheung Alfred, aged 38, is the company
secretary and financial controller of the Company. Mr. Chau holds
a bachelor degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has extensive experiences
in auditing, accounting, financing and company secretarial
matters. He joined the Group since October 2021.

Ms. Li Yue, aged 35, is a head of risk management of the
Company. Ms. Li has a Master of Financial Management from
the University of Alberta and a bachelor degree in Business
Management (Accounting) from Jilin University of Finance and
Economics and she has the certificate of accounting profession
issued by Finance Commission of Shenzhen Municipality. She has
over 5 years of experience in banking industry. She joined the
Group since July 2015.

Mr. Zhou Dezhao, aged 45, is a general manager of the Group's
finance leasing department. He has a Master of Business
Administration from University of Northern Virginia and a bachelor
degree in Finance from Sun Yat-Sen University. He has over 15
years of experience in banking industry. He had worked in several
banks as a general manager in business department or business
development department before joining the Group. He joined the
Group since October 2015.

Ms. Kwan Chung Yan, aged 44, is a responsible officer and
an executive director of the Company's subsidiaries namely
ChaoShang Securities Limited and CHAOSHANG ASSET
MANAGEMENT LIMITED. Ms. Kwan is primarily responsible
for supervision of retail brokerage and asset management
businesses under the regulation of the SFC. Ms. Kwan holds a
bachelor degree in Business Administration from the University
of Thames Valley in the United Kingdom and has over 20 years of
experience in the financial industry. She joined the Group since
September 2016.
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Mr. Yeung Chung Lung, aged 35, is a responsible officer and
director of the Company’s subsidiaries namely ChaoShang
Securities Limited and CHAOSHANG ASSET MANAGEMENT
LIMITED. Mr. Yeung is primarily responsible for supervising the
business of retail brokerage and asset management under the
regulation of the SFC. Mr. Yeung received a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Financial Services from Edinburgh Napier University,
the United Kingdom, and has over 14 years in financial industry,
mainly focusing on the operation of front office and other
financial business developments. He joined the Group since July
2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, approximately 69% (2022: 72%) and 18% (2022:
18%) of the Group's turnover was attributable to the five largest
customers and the largest customer respectively.

During the year, approximately 100% (2022: 100%) and 63% (2022:
43%) of the Group's purchases were attributable to the five largest
suppliers and the largest supplier respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers above at any time during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the laws of
Bermuda or the Company’'s Bye-laws, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to Bye-law 168(1) of the Company’'s Bye-laws, every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable for any
loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred
by the Company in the execution of the duties of his/her office
or in relation thereto, provided that the Bye-laws shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda
Companies Act. The Company have maintained Directors and
officers liability insurance during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares during the year ended 31 March 2023.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications, experience and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENTS

The Company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong are
required to participate in a contribution retirement scheme of
the Group set up in accordance with the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). Under the scheme, employees are required to
contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 per month and they may choose to make additional
contributions. The employer's monthly contribution is at the rate
of 5% of each employee’s monthly salary up to the maximum limit
of HK$1,500 per month.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate in
contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant local
government authorities since incorporation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 18 to 40 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the sufficiency of public float
requirement under the Listing Rules at any time during the year
and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors, has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations
of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Lau
& AU Yeung C.PA. Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board
Zheng Juhua
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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[ LAU | 2065 Gt mspama s
LASRNERI 1.AU & AU YEUNG C.P.A. LIMITED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to 254,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are (i) impairment
assessment of trade and account receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan and interest receivables, factoring receivables
and deposits, prepayments and other receivables, and (ii)
impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets.
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HEARGEMBRENEFTRAEENS
H-BEFREERMBEFABEGROGMBR
KERHARRFETREN - KM EHZ
FRERHEBHIER

BMEBS PE B NMRE S BB EOE
MR~ PR TR B U B AR
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B

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
FAREEE KR E IR IR

Impairment assessment of trade and account
receivables, finance lease receivables, loan and
interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables
FEUWERFR - EINRBEHENRIE - BRWERKRFE FE
WRERIEMZE  BORREMERRIEZRE
A

Refer to notes 20, 19, 22, 21 and 23 to the Our audit procedures in relation to the recoverability of

consolidated financial statements trade and account receivables, finance lease receivables,
B2RRE M REMNE20~ 19222 21%23 loan and interest receivables, factoring receivables and

deposits, prepayments and other receivables included:
BMARMEBUIRR  RIRERERIE - BIRER K
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Key Audit Matter
FAREtEIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
KM B R E

As at 31 March 2023, the net carrying amounts of the
Group's trade and account receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan and interest receivables, factoring
receivables and deposits, prepayments and other
receivables were HK$283.8 million, HK$33.9 million,
HK$178.2 million, HK$20.3 million and HK$74.3 million
respectively, in which allowance for impairment losses
of HK$72.0 million, HK$13.3 million, HK$31.7 million,
HK$0.6 million and HK$4.5 million were recorded.
N_E2Z=F=A=+—H> E£EWNEKE
T EWRERERE - BRERKEFE  EBRF
EBEREMZS BN EEMERRIEZFED A
283,800,0007 7T ~ 33,900,000 7t ~ 178,200,000/
76~ 20,300,0007% 7T 5 74,300,000 75 R 5t B E %
#5738 5 #£1§72,000,00078 7T ~ 13,300,000 7T
31,700,0007 7t ~ 600,00078 7T 524,500,00078 7T ©

Management assessed the impairment loss on trade
and account receivables, finance lease receivables,
loan and interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables based
on assumptions about expected credit loss rates. The
Group used judgments in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment loss
calculation, taking into account cash collection history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates.

BEEENEREEBRAZENBIRERIERER
R B ERIE - R E R T B FEUURIZERRIBA
e AN REMEVRIEN R EETTG &
EEAMEBRIMNEZERESBENGAEBR  T/E
TIBFERRIER  RENT IS E R RISt o
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Understood key controls in relation to expected
credit loss (“ECL") impairment assessment.
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Understood the ECL model used by the Group.
R ER Y EREEEATERINER -

Discussed with management to understand and
evaluate the basis and reasonableness of the
rationale for expected credit loss rate of different
aging and types of debtors.
RMEBIEE T LUIRR KT ETERE RER
ANFEREEBERAENEERGIE -

Examined the ageing profile of the debtors
and checked the accuracy of the calculation of
impairment loss allowance.

BB B AR E R EREERER -

Obtained and understood from management of
established policies and procedures on credit risk
approval, monitoring and debts recovery process.
MEREENIKREDEREZEERMAEKEE
RHRNRIBOIAZF ©

Evaluated management’'s assessment of the
recoverability of those individual debtors with little
or no settlement subsequent to the end of the
reporting period.
EEEEHRSHAERBRALVENRAERN
& B &7 A\ B BT YR B 14 1 H Y 5T A ©
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Key Audit Matter
RAREtEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB E st AR

We focused on this area as the balances of trade and
account receivables, finance lease receivables, loan
and interest receivables, factoring receivables and
deposits, prepayments and other receivables were
material to the consolidated financial statements
and the assessment on the impairment loss on
these receivables involved significant judgments and
estimates by management.

HBMELERZEE JhHRERERS  BWRERS
FIB~FEREREF B BUIRIERIBEMZ & 8
AEREMERRSEHEREMBREEADAHZE
FEWGRIE B EN T Y R EEENE A KT GE

- Evaluated the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade and account receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, factoring receivables and deposits,
prepayments and other receivables in accordance
with the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards in notes 20, 19, 22, 21 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

— RERTYFEREHEGRR BRRERS
MEFERERKRAE S EBWRFRERENZE T8
TR EMEWRIEE &7 & B IRRM 552019~
22~ 21 K2318 2 W B E LT E -

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

BERENEE 2 RET

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements
BH2RGRE MR ERWMF7

The carrying values of the Group’s goodwill and
intangible assets as at 31 March 2023 were amounted
to HK$1.0 million and HK$16.8 million respectively and
were contained in two cash-generating units (“CGUs")
identified by management, the Comercializadora
Ven 2010 CGU and the ChaoShang Financial CGU
respectively. Allowance for impairment loss on
goodwill and intangible assets of HK$4.0 million and
HK$4.7 million respectively were recorded for the year.
RIZEZ=%=A=+—H> EE£EHELEFLE
ENEREE 7 5 451,000,0007% 7T 5216,800,0007% 7T
TEgrMESEE#HINREELS U (REeE
4B {i1]) 9Bl AComercializadora Ven 2010891R &
EFEARBEcMNBSELEERN HEKE
A E R BEEBERFERND ] ER1S4,000,00074 7t K%
4,700,000 7t °

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets included:
BMEAEmERELEERETENEFETEE

- Evaluated the Group's identification of CGUs and

the value of goodwill and intangible assets allocated
to the CGUs and assessed the methodology
applied by management in the preparation of the
discounted cashflow forecast with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.

— B BEERsELSBMUNHENERIEERE
EEBUNEERETLEENBERTHEIERE
KEB2ERTEFHENRENREULIBIRESRETE
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Key Audit Matter
FAREtEIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
KM B R E

Management performed an annual impairment
assessment of its goodwill and the associated
intangible assets. Management compared the
carrying values of the CGUs to which the goodwill
and intangible assets have been allocated against
a discounted cashflow forecast to determine
the amount of impairment loss which should be
recognised, if any.
EEEHEEREENELEEETFEERME
B BEERREEELABUNBEREFLEENIR
EESEMBRERERAETIEE UETE TR
RBVRERETRE (A) o

The preparation of a discounted cashflow forecast
involves the exercise of significant management
judgement, particularly in estimating the long term
revenue growth rate and the discount rate applied.
HREMIAPSRERAAT RIEHERSIERE H B
LTEHERESIRPAWNAEEEXTREANMIERES
TEHEXRHE

We identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill and intangible assets as a key audit matter
because the impairment assessments prepared
by management were complex and contained
judgemental assumptions, particularly the long term
revenue growth rate and discount rate applied,
which could be subject to management bias in their
selection.

FMR T E R BB ENRE T3 E 72 B
B EE DHNEEERENBETHEERE
ZHEE RS CEREREAREIERERME
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Evaluated the discounted cashflow forecast
prepared by management by comparing specific
data and significant assumptions in the preparation
of discounted cashflow forecast. Our evaluation has
taken into account our understanding of the Group's
future business plans.
FHERRREIRRENERACHNAEREEE
BAREBFRETLER FEEEERENIRIEEM
SRA TR BMT R BEEREKE
FetEle

Compared the discount rate adopted in the
discounted cashflow forecast with that of
comparable companies and external market data.
RAEIRIRSMEFE AP IXANMIREBE AT LR A
BB RALEE R AN S T R BRI TEE 8k o

Obtained from management the sensitivity analysis
of long term revenue growth rate and the discount
rate adopted in the discounted cashflow forecast
and assessed the impact of changes in these key
assumptions to the conclusions reached in the
impairment assessment and whether there were
any indicators of management bias.
RSAIRREERERANAXANERARSEEE
ERHEBENEEEHREDMRTLZEFEKR
R HIREEEHENRETHERNTERE
BETEAEEREERAMNITR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B N A% B

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee of the Group assists the Directors in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Hithz 8
BERREFRHHMEEAS-
BREFHRAVES  EFEEER
R IRV L BEMER S

Hiz 88
GMBRE

HPHGEEMBERENERTL A RERME
BeoRATAHZFAMEEERIAER

BYSEEE 4E o

EERMABNGREMBRERNES HANE
EREBEMER  FIERT  EEHEMIE
EREEREMBRENKRMEBSBER
TRBRFEERBEAEUFFEEKR
HRRABBE R ERNRMACRITH I W
REMBAHHMESHRERERRIL > &
MEERERFE -EEHE RFIREER
W&o

EEhBEZZEEMARAMBERREA
HIENEE

BRFEFRAEREBEERGHMAERM
BI(EBMBREER) (R EFRP) BIRE
MERBEEMTENEGMHRE L
HRESREAEGMBRRNBE A FEAR
MEF R MERNERERRAPATFAIRN
EFIES-

ERREGYBERERFE EFE5TE 8%
EFEEENEN TEBRBR TRER
FECEAHANEE URERFEKER
SE R RIFEFAERR SEEBHEIF
IS R EmEAMBERNER SR

EXEENERZESTAWPESFTEEER
E EEENVBRSER

TEC=FFR

111



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

112

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B N A% B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90
of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAS
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
P A RS

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continuea)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors” use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or related safeguards.
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B N A% B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continuea)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Tsang Cheuk Bun

Practising Certificate number: P07122
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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BEHEERFRAR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A T B HAth 2z i s 2%

For z‘he year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—&F_—=#=H=+—HIFFE

2023 2022
—EZ= T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FHET FAET
Revenue Wz 5 198,924 169,386
Cost of sales HEMAK (166,056) (126,260)
Gross profit EH 32,868 43,126
Other income HugA 7 9,569 17,466
Impairment loss on finance lease e R E TE E RIE R E R 1R
receivables 19 (3,931) (2,765)
Impairment loss on trade receivables — FEURER R K518 20 (5,747) (5,700)
Impairment loss on account RETEPEERTURE
receivables from margin clients 518 20 (7,345) (5,575)
Reversal of impairment loss/ FEWRIBRVIBIR(E
(Impairment loss) on [El# (5518)
factoring receivables 21 831 (993)
Impairment loss on loan and interest  FEWEFH&F] B RI{ERE
receivables 22 (3,569) (16,403)
Impairment loss on deposits and other 1% K& E thFEUL
receivables IR ERE 23 (1,194) (1,152)
Loss on changes in fair value of KREYE R DEEFEIE
investment property 15 (2,185) (2,904)
Impairment loss on intangible assets  EFE E REE1E 17 (4,700) -
Impairment loss on goodwill EmEREEE 17 (3,995) (71,700)
Gain on changes in fair value of HthEMEEQANEEE
other financial assets & 18 11,806 74,089
Loss on changes in fair value of FIEBEBEREANEES)
held-for-trading investments 518 (4,840) (1,247)
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading HEFIFEERE WS
investments 5,523 5,662
Gains on bargain purchase of interest EGHQE%H%%/AT% i
in an associate SmBEUW B 16 820 12,636
Administrative expenses THER (59,697) (63,266)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Sy TH A by HLA 2 il o 2%

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #EZ_F_=F=F=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= ==
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
By 5 FET FET
Operating loss HIEEE (35,786) (18,720)
Finance costs E=ID %N 9 (2,156) (2,020)
Share of results of an associate DMEE R B EE 16 (6,913) (5,647)
Loss before taxation PRI BIRS1B 8 (44,855) (26,387)
Taxation 18 10 3,062 (768)
Loss for the year KEEEIE (41,793) (27,155)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:  Efth2ME (548) /Ia .
Items that may be reclassified BEE AT SEERT T HEE
subsequently to profit or [0Ss: EmpEA -
— Share of other comprehensive —DMhEE AR EMEE
income of an associate & 37 -
- Exchange differences arising on — MBI EBEED
translation of foreign operations EREE (49,464) 27,516
(49,427) 27,516
Total comprehensive (10ss)/income REEHLEE (5B IKE
for the year (91,220) 361
Loss for the year attributable to: MTFALTEGEREEERSE !
Owners of the Company KRBFEA (41,749) (26,842)
Non-controlling interests JEER R (44) (313)
Loss for the year KEEEIE (41,793) (27,155)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income MTFATEEARFEERS2EA
for the vear attributable to: (B548) Wz -
Owners of the Company EN/NETESYE DN (92,187) 1,227
Non-controlling interests JERERE R 967 (866)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income AEEHE2E (BB IWa
for the year (91,220) 361
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ZAFZ@ERAIFEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS  FE{L S ARESIE
OF THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted BARRKiEHE (1.01) cents (0.65) cents
12 Al pEgIl
LREMBHRREIANFE12282548 2

The notes on pages 122 to 254 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Annual Report 2023

PyEE o



BEHEERFRAR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SR e A BIR DL

Asat31March2023 PR -ZE_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—EC=F B2
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FHET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME R E R 14 36,904 44,810
Investment property "B 15 39,900 45,387
Right-of-use assets T%ﬁﬁﬁéiéé 14 16,727 8,100
Net investment in sublease DHEKEFER 14 1,902 3,717
Interest in an associate =N 16 14,146 19,964
Intangible assets BT EE 17 16,800 21,500
Goodwill (S 17 1,000 4,995
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 230 230
Other financial assets HihEmEE 18 - 43,250
Finance lease receivables FEW B E R ERIE 19 464 7,827
Loan and interest receivables FEH B 2 22 123,120 18,450
Deferred tax assets Lﬁﬁﬁ? 29 17,498 14,203
268,691 232,433
Current assets MBEE
Amount due from an associate FEWE = A B RUIE 16 3,112 175
Trade and account receivables JE U BR TR 20 283,775 288,791
Factoring receivables FEWRIZRRIE 21 20,258 51,483
Finance lease receivables F’Euﬁzﬂéﬁ%ﬂ%% 19 33,423 59,518
Loan and interest receivables FEWEREFE 22 55,106 77,678
Deposits, prepayments and B FENE IEIQ
other receivables HfhfE U =R IE 23 74,272 38,798
Tax recoverable FEURFR X 7,694 7,476
Held-for-trading investments FIEEERE 24 7,443 7,987
Net investment in sublease DHEKEFER 14 1,815 2,214
Cash held on behalf of clients HEEFRER 25 22,016 35,081
Cash and bank balances REMIRTTERE 26 138,497 217,023
647,411 786,224
Total assets BEMAE 916,102 1,018,657
EQUITY 1
Capital and reserves BARRKGHEE
Share capital (&N 27 82,412 82,412
Reserves B 763,511 855,719
Total equity attributable to KNBFEANEER
owners of the Company 845,923 938,131
Non-controlling interests R (12,828) (13,795)
Total equity W5 4E%E 833,095 924,336
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SR MBI DL

Asat31March2023 PR -ZE_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F BT TF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Retained consideration payables ERERE 28 - 14,211
Lease liabilities HEaE 14 10,318 8,901
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIEEE 29 3,337 4,748
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 13,655 27,860
Current liabilities mREBAaE
Trade and account payables FE T BR R 30 33,105 34,915
Lease liabilities HEERE 14 10,564 4,308
Accruals, other payables and FESTE R I RIB K
deposit received BWigE 15,800 18,217
Amount due to a Director B —REBEERIA 31 1,536 1,214
Amount due to non-controlling PRI IEVERR HE T TR IE
interests 32 244 263
Tax payables FE{IRIB 8,103 7,544
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 69,352 66461
Total liabilites ~~~~~~~~~~ ®&& 83007 9432
Total equity and liabilities Hwm kB EEEE 916,102 1,018,657
Net current assets MENBEEFE 578,059 719,763
Total assets less current liabilities & E&E RS E 846,750 952,196

The notes on pages 122 to 254 form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 254 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023 and were
signed on its behalf.

Zheng Juhua
WHIE
Director

EF
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BREE
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

b

mBHR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z _—Z—

ZFZHA=F—HILEE

Non-
controlling
Attributable to owners of the Company interests
FATREAESE FFERER
Property Share of net
Share Share Contributed  Exchange Surplus  revaluation Accumulated assets of
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total subsidiaries Total
NEERE EfHBAR
BE  ROEE BAERR  ERHE  BBOR e  RHER it BEE 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T FEn FEn Fin Fin FiEn TEn
At1 April 2021 RZEZ-%MB-H 8412 1,000,745 34178 (15,250 7457 725 (179.883) 936,904 (12929) 923975
Comprehensive loss 2EHR
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - - (26,842) (26,842) (313 (27,155)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ Eftr2EKE / (18
Exchange differences on translation of REBNERHBRRZ
financial statements of ERER
foreign operations - - - 28069 - - - 28069 (553) 27516
Transactions with owners BREAZRS
Transfer to statutory reserve ENEERE - - - - 1715 - (1,715) - - -
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ5=B=1+-H 8412 1,000,745 34178 12819 9172 7,25 (208,440) 938,131 (13795) 924,336
At 1 April 2022 RZB__ZWA-AH 8412 1,000,745 34178 12819 9172 7245 (208,440) 938,131 (13,795) 924,336
Comprehensive loss 2EEE
Loss for the year KEEHR - - - - - - ®1,709) @179 (@) #1,793)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  Eft2 &N/ (H8)
Bxchange differences on translation of AEBRMEBBRRZ
financial statements of ERER
foreign operations - - - (50,475) - - - (50,475 1,01 (49,464)
Share of other comprehensive MEBEATEMZERE
income of an associate - - - 37 - - - 3 - 3
Transactions with owners BREAZRS
Transfer to statutory reserve ENEERE - - - - 578 - (578) - - -
Deregistration of a subsidiary HENBAT - - - - (1 - - @ - )}
A3 March 2023 R-F-Z£ZRZ1-A 842 10075 wm @) 979 T4 Q%) 9 (288 809
The notes on pages 122 to 254 form an integral part of these EREVBRFZEOTENFE 122825482
consolidated financial statements. B 5% o

==
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

e BlEii R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #EZ_F_=F=F=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EZ= B CF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FHET FRT
cash flows from RETFRERE
operating activities
Cash used in operations KEEBBRE 34(a) (57,207) (21,574)
Profits tax paid, net EX RS PR (1,508) (16,174)
Net cash used in RETEFIRARE R
operating activities (58,715) (37,748)
Cash flows from investing KREETHRERE
activities
Purchase of property, plant and BAYE REKREZM
equipment 14(a) (148) (944)
Acquisition of additional interest in BABE AR RRIMER
an associate 16 (238) (2,999)
Receipt from net investment in WER D I E R REFT S RIE
sublease - 163
Purchase of held-for-trading BERFEBERE
investments (47,770) (27,503)
Proceeds from disposal of held-for- HEREEERE
trading investments RS IE 48,997 30,804
Bank interest received BUIRITH S 1,499 2,605
Net cash generated from KEEHFRREREE
investing activities 2,340 2,126
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SR BRI R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #EZ_F_=F=F=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= EBCCHF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
My FHET FET
cash flows from MEEBRERE
financing activities
Increase in amount due to a Director B —%EENE
#m 322 450
Repayment of principal portion of EBEREEEY
lease liabilities REZH 14(b) (9,317) (12,443)
Repayment of interest portion of BEHERRZ
lease liabilities FEE 7 14(b) (1,249) (524)
Repayment of bonds BIEES = (7,800)
Other interest paid B EMFE = (130)
Net cash used in financing BRI AIRE IR
activities S (10,244) (20,447)
Net decrease in cash and RERREEHEEE
cash equivalents W BER (66,619) (56,069)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYzRERIRE
beginning of the year EREPE]S 217,023 246,791
Effect of foreign exchange EEXEH) 2 F5E
rate changes, net (11,907) 26,301
Cash and cash equivalents at ERzZRERRE
end of the year EFERE]S 26 138,497 217,023

The notes on pages 122 to 254 are an integral part of these IWWHEEEFHFREDSHINEI22E2548 2
consolidated financial statements. Bk o
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s
registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton Il, Bermuda. The principal place of business
in Hong Kong is situated at Suite 2202, 22nd Floor, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in trading, money lending, factoring,
finance leasing and financial services businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASS") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment property, held-for-trading investments
and other financial assets that have been measured
at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e B R B AR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

(@) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group:
In the current year, the Group has mandatorily
applied the following new/amended HKFRSSs,
which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKAS(s)"), amendments and
interpretations (“Int(s)”), issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA") for the first time.

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before
Intended Use

Amendments to Cost of Fulfilling a
HKAS 37 Contract
Amendments to Reference to the
HKFRS 3 Conceptual
Framework
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle

to HKFRSs

The application of the new/amended HKFRSs
in the current year has no material impact on
the Group's financial performance and positions
for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

2

FE

2.1

B HREE &
RREE @

BETEESBYBERSENZR
EUMEREEECRETHES
HMEE S MEEREEENERKE
2 st BERIBRTITHEE -
W REEH e 0 o
BREEEVERRBEABR
RitE 2 SER G S MR REM
SFAEE o

(@) ZEBMERMZITREE
HE 3
AE R A E BB IR AN
THBEESGHIAT (&
BEEEMAEY) B2
S IRESTE B RS R
(BEEBMHBREED
EBGTER (EBGTE
Al)) UkEsT k2t (T
F£1) o

SEGHENE WTERRAR
16582 1857 B3E
SEGHENE BONENZ

375k 1EET DR
EEVBRSE HEIEZRY
A3 1BE]  Ra
ERUBREE —Z-N\EE
QizEENRE —BTHE
B

AFEERAME]BETE
B BRESENHAERRN
rEERBEEFEZRER
FAES IR Je B E IS A AR
GMBBRRZREBLEEN

=7
FEo

TEC=FFR

123



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continuead)

(a)

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group: (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments clarify the accounting
requirements for proceeds received by an entity
from selling items produced while testing an
item of property, plant or equipment before
it is used for its intended purpose. An entity
recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items, in profit
or loss and measures the cost of those items
applying the measurement requirements of
HKAS 2.

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous
under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract
comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (for example, direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example,
an allocation of the depreciation charge for an
item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract).

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the
conceptual Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS
3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in 2018. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its requirement
for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an
asset or a liability. The exception specifies that,
for some types of liabilities and contingent
liabilities, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
instead refer to HKAS 37. The exception
has been added to avoid an unintended
consequence of updating the reference.
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BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group: (Continued)

Annual Improvements Project — 2018-2020
Cycle

HKFRS 1: Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter

This amendment simplifies the application of
HKFRS 1 for a subsidiary that becomes a first-
time adopter of HKFRSs later than its parent
— i.e. if a subsidiary adopts HKFRSs later than
its parent and applies HKFRS 1.D16(a), then a
subsidiary may elect to measure cumulative
translation differences for all foreign operations
at amounts included in the consolidated
financial statements of the parent, based on the
parent’s date of transition to HKFRSS.

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for
Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the
purpose of performing the “10 per cent
test” for derecognition of financial liabilities
- in determining those fees paid net of fees
received, a borrower includes only fees paid or
received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements. As currently drafted, Example 13
is not clear as to why such payments are not a
lease incentive.

HKAS 41. Taxation in Fair Value Measurements

This amendment removes the requirement to
exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring
fair value, thereby aligning the fair value
measurement requirements in HKAS 41 with
those in HKFRS 13.
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e B R B AR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEEHEEHNE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 RNEE B
(b) New and amended standards not yet (b) [IRERAABIFRET RS ETHE

adopted

The following new/amended standards have
been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning 1 April 2022 and have
not been early adopted.

Amendmentsto  Disclosure of Accounting

HKAS 1 Policies’
Amendments to Definition of Accounting
HKAS 8 Estimates’
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction'
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendment to Initial Application of HKFRS 17
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information’

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as

HKAS 1 Current or Non-current?
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants?
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

3 The effective date to be determined

The Group is in the process of making a detailed
assessment of the possible impact on the
future adoption of the new/amended standards.
So far the management is of the opinion that
the adoption of the new/amended standards
will not have any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.2 Subsidiaries

(@

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2023. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform
with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continueq)

Consolidation (Continued)

(@

Annual Report 2023

U

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation
are measured at either fair value
or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at their
acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continuea)

Consolidation (Continued)

(@

0]

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date,
any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9
in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and
its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is
less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case
of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continueq)

Consolidation (Continued)

(@
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(@

(iff)

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded
in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as
an associate, joint venture or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or l0ss.
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BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3

(b)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Costs include direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

132

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.3

Investments in associates (Continuead)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group'’s interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.3

Investments in associates (Continuea)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate and the retained interest is a financial asset
within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or 0ss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal
or partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.3

24

2.5

Investments in associates (Continuead)

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as
the executive Directors of the Company that makes
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK dollars
("HK$") which is the Company’s functional
and the Group's presentation currency. Other
functional currencies are Renminbi (‘RMB") and
US dollar ("US$").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(@

(b)

Functional and presentation currency
(Continued)

The Directors consider that presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in HK$ will
facilitate analysis on financial information of the
Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income within “finance cost”.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
within “other gains/(losses) — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.5 Fore
(c)

Annual Report 2023

ign currency translation (Continuea)
Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing exchange rate at the date of
that statement of financial position;

- income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

- all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part
of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in the
equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposal (that
is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest
in associates or joint ventures that do not
result in the group losing significant influence
or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the item'’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over the estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Property over the unexpired

period of the lease
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
Leasehold improvement 3-5years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. The carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amounts if
the carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

EESTEREE @

2.6 ME--REREM

ME - RE BT REL A RR
sHTEERSHREY R - E LA
BREWEEEEREGZMAX-

ﬂ}

ERZBEEARZRAREEN

AEERATER UKRZEFHEEM
AEER) SEst HE  HRMAT G5t
ABEZIREAENRISBILEE
(RBERBERME) " EEBDZ

SREERRFBUHFESS o PhA H i
ERFEENREEZ VBT
froEnkHEMEER @RS

ME R REMRUBREEH

st A B FHm A E B
EHNBREESBERE A5t
FRFHNT :

LYES AR A 1 BR

ARSI EE
RAREE 3-54
A 4-5%F
HE#E 3-54

BEZRBREERAIEAFHN
BWEHRTLURS WAL R
(WERA) - HREESR G
RLEEFERE IR SRS O
EHPYROEEE



BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

2.7

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property because its use has changed
as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the
fair value of that item (including the relevant prepaid
lease payments) at the date of transfer is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to accumulated
profits.

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property
is measured at its fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property
is included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposals.
Any gains or losses arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
period in which the item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHHBEREE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.8 Goodwill 2.8 ®mE

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwiill
is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU or the group of CGUS to
which goodwill has been allocated is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense
and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

FEEHBREE @
2.9 EBEEE BB

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.9 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition and recognised
separately from goodwill. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible assets may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each reporting period end.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognised.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Other assets subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 10ss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Financial assets

(@

(b)

Annual Report 2023

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (OCI) or through
profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held-for-trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

()

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in
other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

()
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FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses)
in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e B R B AR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to
be recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group's right to receive payments is

established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair

value.

(d) Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are

integral to the contractual terms.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Annual Report 2023

Impairment (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for
credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.11 Financial assets (Continuead)
Impairment (Continuead)
General approach (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLS except for trade
and account receivables and finance lease
receivables which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below:

(d)

Stage1 -

Stage2 -

Stage3 -

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial
recognition and for which the
loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for
which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial
recognition (but that are
not credit-impaired financial
assets) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade and account receivables and finance
lease receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery includes generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, no impairment loss was identified on
the cash and cash equivalents.

Annual Report 2023

2 BEHEREBE @
2NMNEHMEE B

(d)

RE @)

17 %
MABEEAMERDIE
WER R A EW R EE FA E TIE
s oM A EEFE A
EAMERDHENT T
BAZ AEBRTEES
EEFERERBLA L
REBHLFZE SEATE
HiEERKREL  mIRE
LWEQBHN2PERES
BEEREERE ~EH
RIEEBEEEHRBLERE
M EEERE LREEHA
T i IR 1R 55 T B AT RE M R
HIELBEE-

ERNFEIWENSERR
R AEEEMEEHEE-
AEEPWERN S EERE
RERREHRESERRE
EEBARBEENANEE
SR MERIUA KRR
EEEMIERITER

BEREMRBESEEYINE
Lvé%%$ﬁmﬁﬁﬁ9

FHBERE  HRERR
= FEY A H R R ERES
e



BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHHERME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Financial liabilities 212 &REE
Classification and measurement of financial EHBaEZzoEKRE

liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
account payables, accruals, other payables and
deposits received, retained consideration payables,
amount due to a Director and amount due to non-
controlling interests. Financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, and adjusted for transaction
costs unless the Group designated a financial liability
at FVTPL where applicable.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised to the profit or loss over the life of
the financial liabilities, except for derivatives and
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are
carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes
in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit
or loss are included within finance costs.

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial
liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and the
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTHHEREEME &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments 2131HE/MTAE

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.14 Trade, account and other receivables

Trade and account receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade, account and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Margin financing service refers to the lending of funds
by the Group to customers for purchase of securities
for which the customers provide the Group with
collateral.

The Group recognises margin financing services
to customers as margin accounts trade receivable,
and recognises the commission as interest income
accordingly.

Trade, account and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair values and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment.
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SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHHEME &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.15 cash and cash equivalents 215 RERFEEEEE

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand and at financial
institution.

Bank deposits which are restricted to use are
classified as “restricted bank deposits”. Restricted
bank deposits are excluded from cash and cash
equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash
flows.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade, account and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers.

Account payable to brokerage customers are all
deposited in the bank accounts designated by the
Group. The Group recognises the funds as liabilities
for settlement to the customers. The Group executes
trade orders through stock exchanges on behalf
of the customers. If the total amount of purchased
securities exceeds that of sold securities, accounts
payable to brokerage customers decrease by the
difference in addition to the withholding stamp duty
and commission. If the total amount of sold securities
exceeds that of purchased securities, accounts
payable to brokerage customers increase by the
difference after deducting the withholding stamp duty
and commission. Trade, account and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade, account and other payables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Borrowings

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that part or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

2.19 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.
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SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHHEME &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.20 Provisions (Continued) 2.20 #15 &)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.21 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and consider whether it is
probable that a taxation authority with accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTHHEREEME &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 2.21 BENER B R EFR1STR (18)

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
Statements.

However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, except for deferred income tax liability
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group
is unable to control the reversal of the temporary
difference for associates. Only when there is an
agreement in place that gives the Group the ability
to control the reversal of the temporary difference in
the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associate’s undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.
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SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGHHEHRE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 2.21 BNEARIREFR ISR ()

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment property that are measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
property are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or services is transferred
over time if the Group's performance:

J provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or services.
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SR e A AR B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESTHHEHME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.22 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.22 W kEER (42)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods are recognised
when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the buyer, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the buyer’'s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to
the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the buyer, and either
the buyer has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions
have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when
the goods are delivered to the customers as this
represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

HENBESREMD > LETEP
RENII BB RNRE T
ERMES—FULNRE WA
RAZEWGRIRR IR BT & WA
FEFREFEFAEGHRERIN
BIETHRMER S PR R
MBERETHRE -HENEIME
AW AETAEBBEREN
R G K T RE B8 BY AR 5T A
REBEERANXENAGHNEERE
BYF B 5 ST o BLIF (I R R EEAE PR
A mE AR 2 B —F A
THENME X7 BRREAE
BUBREERBISRNERE
H7& MAEMBEEREN DB
FEFHREE-

EREH W

BEYHE
EYHE W m 7 E M ESIE
EEERESD IEERRXNUHBE
RIEBRERBITHRBAIES
EERYHERNESH EEEMR
BERIEE MR REBRKRER
EREEREER REXBRE
HESHNBRER BRHRXEX
Mo NAEEB B SIRBRTA
BRWEANNHBEEME  ERRXNTT
BN -AEERERXTERR
Ry e SR AR UR - REAIZ L TD R UK
WA BEZ RS E R ZRE
R MU ERRRBBEEER
WEREIHR Z S 7K

TEC=FFR

157



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

158

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Rendering of services

Revenue from money lending, factoring and finance
leasing consultancy fee and handling fee are
recognised at a point of time when the services are
rendered.

Revenue from the securities brokerage services is
recognised at a point of time when the customer has
obtained control of the service, generally when the
trades are executed.

Revenue from placing and underwriting services
is recognised at a point of time when the relevant
placing and underwriting are completed.

Revenue from asset management services is
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over
time.

Revenue from other sources

Finance lease, factoring and loan interest income is
recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion
basis over the lease terms.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.23 Employee benefits

(@

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity or paternity leaves are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Retirement scheme obligations

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans organised by the
relevant municipal and provincial governments
in the PRC under which the Group and the PRC
based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated at a
percentage of the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments
undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired
PRC based employees payable under the
plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and
other post retirement benefits of its employees.
The assets of these plans are held separately
from those of the Group in independently
administered funds managed by the PRC
government.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.23Emp
(b)

()
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loyee benefits (Continued)

Retirement scheme obligations (Continued)
The Group also participates in a pension
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
("MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all employees in Hong
Kong. The contributions to the MPF Scheme
are based on minimum statutory contribution
requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
relevant aggregate income subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.

The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution retirement scheme are expensed
as incurred.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of
the following dates: (a) when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and
(b) when the relevant Group entity recognises
costs for a restructuring that is within the
scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundantly the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled share-
based compensation plan, under which the
entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options)
of the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options
granted. In determining the fair value of the
options granted:

o including any market performance
conditions are taken into considerations
(for example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining as
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for employees to save).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d)

Annual Report 2023

Share-based payments (Continueqd)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected to vest. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of
the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied. At the end of each reporting period,
the Company revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market performance and
services conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision of original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares and the proceeds received
net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium.

The options granted by the Company over
its equity instruments to the employees
of subsidiary undertakings in the Group
are treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity account.

A cancellation during the vesting period (other
than a grant cancelled by forfeiture when
the vesting conditions are not satisfied) is
accounted for as an acceleration of vesting, and
therefore recognise immediately the amount
that otherwise would have been recognised
for services received over the remainder of the
vesting period.

2 FE®

STEURIE (2

2.23RERH @

(d)

URMBBEBEZR (B
BmEEURDBEEZN
AL ()
ERRAREBNBEREHE
R R FFhIBRTER
BRI IR IR MA—HEZE -
Fi xR RE I B7 B HAR > BD7&
ENFTERERB RS
BIER -NBIREH AR H
RIFIFH IS RBRRB AT
R KRRFBIEST L R
THBNREHENGER-
HREBEBIZZE (WA)
HEiHRGRmERAEMER RS
wUESS > WHEmFHAER

Bao

ERREEITER > ART
AT R > MU ER Z P48 7K
RINBRER EZES X5 R
=& sEARE (EE &R

R

RABDRTFTAEBRETWE
NEEZNREE I RERSE
TENBERERERSTE
IR EERBHNANED
2EFHHBNR B
E REFBHEEIESMNE
AEEFHNREL M WAE
Rt ABRABKRRANESD
A o

REBHANZEHE (BRE
16 1 R AN B BB R AL 8
ZREERIN ARIIIERB
mE> ALARREBHRZ
B T ERWMERT 2
88 SLBNF AR



SR e B R B AR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.24 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leased properties Over the lease terms
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.24 Leas

es (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

®)
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Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including insubstance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.24 Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office properties (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment that are considered
to be of low value. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases and sub-leases in which the Group does
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they
are earned.

Leases and sub-leases that transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.25 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grants will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants related to assets refer to
government grants which are obtained by the
Group for the purposes of purchase, construction
or acquisition of the long-term assets. Government
grants related to income refer to the government
grants other than those related to assets.

Government grants related to assets are recorded as
deferred income and recognised in profit and loss of
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a systemic basis over the useful lives of the assets.
Government grants to compensate the future costs,
expenses or losses are recorded as deferred income
and recognised in profit or loss when related costs
incurred. Government grants related to income that
compensate the incurred costs, expenses or losses
are recognised in profit or loss directly in current
period.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group's and
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders or Directors, where appropriate.

2.27 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s major financial instruments include
other non-current assets, other financial assets, net
investment in sublease, held-for-trading investments,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, trade and account receivables, other
receivables, factoring receivables, trade deposits paid,
amount due from an associate, cash held on behalf of
clients, cash and cash equivalents, trade and account
payables, contract liabilities, retained consideration
payables, accruals, other payables, deposit received,
lease liabilities, amount due to non-controlling
interests and amount due to a Director. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The
risks associated with these financial instruments,
include liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk,
foreign currency risk and price risk, and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
Group has adopted the risk management policies and
guidelines. The board of Directors meets periodically
to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group’s exposure to different risks arising from the
use of financial instruments. Generally, the Group
employs conservative strategies regarding its risk
management. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(a) Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed for
each operating entity of the Group and are
aggregated by the Group finance department.
The Group finance department monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements
to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet
operational needs while maintaining sufficient
headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing
facilities at all times so that the Group does not
breach borrowing limits or covenants (where
applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities.
Such forecasting takes into consideration
the Group’s debt financing plans, covenant
compliance, compliance with internal balance
sheet ratio targets and, if applicable external
regulatory or legal requirements.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HHRAKREEREREEK @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MBRREAZR @
(@) Liquidity risk (Continued) (@) RBEERMR @)
The table analyses the Group's financial TRIBERBREHRESDN
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings FHEAE 2 FIREA RS A &
based on the remaining period at the end of ZEMABEI N RERAE
the reporting period to the contractual maturity MR- RANFIMETEAS
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the ARALIFIREME
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Less than Between Total
1 year or 1and Over undiscounted Carrying
on demand 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
LME FERRE
FEER 1555 SENE yikritel REE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
FER FER FER FER FER
At 31 March 2023 e
=ZB=+-H
Trade and account payables JERTERA 33,105 - - 33,105 33,105
Lease liabilities HEaR 11,377 10,565 - 21942 20,882
Accruals, other payables e ER HMES
and deposit received TENEWERS 15,800 - - 15,800 15,800
Amount due to a Director BA—2ESHE 153 - - 153 153
Amount due to IR ERTE
non-controlling interests 244 - - 244 244
62,062 10,565 - 72,627 71,567
At 31 March 2022 =
=A=+-f
Account payables JEfTERR 34,915 - - 34,915 34915
Retained consideration payables  ERREARE - 15,000 - 15,000 14,211
Lease liabilities HEaE 4875 9,344 - 14,219 13,209
Accruals, other payables et ER HiEST
and deposit received DENEWRS 18,217 - - 18,217 18,217
Amount due to a Director E—2EZHE 1214 - - 1214 1214
Amount due to IR ERB
non-controlling interests 263 - - 263 263
59,484 24,344 - 83,828 82,029
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its net investment in sublease, amount due from
an associate, trade and account receivables,
factoring receivables, finance lease receivables,
loan and interest receivables, deposits and
other receivables, cash held on behalf of clients,
cash and bank balances which represent the
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sale of goods and provision of services are
made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and appropriate financial strength. It also
has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly
the recoverable amount of each individual
net investment in sublease, amount due from
an associate, trade and account receivables,
factoring receivables, finance lease receivables,
loan and interest receivables, deposits and
other receivables to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. To manage credit risk, cash deposits
are mainly placed with reputable banks which
are high-credit-quality financial institutions.
The Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk, with exposure spread over a number
of counterparties and customers.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)
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Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of financial asset and
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial asset as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

° internal credit rating;
° external credit rating;

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

° actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results and finance position
of the borrower; and

o significant changes in the expected
performance, payment status and
behaviour of the borrower.

The net investment in sublease, amount
due from an associate, trade and account
receivables, factoring receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan and interest receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash held on
behalf of clients, cash and bank balances are
subject to the ECL model.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

While cash held on behalf of clients and cash
and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment of HKFRS 9, no impairment loss was
identified.

Trade and account receivables and finance
lease receivables

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring ECL which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
and account receivables and finance lease
receivables from initial recognition. To measure
the ECL, trade and account receivables and
finance lease receivables have been individually
assessed based on respective credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information
on factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.

For trade and account receivables and finance
lease receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in Notes 20 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)
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Credit risk (Continued)

Receivables which the simplified approach is
not applied

Impairment on factoring receivables, loan and
interest receivables, net investment in sublease,
amount due from an associate, deposits and
other receivables are measured as either
12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the asset as at the end of the
reporting period with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition by considering
available, reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information.

Maximum exposure and staging classification
The table below shows the credit quality and
the maximum exposure to credit risk based
on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly
based on the customers’ creditworthiness
information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and the staging
classification as at 31 March 2023 and 2022. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
and the exposure to credit risk for financial
assets.
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SR e A AR B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BHERKEEBEEREER ®
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq) 3.1 HBRAREZE @
(b) credit risk (Continuead) (b) EEREMKE @)
Maximum exposure and staging classification = A B e O K FE B 7 48
(Continued) (#&)
31 March 2023
ZE-ZfZRA=+—-H
Stage Ill
Stage | Stagell  (Lifetime
(12-month (Lifetime ECL-  Simplified
ECL) ECL) impaired) approach Total
2
PeER— (@
PEER— (BE HFESHA

(12/8BRA  HEBR TGS
BHEE EOEE BxR-
B%) B%) BiRfE)  BthEE at
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FTERT THET THET TERT FTET
Note (i) Note (i) Note (i)
B FEE(G) ()

Net investment in sublease, DEREFE

amount due from an associate  FEWEE = AR A 6,829 - - - 6,829
Trade and account receivables  FEUTERT - - - 355,777 355,777
Factoring receivables FEWRIERIE 20,884 = - - 20,884
Finance lease receivables FEWFERETIE - - - 47,149 47,149
Loan and interest receivables  FEUEZRAIE

Note (jii) Bt (i) 127,011 21,699 61,193 - 209,903
Deposits and other receivables 1% R HFEWEIE

Note (ii) T &) 65,603 - 7,922 - 73,525
Cashheld on behalf of clients  ZBEEER 22,016 - - - 22,016
Cash and bank balances ReRRTERE 138,497 - - - 138,497

380,840 21,699 69,115 402,926 874,580

Less: Allowances for B OREEERE
impairment losses (1,164) (567) (35,104) (85,264)  (122,099)
Net carrying amount REZE 379,676 21,132 34,011 317,662 752,481

—=—z#x 173



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 3 S 5 AR B ok

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEREEEBEREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HBAREZE @
(b) cCredit risk (Continued) (b) EEREK &
Maximum exposure and staging classification = A B fE i O % [8 B 7 48
(Continued) (&)
31 March 2022
- _F#=RB=+—H
Stage | Stage I Stage Il
(12-month (Lifetime ~ (Lifetime ECL Simplified
ECL) ECL)  -impaired) approach Total
B =
MR (218
FEE— (218 FEHEN

(12BBR  HESR  EHEER

BHEE  BEEE BK-
A% HX) BHE)  BEaE &5t
HKD'OOO ~ HKD'0O0  HKD'000  HKD'O00  HKD'00O
THAT TR TAT TAT TAT

Note (i) Note () Note ()
P EE() FgEE() MIEE()
Net investment in sublease, DEREFE
amount due from an associate  FEWEEE A BIFUE 6,106 - - - 6,106
Trade and account receivables — FEULERTR - - - 350,740 350,740
Factoring receivables FEURIETIE 53,047 - - - 53,047
Finance lease receivables e &R ERE - - - 77,450 77,450
Loan and interest receivables  FEEFRFIE
Note (jii) iEa(lD) 53,549 16,854 55,149 - 125,552
Deposits and other receivables & R ELth FEUR B
Note (ii) i 2Gi) 27,597 - 6,807 - 34,404
Cash held on behalf of clients & AE5EER 35,081 - - - 35,081
Cash and bank balances ReRRITEE 217,023 - - - 217,023
392,403 16,854 61,956 428,190 899,403
Less: Allowances for B OREBERE
impairment losses (1,639 (354) (32,463) (72,054) (106,510)
Net carrying amount RESE 390,764 16,500 29,493 356,136 792,893
Notes: 5T
(i) Among which, the financial assets falling in stage | (i) Hrp ZABE—HNE/ME
are mainly credit rated as Pass, all of the financial EXBTRALEE FBEER
assets falling in stage Il and stage IIl are credit APSE AR =&/
rated as Special Mention and Non-performing, BEEDNFRARENT
respectively. Re
(i) No deposits and other receivables has been (i) REEZ_Z-Z=ZH=AH
moved from stage | to stage Il or from stage Il to =+—HIEFERN MEE
stage Il during the year ended 31 March 2023 EREMEWHRIBEE B
(2022: Nil). E—EERE SR
HERKR= (T 2F
i) o
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(©

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and staging classification

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) Loan and interest receivables amounted to
approximately HK$10,438,000 and HK$5,383,000
has been moved from stage | to Il and from stage
Il to stage Il respectively during the year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: HK$5,694,000 from stage Il to
Ill). The respective allowance for impairment losses
of approximately HK$32,000 and HK$123,000 has
also been moved from stage | to Il and from stage
Il to stage Il (2022: HK$132,000 from stage Il to Ill),
with additional impairment losses of approximately
HK$240,000 and HK$1,392,000 respectively (2022:
HK$2,863,000) provided during the year ended 31
March 2023.

Interest rate risk

The Group's operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group was not exposed to
significant interest rate risk as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 as there was no variable interest
bearing assets or liabilities at the end of the
reporting period.

Foreign currency risk

The Directors are of the opinion that almost all
of the transactions of the Group and recognised
financial assets and liabilities are denominated
in HK$, Renminbi (“RMB") and United States
dollar ("US$"). Given the HK$ is pegged to
the US$, the management does not expect
that there will be any significant currency
risk associated with such US$ denominated
balances and therefore no sensitivity analysis
is presented thereon. Otherwise, the Group
had no material exposure to currency risk as
majority of the Group's asset were denominated
in its functional currency of either HK$ or
RMB. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management will monitor the foreign exchange
exposure should the need arises.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

FAF5 R

[REEBRMBE @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1 BHBRABER @

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (d) b”“HFA C=))
() Exposure to forejgn exchange risk () ZINEE 7 R
The following table details the Group's "F REFINEAEBEBMUE
net exposure at the end of the reporting RERZINEE LY
period to currency risk arising from Sz EEHEZEE
recognised assets/(liabilities) denominated REE/ (BB MEE
in a currency other than the functional ERRIRIRSHAR
currency of the entity to which they Z B fE i EE o
related.
2023 2022
—E=HF _E_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
RMB AR 29 31
uss$ E7T 4,038 3,680
EUR Eaw (353) (360)
3,714 3,351
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BREDHT
The following table indicates the TRETEAEBRRE
approximate change in the Group loss AEBEPNRSEHARK
before taxation (and accumulated losses) TEKRNRRZIMNEE
in response to reasonably possible EHIBOEEBMIE
changes in the foreign exchange rates to 2 BRI A E5 18 ()S’z%’i\
which the Group has significant exposure sHE18) A EHE)
at the end of the reporting period.
2023 2022
—E-= B F
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) loss before (decrease) loss before
in foreign taxation and in foreign  taxation and
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exchange accumulated exchange accumulated

rates losses rates losses

ShiEs Hpra0 HhiE HErTRAET

BRI EBERRT  E=RENS E‘E‘%E}S’z;%?r

(R  FBENEE Gz BRI 2

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FHET
RMB AR 10% (3) 10% @)
(10%) 3 (10%) 3

EUR Bi7T 10% 35 10% 36
(10%) (35) (10%) (36)
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(1) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis has been
determined assuming that the change in
foreign exchange rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period, and that
all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period
until the next annual reporting date. Results
of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the effects
on the Group loss/profit after tax measured
in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HK$ at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2022.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its held-for-trading investments in listed
equity securities. Decisions to buy or sell listed
equity securities are based on daily monitoring
of the performance of individual securities
compared to index of relevant stock markets
and other industry indicators.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to
equity price risks at the end of the reporting
period. If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/
lower, the Group's pre-tax loss for the year
ended 31 March 2023 would decrease/
increase by HK$744,000 (2022: pre-tax loss
decrease/increase by HK$799,000) as a result
of the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

)
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Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 March
by level of the inputs to valuation technique
used to measure fair value. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
(level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The Group uses independent valuers to perform
valuations of financial instruments which are
categorised into level 3. Valuation reports with
analysis of changes in fair value measurement
are prepared by the independent valuer at the
end of each reporting period, and are reviewed
and approved by the management of the Group.
Discussion of the valuation process and results
with the management of the Group is held
once a year to coincide with the end of each
reporting period.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HBREAMREEEHEREE @&
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq) 3.1 HBRAREZE @
(f)  Fair value estimation (Continuea) AREMGE B
The following table presents the Group's assets TREINR _E_=FK_
that are also measured at their fair values at 31 T _F=BA=+—HB7TU
March 2023 and 2022. NAEEZAERESE-
2023 2022
ZECZ= S
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B4k B B} =t -1 E2R =R A%
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
TEn TEnr TER TEn FET TEr TER Thr
Investment property & &% - - 39,900 39,900 - - 45,387 45,387
Other financial assets i £BEE
-Profit guarantee  —ERIRE - - - - - - 43,250 13,250
Held-fortrading  #HEEEM
investments; =
- Listed equity — LA
securities E5 7,443 - - 7,443 7,987 - - 7.987
Total e 7,443 - 39900 47,343 7987 - 88637 9,624

There were no transfers between any levels
during the year.

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices
are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments
included in level 1 comprise equity securities
listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange classified as
held-for-trading investments.

The fair values of current financial assets and
liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate
to their carrying amount.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

)
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Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market is determined
by using valuation technigues. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

Save for Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements for disclosures of the investment
property, the valuation techniques and key
inputs used of other financial assets of level

3 HMHBEREEERREE®

3.1 BHBRABER @

f

[sEfhE E
FRZEHIHA

WIS ERTIEEBEN TR
TENARERBEERN
BE- - ItEHEXRMEEF
BAESHNABRETHH
BoUrREREHERER
HENEBE HFETAR
RNEFMBAREEZHESA
Bz AR TEEFAS " fRke

Bz HTA
W—ERU ETERHILIE
BERoERmBHE 8%
TAFAHZ=A-

PR G MBI RWEISKRE
MEZIREN K E—ER
SHRHEMEREERE =
MANESEPMANMGEER

3 fair value measurement at the end of the TR EEIR2E8NT !
previous reporting period are as follows:
Significant
Other financial Valuation unobservable
assets technique inputs Rate
BARTEHEER
HthEmEE ERE 24 tE=R
2023 2022
—EC=HF TETF
Profit guarantee Monte Carlo simulation  Discount rate - 9.41%-10.44%
wm MRS XERERE ARIRE
Volatility = 44.65%
Pl ]



BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

The fair value measurement is descendingly
correlated to the discount rate used, i.e. an
increase in discounted rate used in isolation
would result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement, and vice versa.

The fair value measurement is ascendingly
correlated to the volatility used, i.e. an increase
in volatility used in isolation would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement, and
vice versa.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the
impact of changes in discount rate and volatility
as the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

The following table presents the changes in
level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 March
2023.

3

MHERREEBERRER @&

3.1 BHRABER @

(f)

AREMEE @
F=ZRzEH IR (B
AREFELEPTERNME
KA IR R R % BN B g it fiE
ARNMRREARERAR
BEStE TR RZIFARe

AR EFTELEPTERIKIE
BRI R BB &M & A
AU I8 £ AR A R ES
E LT RZIFR

MR AEBAAR 2R X
FORTEC SR B N EE
HILR B REFRE Do

TRIIRBE_Z_=F=
B=+—HIEEEZE=4H
TRZ%-

Other
financial Investment
assets property
Hith
TREE REME
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
At 1 April 2021 T2 —FMA—H 8,168 46,374
Fair values changes recognised in -~ MBI A A EEH)
profit or loss 74,089 (2,904)
Currency translation difference TR R - 1,917
Reclassified to other receivable BN EAEMEYNER (39,007) -
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 WZE__F=A=+—HK
“E-"FMA—H 43,250 45,387
Fair values changes recognised in -~ MBI A A EEH)
profit or loss 11,806 (2,185)
Currency translation difference R AR - (3,302)
Reclassified to other receivable BN EAEMENER (55,056) -
At 31 March 2023 NW_E_=F=HA=1+—H - 39,900
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
and borrowings. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders or sell assets to
reduce debt. The Group monitors capital on the
basis of gearing ratio. The total debt to equity ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including lease
liabilities and amount due to a Director) less cash and
bank balances. The total debt to equity ratio at 31
March 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 3 S 5 AR B ok

3 HMHBEREEERREE®

3.2

BAXEBERE
FEBEEEAZBRERES
EREFBEEZRE KMmAK
LGP NEIEE

AEBZEXARBOEER G
B-REFUABELRNE £ &
EREgREZNTRREZKREE
BRLEEELUR IV EE AEE
NEaEERERER B RERY
R b R M & FFRAFRAR R i 5t
B-BREFHRLUBMEE (BEHEE
BEREN—REEFHR) BARE
RIFTEEAE - R T =FK
_T__F=RB=+—HzafE
mEEN R

2023 2022

BT =HF TECF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Lease liabilities HEEsE 20,882 13,209
Amount due to a Director B —REEHE 1,536 1,214
Less: Cash and bank balances B IRERIRITEE (138,497) (217,023)
Net cash IR& 358 (116,079) (202,600)
Total equity s 833,095 924,336
Net debt to equity ratio BEFEEERILE N/A RE B N/A 738 B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Useful lives and impairment assessments

of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determine the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
and amortisation charges for property, plant and
equipment by reference to the estimated periods
that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of these assets. Management
will revise the depreciation and amortisation charges
where useful lives are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives and actual residual values
may differ from estimated residual values. Periodic
reviews could result in a change in depreciable lives
and residual values and therefore depreciation and
amortisation expense in the future periods.

The Group reviews tangible assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be
recovered. Assessing the impairment loss requires a
determination of fair value which is based on the best
estimates and information available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4 EEIHHERIE &
AND JUDGEMENTS (continuea)
(b) Useful lives of intangible assets (b) BMEBEEZRFEREH

The intangible assets comprises of trading right and
licences.

Trading right is the right allows the Group to trade
securities in the Stock Exchanges.

Licences comprise the licences of Type 1, 2, 4 and
9 regulated activities licences under Securities and
Futures Ordinance.

The Group's trading rights and licences are classified
as indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance
with HKAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. This conclusion
is supported by the fact that there were no specific
terms for the rights and the Directors of the Company
expected that the business underlying the rights can
be operated perpetually.

Under HKAS 38, the Group re-evaluates the useful
lives of the trading right and licences at the end
of each reporting period to determine whether
events and circumstances continue to support the
view of indefinite useful life for the assets. As at
31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the trading
right and licences of the Group are approximately
HK$500,000 and HK$16,300,000 (2022: HK$500,000
and HK$21,000,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continuea)

()

Provision for impairment of financial
assets (trade and account receivables,
factoring receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan and interest receivables,
net investment in sublease, amount due
from an associate, deposits and other
receivables)

The Group's management determines the provision
for impairment of the financial assets (including
trade and account receivables, factoring receivables,
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, net investment in sublease, amount due
from an associate, deposits and other receivables)
based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected credit loss rates. The Group used judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's
past collection history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of these financial assets and impairment
charge in the periods in which such estimate has
been changed. The details of the key assumptions
and inputs used in the impairment assessment are
set out in Note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continuea)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(8)

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position cannot be derived from active
markets, they are determined using valuation
technigues including the discounted cash flow model.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible,
a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair
values. The judgements include considerations of
inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives in
relation to Financial Services Segment

The Group determines whether goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill and intangible assets are
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Further details
of impairment testing of goodwill and intangible
assets are given in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Fair value of investment property

The fair value of investment property is determined
by using valuation technique. Details of the judgement
and assumptions have been disclosed in Note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of interest in an associate

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any indication for impairment
on the interest in an associate and further assesses
if they have suffered any impairment, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.3. The
assessment requires the use of estimates.

Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continuea)

(h)

M

Income taxes and deferred taxation
Significant judgments and estimates are required
in determining the provision for income tax. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current income tax and deferred tax
provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

Deferred taxation on investment property
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets arising from investment
property that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s investment property and concluded that
the Group's investment property in the PRC is not
held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining
the Group's deferred taxation on investment property
in the PRC, the Directors of the Company have
determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment property measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale
is not rebutted and deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e B R B AR

5 REVENUE
Revenue represents (i) net invoiced value of goods sold,
after allowances for returns and trade discount; (i) interest
income from money lending, factoring, finance leasing
and margin financing; (iii) consultancy fee and handling fee
income from money lending, factoring and finance leasing,
(iv) brokerage commission income from securities dealing;

Wz

Weas BN i & 3 RP R IR E
B S(EE - FRE-RMEHEEK
RETBMENSWA (INEERER
MELELHERTFEEWA (VVEE
BHELATRA S VEEREERE
WA RVIBEEEEA

(v) underwriting and placing commission income; and (vi)

asset management fee income.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as

FEBAFEWR@ZZ DM -

follows:
2023 2022
—EZ=HF _ECF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Sales of goods S mmtH & 169,218 125,904
Interest income from money lending, EE-RE -RIEHEER
factoring, finance leasing R EREF BUA
and margin financing 23,284 31,021
Consultancy fee and handling fee EERERMEREE
income from money lending, BHERFEEBWRAS
factoring and finance leasing* - 125
Brokerage commission income TR ON 2,063 3,695
Underwriting and placing commission S RECE RS I A
income 4,159 8,396
Asset management fee income EESEBIRA 200 245
198,924 169,386
Revenue from contracts with ERMBREENFEISRIET
customers within HKFRS 15: EREHWKE !
Recognised at a point of time PR —BF BT
Sales of goods 8 an il & 169,218 125,904
Consultancy fee and handling fee EE - RERMEEE
income from money lending, BHERFEEWRAS
factoring and finance leasing* - 125
Brokerage commission income Kao RSB 2,063 3,695
Underwriting and placing commission B8 RECE RS A
income 4,159 8,396
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 175,440 = 138120
Recognised over time R —BFRIER P tEER
Assetmanagement fee income  HEAEEEWA 200 %5
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 175640 138,365
Revenue from other sources: HRIFEWA : ]
Interest income from money lending, ZERFIEEtEZEE
factoring, finance leasing and RIE-MEHRE &
margin financing calculated using REBETRHEF) BWA
effective interest method 23,284 31,021
198,924 169,386
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5 REVENUE (continued)

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group’s unfulfilled

5 W= @
* EHEEFTERAERNRESHEWE

performance obligations to transfer goods or services to
customers for which consideration has been received at the
reporting date. The contract liability is recognised in revenue in
the period when performance obligations are fulfilled.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised no
revenue (2022: approximately HK$40,000) from consultancy fee
income that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, there is no amount received for
performing future obligations.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified
as the Board of the Company. The Board reviews the
Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has determined the
operating segments based on these reports.

The Group's operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of the
operations. Each of the Group’s reportable segments
represents a strategic business unit that is subject to
risks and returns that are different from other reportable
operating segment.
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SR e A AR B

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
The Group's reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

o Trading segment engaged in trading of goods in the
PRC;

o Money lending and factoring segment engaged in
provision of loan financing in Hong Kong, loan and
factoring financing in the PRC;

o Finance leasing segment engaged in provision of
finance leasing and sale-leaseback in the PRC; and

o Financial services segment engaged in provision
of securities dealing broking, placing, underwriting,
margin financing and asset management services in
Hong Kong.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies. Segment profit/
loss represents the profit/loss earned by each segment
without allocation of incomes or expenses which are not
recurring in nature and unrelated to the Group's operating
performance, including central administration costs,
Directors” emoluments, loss on changes in fair value of
investment property, gain on changes in fair value of other
financial assets, loss on changes in fair value of held-for-
trading investments, gain on disposal of held-for-trading
investments, gains on bargain purchase of interest in an
associate, share of results of an associate, finance costs,
impairment loss on deposits and other receivables (non-
trading nature), exchange gain/(loss), rental income,
sublease interest income and interest income from cash
and bank balances.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources between segments, all assets are
allocated to operating segments other than investment
property, held-for-trading investments, other financial
assets, net investment in sublease, interest in an associate,
amount due from an associate, cash and bank balances, tax
recoverable, deferred tax assets and other corporate assets.
All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
retained consideration payables, amount due to a Director,
tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and other corporate
liabilities.
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6 DEEN@®
The Board assesses the performance of the operating ExeRBEEEDEZERLEERN
segments based on their underlying operating profit/(loss), (F518) P ERIR LU BRMRAT 2R
which is measured by profit/(loss) before taxation. Fl, (B518) st=-o
(@) Segment revenue and results (@) PEWEKRES
Year ended 31 March 2023
BE_T-=F=HB=+—HLEE
Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading  factoring leasing services Total
EER
B85 RE MERE SRR Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment revenue and results ERERES TAET AT AT TET TET
Segment revenue DA 169,218 15,302 1,879 12,525 198,924
Segment results PaEE (6,336) 9,415 (6,739) (24,080) (27,740)
Impairment loss on E B ERERIE
intangible assets - - - (4,700) (4,700)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE - - - (3,995) (3,995)
(6,336) 9,415 (6,739) (32,775) (36,435)
Corporate expenses hERY (18,923)
Operating loss LEEE (55,358)
Corporate income rEKRA 7,729
Loss on changes in fair value of ~ KREVEAAELEEE
investment property (2,185)
Gainon changes in fair value of ~ Eth&BEEAAE
other financial assets 2EWE 11,806
Loss on changes in fair value of  FEEEREAAE
held-for-trading investments S (4,840)
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading HEFEFEERE W
investments 5,523
(Gains on bargain purchase of RIEBE AR ERRZ
interest in an associate Bl e 820
Share of results of an associate ML E AT EE (6,913)
Finance costs =1 (1,437)
Loss before taxation RIRAIEE (44,855)
Taxation HIE 3,062
Loss for the year AEEEE (41,793)
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6 SEENE
(@) Segment revenue and results (Continuead) (@) DEWEKRESE ®

Year ended 31 March 2022
BEZZ__F-RA=t-HIHFE

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing services Total
(1=
25 RE RMERE ERURE at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Segment revenue and results DENEREE FAT AT TET TET FTER
Segment revenue DB 125,904 16,354 7,634 19,494 169,386
Segment results DEEE (7,526) (5.399) (1,298) (18,068) (32,291)
Impairment loss on goodwill BERERE - - - (71,700) (71,700)
(7,526) (5,399) (1,298) (89,768) (103,991)
Corporate expenses ERT (19,126)
Operating loss R (123,117)
Corporate income BERA 16,155
Loss on changes in fair value of ~ REMEAAELHEE
investment property (2,904)
Gainon changes in fair value of ~ Ef1&REEAAE
other financial assets =il g 74,089
Loss on changes in fair value of ~ FEEEREARE
held-for-trading investments L8 (1,247)
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading HEFEEEREWE
investments 5,662
Gains on bargain purchase of RUERE N ERR
interest in an associate EBEWERE 12,636
Share of results of an associate  MhEEE A B EE (5,647)
Finance costs MEMAK (2,020)
Loss before taxation BriRAIES B (26,387)
Taxation "E (768)
Loss for the year TEERH (27,155)
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6 DEEN#E
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (by PEHEERAR

As at 31 March 2023
RZEZ=H=R=+—H

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading  factoring leasing services Total
B EERRE RMEHEE SRR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment assets NEEE TAET FTAET AT TET TET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIE - REREM 808 896 31,993 2,921 36,618
Right-of-use assets FRESE - - - 11,326 11,326
Intangible assets B EE - - - 16,800 16,800
Goodwill HE = - 1,000 - 1,000
Other non-current assets HitdEREEE - - - 230 230
Finance lease receivables R ETRERIE - - 464 - 464
Loan and interest receivables EWERRFIE - 123,120 - - 123,120
808 124,016 33,457 31,277 189,558
Current assets REEE 255,512 75,419 36,096 64,043 431,070
256,320 199,435 69,553 95,320 620,628
Unallocated: KA.
Net investment in sublease DELEFHE 3,717
Interest in an associate i UN=IL 14,146
Cash and bank balances BeRRTEE 138,497
Others Hitt 139,114
Total assets per statement of MR RREERLE
financial position 916,102
Segment liabilities DEEE 15,248 484 7,294 33,640 56,666
Unallocated: XAE:
Amount due to a Director N —RESMIE 1,536
Others Hitt 24,805
Total liabilities per statementof ~— EiHREREEEE
financial position 83,007
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(b) NEEERER @

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022
AE-"E=-A=+—H

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing services Total
B [BERRFE MERE SRR iast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment assets NERE THL THT THT THT THT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M REREM 1,385 1,471 35,722 5,779 44,357
Intangible assets BVEE - - - 21,500 21,500
Goodwill B - - 1,000 3,995 4,995
Other non-current assets HitEre g & - - - 230 230
Finance lease receivables ENRERENA - - 7827 - 7827
Loan and interest receivables EREH RIS - 18,450 - - 18,450
1,385 19,921 44,549 31,504 97,359
Current assets REEE 245,627 129,182 62,367 95,830 533,006
247,012 149,103 106,916 127,334 630,365
Unallocated: XPE:
Net investment in sublease DAKEFE 5931
Interest in an associate = UN=ik i 19,964
Cash and bank balances RERRTER 217,023
Others Hith 145,374
Total assets per statement of B RREERE
financial position 1,018,657
Segment liabilities NEEE 3947 437 9,168 35,841 49,393
Unallocated: KA
Amount due to a Director e —REZTE 1,214
Others Hth 43714
Total liabilities per statementof B NREEEE
financial position 94321

194  annual Report 2023



BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6 DEEN#E
(c) Other segment information (c) HhomsEs

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-S--F-A-+-HLEE

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing services  Unallocated Total
g% fEERRFRE MEHRE SRR RRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Other segment information HitHEER TET THERT TR FTHET TER TER
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% RERBVINE

equipment (486) (466) (1,277) (2,888) (169) (5,286)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ EREEERE = = = (5,663) (2,700) (8,363)
Capital expenditure BARY = = (118) (17,019) (1) (17,138)
Impairment loss on finance lease FENRERETERNE

receivables BB = = (3,931) - - (3,931)
Impairment loss on trade receivables EMURFUAERE (5,747) - - - - (5,747)
Impairment oss on account RESEPEWED

receivables from margin clients RERE - = = (7,345) = (7,345)
Reversal of impairment oss on FEMRIZT A ([l

factoring receivables = 831 - - - 831
Impairment loss on loan and EREF R SRME

interest receivables BB = (3,569) - - - (3,569)
Impairment loss on deposits and BEREMEYTIE

other receivables HERR - - = = (1,194) (1,194)
Loss on changes in fair value of RENENREEE

investment property BB = = = = (2,185) (2,185)
Impairment loss on intangible assets  EF EERERSE - - - (4,700) - (4,700)
Impairment 0ss on goodwill BERESS - - - (3,995) - (3,995)
Gain on changes in fair value of HEtheREEANE

other financial assets il G - - - - 11,806 11,806
Loss on changes in fair value of RIEBERELNE

held-for-trading investments 2HHE = - = = (4,840) (4,840)
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading ~ HEREEERE

investments Wiz - - - - 5,523 5,523
Gains on bargain purchase of RUEERE AR RRE

interest in an associate ZEBYEN R - - - - 820 820
Share of results of an associate NMEBEREES = = = = (6,913) (6,913)
Bank interest income SRITRIBMA - - - - 1,499 1,499
Finance costs MERA - - - (719) (1,437) (2,156)
Taxation =] - - - - 3,062 3,062
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

(c) oOther segment information (Continued)

6 HNEEH®E
() HtAEER @

Year ended 31 March 2022
HEZZZZE-BA=t+-—HItEE

Money
lending and Finance Financial
Trading factoring leasing services  Unallocated Total
85 fAERRE HERE SRR KR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Other segment information Hit 3 EER TER TET TET TER TER TET
Depreciation of property, plantand %1% REREVNE
equipment (387) (493) (1,435) (3432 (228) (5,975)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ ERBEERE - - - (8,391) (3,246) (11,637)
Capital expenditure BARY (632) (13) (10) (277) (9,012) (9,944)
Impairment loss on finance lease EWHERETERE
receivables B ~ - (2,765) - = (2,765)
Impairment loss on trade receivables  EUERF R ASIS (5,700) - - - - (5,700)
Impairment loss on account RESELRYIER
receivables from margin clients HESE - - - (5,575) - (5,575)
Impairment oss on factoring B RERERE
receivables B - 993) - - - (993)
Impairment oss on loan and EWES KA ERE
interest receivables B8 - (16,403) - - - (16,403)
Impairment loss on deposits and BERAMEYTIE
other receivables AESE - - - - (1,152) (1,152)
Loss on changes in fair value of BREMELAREEE)
investment property B8 - - - - (2,904) (2,904)
Impairment loss on goodwill BHERERR - - - (71,700) - (71,700)
Gain on changes in fair value of EtheRmEEARE
other financial assets -ElllG - - - - 74,089 74,089
Loss on changes in fair value of RIEBERELRE
held-for-trading investments R - - - - (1,241) (1,241)
Gain on disposal of held-fortrading ~ HEREEERB NS
investments - - - - 5,662 5,662
Gains on bargain purchase of RS AR R
interest in an associate SEWERR - - - - 12,636 12,636
Share of results of an associate NMEBERTER - - - - (5,647) (5,647)
Bank interest income SRTFEIRA - - - - 2,605 2,605
Finance costs RMEMA - - - - (2,020) (2,020
Taxation A - - - - (768) (768)
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(d) HEEN
BE_ B _ =K E-_F=
B=+—HIFE AEBEE
IR EBRHE-

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6
(d) Geographical information
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and
the PRC for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

EMAEERERINER Z WG
Ty B R M E Mo ARF = it
BLE5]

Information about the Group's revenue and external
customers is presented based on the location at
which the goods or services are delivered or provided.

The Group’s total revenue from sales of goods and KREEERMEE D ER&XIRE

services by geographical location is detailed below: THEARW R EFMA T ©
2023 2022
—E=HF TETTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
PRC EP 181,413 143,847
Hong Kong 58 17,511 25,539
198,924 169,386

The Group's non-current assets excluding goodwill,
deferred tax assets and other financial assets by
geographical location of the assets are detailed
below:

AEBZEEMEMEID ZIER
HEE (TEEBE RIERESA
ERHEMEMEE sFHIUT ¢

2023 2022

—E-= B F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

PRC H 197,018 109,621
Hong Kong E5& 53,175 60,364
250,193 169,985
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(e) Revenue are derived from the following

major customers:

The following customers attributed to 10% or more of
the Group's total revenue during the respective years.

SEEM @

(e) WmBRETIHEERR:

UTERREBEFERNEMAELE

B 4R 2 B3 10% ©

2023 2022

== ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Customer A HEH 36,149 22,797
Customer B Z2RZ 28,671 31,307
Customer C ZRR 27,838 24,686
Customer D Z2ET 27,077 30,806

All the major customers are customers of trading FMAEFERRBREBER-

business.
7 OTHER INCOME Hithgr A

2023 2022
—E-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Bank interest income RITH B WA 1,499 2,605
Sublease interest income DABEF EWA 223 94
Other interest income HAF WA - 61
Rental income H2HA 1,285 1,332
Government grants (Note) BT BN (M%) 710 -
Others Hith 5,852 13,374
9,569 17,466

Note: Government grants were subsidies from the Employment
Support Scheme of the Government of HKSAR and other
unconditional government subsidies received by the Group from

relevant government bodies.
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LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

The Group's loss before taxation has been arrived at after

8 [RMAIRSIE

FEBBRRNATGERDENR, GIA) T

charging/(crediting): CUE==Ec -
2023 2022
—E-= BT _F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET TFHET
Cost of inventories sold FEEHEMRAK 165,803 123,488
Salaries and wages included in HFerIE @S
administrative expenses: RITHERR) :
Directors’ emoluments EEME (BEREMHN
(including contribution to defined RRKEFETEIZ HF0)
contribution plans) 6,083 6,083
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER
(excluding Directors’ emoluments) (FEEESN®) 15,161 18,371
Contribution to defined contribution REMFTRRERFTE Z HR
plans (excluding Directors) (FBEES) 942 1,064
22,186 25,518
Auditor's remuneration ZEEMBN &=
— Audit services —BIZARTE 1,175 1,156
- Other services —HMARTE 80 -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- B RBMITE
equipment 5,286 5,975
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE 8,363 11,637
Rental expenses in respect of FHATEEE ST
short-term lease 298 362
Loss on disposal of property, HEYZE  RE RISV EE
plant and equipment 6 -
Impairment loss on finance lease FEW BB ERVIERER 18
receivables 3,931 2,765
Impairment loss on trade receivables — FEUWRER R E RSB 5,747 5,700
Impairment loss on account receivables 1R:8 %% A FEWERFUR E KB
from margin clients 7,345 5,575
(Reversal of impairment 10ss)/ FEWRIBIIERE (B13) k518
Impairment 10ss on
factoring receivables (831) 993
Impairment loss on loan and interest  FEWE = KA BRI ERE
receivables 3,569 16,403
Impairment loss on deposits and ¥e& R EMERFURERE
other receivables 1,194 1,152
Loss on changes in fair value of KEMERDEEFEIE
investment property 2,185 2,904
Impairment loss on intangible assets  EFEEREEE 4,700 -
Impairment loss on goodwill AR EEE 3,995 71,700
Gain on changes in fair value of other Eth&REEQ AEESING
financial asset (11,806) (74,089)
Loss on changes in fair value of FIEEBEREBEANBEETEER
held-for-trading investments 4,840 1,241
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading HEFEFEBRENRSA
investments (5,523) (5,662)
Gains on bargain purchase of NG i U/NETR i S =
interest in an associate Y U (820) (12,636)
Share of results of an associate DMEBEABES 6,913 5,647
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9 FINANCE COSTS 9 MEmMAE
2023 2022
—E-= =B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest on bond payable B ESF B - 53
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEME 1,249 524
Interest on retained FEREBREN S
consideration payables 907 1,443
2,156 2,020
10 TAXATION 10 #HR1\E
2023 2022
—E-= —ECICHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Current income tax BPEAFR1SHR
- Hong Kong profits tax —EHBFER = 211)
— PRC corporation income tax — AR 2EPTEHR 2,222 6,612
2,222 6,401
Deferred tax IEIEFRIB (5,284) (5,633)
Taxation (credit)/expense RE (KR &R (3,062) 768
Hong Kong profits tax EFARMNER

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime effective from
March 2018, Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at
the rate of 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 of the estimated
assessable profits of the qualifying entity of the Group
and 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above
HK$2,000,000. The profits of other group entities in Hong
Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime are continued to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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10 TAXATION (continued) 10
PRC corporate income tax
The PRC corporate income tax in respect of operations
in the PRC is calculated at the applicable tax rates on the
estimated assessable profits for the year based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The amount of taxation (credit)/expense for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before tax as follows:

BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BIA (&

PEEEFREH

BERPEEBZ PEEEMERERE
RITEP 2RERERENLEFER
SHESRMENZBERRMEAE -

AEERIE (E%R) BRAKRRATEGE
ZHERIE ¢

2023 2022
—E-= TETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss before taxation PRIRATES 18 (44,855) (26,387)
Tax at the applicable tax rates BERREAE ZRIE (7,463) (4,709
Tax effect of: RIBFZ
Income not subject to tax WMIBFRZIIA (2,404) (16,488)
Expenses not deductible ENCIE Y =z
for tax purposes 2,217 15,074
Qverprovision in prior year BEFEBREE = (219)
Share of results of an associate DMEHE AT R 1,141 932
Temporary difference not recognised  REEDRIE R M ZE 460 2,856
Tax losses for which no deferred AR SR IRIE PSR 2
tax asset was recognised MI5E18 3,893 3,332
Tax concession MBER (71) (10)
Utilisation of tax loss KIERIBE 1B (835) -
Taxation (credit)/expense I8 (&%) &R (3,062) 768

TEC=FFR
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11 DIVIDEND 1 RE
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any EEfEEMEBE_ZS_=—5=A°
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). —t—HIEFERTEARE (ZF
TTE I\
12 LOSS PER SHARE 12 SKEIE
2023 2022
—E=HF B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Loss attributable to shareholders R FEL AR (41,749) (26,842)
Weighted average number of ordinary st ESBREKEIE
shares, for the purposes of L@ N8 (FR)
calculating basic loss per share
(shares in thousands) 4,120,600 4,120,600
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEEB HK(1.01) cents 34l HK(0.65) cents 7Ll
As there is no dilutive potential ordinary share outstanding RIEZ=FR_E_"F=H=+—
as at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the diluted loss per share is H #iEEaEEEsrE 58K
equal to the basic loss per share. WERE SRR RS REAREEAR -
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13 EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a)

13 EEREEHALHNE

Directors’ and senior management’s (@) EFRSHREEASTHM
emoluments
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_S_=ZHF=HA=+—HL
FE
Employer's
contribution
Salaries and  Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees other benefits bonus scheme Total
) | BHRR BikEEZ
ik HAtnig# b3 EBEMTR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAr TERT THET FET THET
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. Zheng Juhua gHlEeL - 2,321 - 18 2,339
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BREERLE - 3,276 - 18 3,294
Independent non- BUFRTES
executive Directors
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERRE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter KALCKE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FEHEE 150 - - - 150
450 5,597 - 36 6,083
Year ended 31 March 2022 E-ER_"_F=HB=+—HL
FE
Employer's
contribution
Salaries and Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees  other benefits bonus scheme Total
BS54 e BRI RIREHEZ
itk Hithiz# 12E) BEHER Kt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TER TERT TET
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. Zheng Juhua BHEat - 2,321 - 18 2,339
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BREEEE - 3,276 - 18 3,294
Independent non- BiAFHTES
executive Directors
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERLE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter SBICEE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth SEEE 150 - - - 150
450 5,597 - 36 6,083
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13 EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 13 EFEREEHALHME @

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s (a)
emoluments (Continued)
No Director waived or agreed to waive any
emolument during the year (2022: Nil). Fees paid to
independent non-executive Directors during the year
amounted to HK$450,000 (2022: HK$450,000).

No emolument has been paid to the Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year ended
31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

Emolument bands

EEREREEANAEHMN @

AEERN - EEZHMEREGRE
HEEAME CE2EZ_F &) o
AEEANSZNBIUERITESZ
¥#A450,000ET ("4 .
450,000 7T) ©

RBEE_ZE”_=F=B=+—H
IEFEAN TEAERNEEZN
ERIENE > fE73 1% S AN 2R RN N
BAERZRSHRHRHE CS
“TF ) e

Number of individuals

S e A¥L
2023 2022
—E-= BT TF
Nil — HK$1,000,000 E 35712 1,000,00058 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,007 75 22,000,00078 75 - -

HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,000,00178 75 23,000,00078 7T 1

HK$3,000,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 75 24,000,000 75 1 1
5 5
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13 EMOLUMENTS FOR DIRECTORS AND 13 EFREEHFALIME @

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The Directors’ emoluments presented above include
the emoluments of two (2022: two) highest paid
individuals in the Group. The emoluments of the
remaining three (2022: three) highest paid individual
during the year ended 31 March 2023 were:

(b)

TamEfHmAL

EXFREFEEHFMEENSR (T
TTTF I mR) AEERSFA
TZME-RBEZ_=F=8
=+t—HEEFERGT=ZR (CZ
TTHE I ZR) mem ALTZHE

2023 2022
—E-= B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries, bonus, other allowances — ¥r ~ TE4L ~ 2B R
and benefits in kind Etkils 2,701 2,433

Employer’s contributions to RIRFHEIZ BEHRR

retirement scheme 82 105
2,783 2,538

Emolument bands

Number of individuals

B <& 77 F A&
2023 2022
== ==
Nil - HK$1,000,000 Z 70 21,000,0008 7T 3 3

TEC=FFR
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in .
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YME-RERBMREREEE
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
(@) Property, plant and equipment (@) ME--BERBM
Furniture
Leasehold and Motor
Property improvement fixtures vehicles Total
mE HEskE HAREE "E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2021 RIEZ—FNE—H
Cost A 38,739 14,592 9,842 10,225 73,398
Accumulated depreciation REtifE (4,297) (8,234) (6,351) (6,236) (25118)
Net book amount REFE 34,442 6,358 3,491 3,989 48,280
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-T-CE
ZA=+—-ALEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 34,442 6,358 3,491 3989 48,280
Currency translation differences ERREE 1,446 1 31 83 1,561
Additions HE - - 944 - 944
Depreciation (Note 8) E (FE28) (839) (2,485) (1,246) (1,405) (5,975)
Closing net book amount ERE@FE 35,049 3,874 3220 2,667 44,810
At 31 March 2022 RZB2-_#=A=+-H
Cost (D% 40,381 14,775 10,854 10,375 76,385
Accumulated depreciation REHTE (5332) (10901) (7,634) (7,708) (31,575)
Net book amount REFE 35,049 3874 3,220 2,667 44,810
Year ended 31 March 2023 HECZC-=F
ZA=+—-HALEE
Opening net book amount FEREFE 35,049 3,874 3,220 2,667 44,810
Currency translation differences ERREE (2,557) - 91 (114) (2,762)
Additions HE - - 148 - 148
Disposal R - - (6) - ©
Depreciation (Note 8) IE (Iff528) (797) (1,942) (1,303) (1,244) (5,286)
Closing net book amount EXRRAFE 31,695 1,932 1,968 1,309 36,904
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=F=F=1+—H
Cost A 37,427 14,446 10,826 10,104 72,803
Accumulated depreciation HETE (5732 (12,514) (8,858) (8,795) (35,899)
Net book amount RESE 31,695 1,932 1,968 1,309 36,904
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(b) Leases
This note provides information for lease where the
Group is a lessee or lessor.

The Group leases office premises for its operations
with lease terms between 36 months to 40 months
and subleases certain of the office premises area to

BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 ME - -RERBMREREEE
(#)
(b) E
AR IR A R A B 1F 25 A
A HBEAZHEER

FEEHBREERRNMAEA
EHR36EAZE40BR  TFAE DM
BOMAEART AT ZHE

the Company’s associate. NS
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) EREEE ‘
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of- FEEFRERESERE
use assets and the movements during the year BHEREEWNT :
are as follows:
Office
premises
I Y/NES
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 April 2021 A _E " —FMB—H 10,737
Addition 1N 9,000
Depreciation (Note 8) e (FI5E8) (11,637)
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RIEBE__#=RB=+—HE
2T HYA—H 8,100
Addition 10 16,990
Depreciation (Note 8) ITEs (FI5E8) (8,363)
As at 31 March 2023 W_ZE_=F=A=+—H 16,727

TEC=FFR
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE - -RERSBIMRERAEEE
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea) #)
(b) Leases (Continued) (b) HE #@®
(i) Net investment in sublease (i) PHEKREFE
2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net investment KEFEE 3,717 5,931
Allowance for ECL TRHRE B RS - -
3,717 5,931
The Group entered into a sublease arrangement AEBERFE LB AR
with the Company’s associate as the RNE (EBEAAFIEWNTE
intermediate lessor for office premises, which 4018 B HR) AN B B
has an initial non-cancellable lease term of 40 NEVBF]— DB Z &
months. This lease does not include purchase or MERRWEI P IR
termination options.
Information about the Group’s exposure BRAEBREFEHARRKO:
to credit risks and loss allowance for net kDB R IREE
investment in sublease is included in Note 3.1(b) HNERENR A EES M BRE
to the consolidated financial statements. F5E3.1(b)
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea)
(b) Leases (Continueqd)

(ii)

Net investment in sublease (Continuead)
Below is a maturity analysis of lease
payments receivable and the reconciliation

14 YE -mERBSMRERERE
)
(b) HAE =
(i) DMRBEPE (&
LU 7 FE W AR B AR 60 2 BA )
R R E R ER AR E

of undiscounted lease payments to the net FREZ HER o
investment.
2023 2022
—=E-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Past due [Sp0p:E] - 487
Year 1 F—1F 1,950 1,950
Year 2 F_F 1,950 1,950
Year 3 B=F - 1,950
Undiscounted lease FITHEEWHEE™R
payments to be received 3,900 6,337
Less: Unearned finance income 78 : REIRESRIUA (183) (406)
Net investment (net of ECL) 1%¥73%E (JORRTEHAEE
EiEEE) 3,717 5,931
Less: Current portion B RENEL D (1,815) (2,214)
Non-current portion JEmENERA 1,902 3,717
The interest income on net investment KERKEFBEEERH

recognised during the year amounting to
approximately HK$223,000 (2022: HK$94,000)
(Note 7).

Lease payments were settled by debiting the
current account with the associate. There was
no cash inflow for the sublease during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

B A#9223,000 7T (2
T 94,000 T) (MiE
7)o

THERBERE BT ALK
NEMERKRREE -HE
—E_=fF=-FB=+—HL
FER KRB ELERS
A0

TEC=FFR
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE - -RERSBIMRERAEEE
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) &)
(b) Leases (Continued) (b) & #@
(iii) Leases liabilities (i) HE&®E

210  annual Report 2023

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

FREEEREZREERE

E2 LI

2023 2022
—E-=F =
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5k FET FHETT
Balance at the beginning F #4583
of the year 13,209 11,058
Addition o 16,990 14,594
Accretion of interest FARBEHE
recognised during BB
the year 9 1,249 524
Payments BN (10,566) (12,967)
Balance at the end of FRIERFR
the year 20,882 13,209
Analysed into: DT
Current portion mEIER 10,564 4,308
Non-current portion JERENE D 10,318 8,901
20,882 13,209

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in Note 3.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

HEEENEBRINNEGS
B RS R AR 5E3.1(a) P4 BB
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SR e B R B AR

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(b) Leases (Continued)
(iv) The amounts recognised in profit or loss

14 ME - -RERBMREREEE
&)
(b) E @
(iv) HEZPEDSHNEEEERR

in relation to leases are as follows: BIEEEWTF ¢
2023 2022
—E-= BT F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE TFHET FET
Sublease interest income DI EF] BULA 7 (223) (94)
Interest on lease liabilities HE&EF B 9 1,249 524
Depreciation for right-of- fEREEERE
use assets 8 8,363 11,637
Expense relating to BGHARE
short-term leases BRNEX 8 298 362
Total amount recognised R 8% PRSI FUIE
in profit or loss 48%B 9,687 12,429

(v) The total cash outflow for lease liabilities is
disclosed in Note 34(b) to the consolidated
financial statements. The lease payments not
included in measurement of lease liabilities was
approximately HK$298,000 (2022: HK$362,000).

vy HEBBRERSAHEER
A PSRRI EE34(b) iR
E kAR ESRT2
RIFE & 49 4298,0007%8
T (T Z4F : 362,000
7o) °©

TEC=FFR
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SR e B R B AR

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15 REYE
2023 2022
—EZ= TEI
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHETT
Balance at the beginning of the year ~ F #4586+ 45,387 46,374
Change in fair value NAEES (2,185) (2,904)
Currency translation differences bE % (3,302) 1,917
Balance at the end of the year FRAERR 39,900 45,387
Loss on property revaluation MESELEE (2,185) (2,904)
Particulars of the investment property KREMEEN
Location Use Tenure
but- R& THEHA
Room 1707-1713, 17th Floor, Block B, Commercial building Medium-term leases
Xintian Century Business Center, for rental

Shixia North Street,

Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong, PRC
PEERESFImEReGEILE HHEEEXE
ot 4D B IS R0 BER17181707-1713%F

(a) Valuation processes of the Group
The Group measures its investment property at
fair value. The fair value of the Group's investment
property has been determined on the basis of
valuation carried out by an independent and
professionally qualified valuer.

The management of the Group has discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at annual
reporting date.

Annual Report 2023

(a)

FRERTHAY

rEEZEERR
FEBBRANEFEHKRENZE-
FEBKEMNENAARBHRE
BUEEGERGEMET 2
BMETE -

REERSERETHER  £&
EEEEERAEMTHRLER
R fEERER -



BB ERBRAE]
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SR e A AR B

15 BREYE ®)
(b) HERFZE

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)
(b) Valuation techniques

The investment property was revalued on the
investment method.

The investment method

Under the investment method, fair value is
estimated on the basis of capitalisation of existing
rent receivable from the existing tenancies and the
potential reversionary market rent of the properties.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of
the investment property, which included the location,
size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion and
other factors collectively, to arrive at the estimated
rental value and reversionary yield, while it takes into
account the rental value generated from the existing
lease term to arrive at the term vyield.

The key input was the estimated rental value, term
yield and reversionary vyield, which a significant
increase/(decrease) in these inputs would result in a
significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the
investment property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the property is their current use.

BREMEDRKRERETER.

REE

BEREL AREDRBZFYE
BIRAEEZRWIRAEERE
HERMSEETFUERLCZE
M5t e

ETHERGERZEREYE
ZRE BEUE BRI R
B BE -ZERENMREMEE
DSt BERER W
K RARFEEERAFHEMEEZA
TBE UFHERREK-

ITEHAEEAMGHEASEE F
M mERERRGEE  kZFH
ABBEARELF (PR B> &8
BRREMEQARERBLA (F
EX) ©

FEESHRYMEZ ANER ZY=E
ERZBERRERRERRT

TEC=FFR
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (cContinueq) 15 BREVME®

(c) Information about fair value (c) FRERAERFTITHRHAR
measurements using significant BzaAnEsE (B=H) Z2E
unobservable inputs (Level 3) il

Range of
Fair Value at Valuation  Unobservable unobservable
31 March 2023 techniques inputs inputs
RZE_=F
=B=+—H gz Ik
ZARE fHEHE WA SR WA ZEHE
Investment property
in the PRC
R ZIREME
- Commercial office RMB35,000,000 Investment  Term yield, 3.25%
(equivalent to method Reversionary yield; 4.00%
approximately Estimated net market RMB143
HK$39,900,000 unit rent per saleable area
(month (RMB/sg.m.))
—BERAE A 35,000,000 BEZE FH Hﬁz%ﬁ% 3.25%
GEE N (il 4.00%
39,900,00078 7T) 58 uTﬁf]%EF AR1437T
Zfﬁ Stz R E
B AR/ SFAXK)
Range of
Fair Value at Valuation Unobservable unobservable
3;3',\ March 2022 techniques inputs inputs
- ——
=A=+—H ReJHREZ OGIE kS
ZRRE fh{E A * WAMIE BWAREZEHE
Investment property
in the PRC
RPBEZREYE
- Commercial office RMB36,900,000 Investment  Term yield; 3.00%
(equivalent to method Reversionary yield; 4.00%
approximately Estimated net market RMB151
HK$45,387,000 unit rent per saleable area
(month (RMB/sg.m.))
—BERAE AR 36,900,000 BEZ® FH R 3.00%
(HERHN BRREE 4.00%
45,387,00078 7T) BEAAHERR ARI1517T
ZTE StHiZFME

B \RBT/8¥HXK)

A=1+— EILtEEUxﬁ% =l
FRRFE=EEHENER-

There was no transfer among levels 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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SR e B R B AR

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 15 REWE @
(d) The following amount has been recognised in the (d THEBEBERGEEZREMS
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other EUEm R PR
comprehensive income:
2023 2022
== BT F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Rental income WA 1,285 1,332
Direct operating expenses from EXHEWRAZYEZ
property that generated rental EREEMAK
income (409) (201)
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, no investment property was N_E_=FR_ZTF__F=A=+—
pledged as collateral. B R EEEIRR-
16 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 16 Bi=EQEEm
Interest in an associate represents the Group's 29.48% BMEARRESAERRCEERER
(2022: 27.57%) equity investment in Royal Century BR2E (MZRER) 229.48% (=F
Resources Holdings Limited (“Royal Century”). Royal T 12757%) RIPRE (CEERE
Century was accounted for as held-for-trading investments T -FNA—HRIBFIFEER
prior to 1 April 2021. Bo

TEC=FFR
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SR e B R B AR

16 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueq)

16 EtEATIER @

2023 2022
—E-= B CHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
As at 1 April REEAE—H 19,964 -
Fair value of held-for-trading investments 22— B & R BB S AT AR
in Royal Century immediately before  Z A EEERE A DE
its accounted for as an associate - 9,976
Acquisition of additional equity UK BB B = A B RBIMIR A M 2
interest in an associate 238 2,999
Profit or loss for the year: FERIETE
- Gains on bargain purchase at dates of —UiEER= A5 HE >
acquisition of interest in an associate &R EBURBUR S 820 12,636
— Share of post-acquisition results and —2 15Uk BB EE K
other comprehensive loss Hth2mAE (6,876) (5,647)
As at 31 March R=B=+—H 14,146 19,964
Fair value of listed investments BERNT LHREZRAAE
in an associate (Note) (M35%) 2,496 7,434
Note: The fair values of the listed shares are determined based on Wk : ERHBZAFENRRIEZI=ZF=.

quoted market bid prices available on the Stock Exchange as at
31 March 2023.

Details of the Group's associate at the end of the reporting
period are as follows: T

Proportion of nominal value of

Place of incorporation issued share capital held

Name of associate and operation by the Group
-YNGIEY BRI Re A% i 2 FEAFAENBRITRATELA

2023 2022
Royal Century Hong Kong 29.48% 27.57%
CEER &

Annual Report 2023

Principal activities

TEEH

=+ —HREXREZHERERE
HEE-

FEBPRSARNBE QT FHEU

(i) Provision of design, fitting out

and engineering and procurement

of furnishings and related products
services, (ii) Leasing of construction
equipment and provision of related
installation services, (iii) Sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines
and (iv) Provision of financial services.
(MRS HER TR URFER
ERABRERRR (HERERE
R RMAER LR (i)FBEH K

(VRS RIRTS
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SR e B R B AR

16 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's associate which represents amounts shown in
the consolidated financial statements of Royal Century
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs is as follows:

16 BEQTHEER @

BMERRRAEEZFREMBHREU
AR

ERAERZBME QMMM B E R
SN - UT A B ER SN RES
BUBREERRN . CRERGEHM
B

2023 2022
—EC=F BT TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets RENEE 58,977 33,918
Non-current assets ERBEE 25,423 68,296
Current liabilities mENEE (27,823) (19,894)
Non-current liabilities EREIERE (8,595) (9,910)
Net assets attributable to owners of CEERREDLEE TR
Royal Century 47,982 72,410
Revenue & 55,761 57,660
Loss for the year KEERE (24,564) (21,068)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) REEFEHMEE
for the year Wz (8518) 136 ©6)
Total comprehensive loss for the year KREEBREEER (24,428) (21,074)
The Group's share of loss of an associate ~ AEBAEHE AT EE (6,913) (5,647)
Gains on bargain purchase of interest in an  WeBBEH = AT #EH 2
associate ZEWEWER 820 12,636
Results attributable to interest in an BENBERDLES
associate (6,093) 6,989
Share of other comprehensive DMEEE AR ZHAh
income of an associate 2HEW = 37 -
(6,056) 6,989
Net assets attributable to owners of CEEREREDGEE SR
Royal Century 47,982 72,410
Proportion of the Group's equity KREBRCEERRA#ER
interest in Royal Century =l 29.48% 27.57%
14,146 19,964

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the amount due from FE U

BMER _E_=ZFR"F

an associate is unsecured, interest free and repayable
on demand. The carrying amount of the balance is

denominated in HK$.

“TFZR=1+—HREER BEX
RERFEE -2FEHRIRABNLE
TTHE

TEC=FFR
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 17 BEFREERBSE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

INTANGIBLE ASSETS EBREE
Trading right R 1 500 500
Licences RRBR 16,300 21,000
16,800 21,500

Trading right represents the right that allows the Group to

RBEBAFEAEBRN M AEERS

trade securities in the Stock Exchange. ZHER] o
HK$'000
FET
INTANGIBLE ASSET - LICENSES mpEE—h2R
COST Rz
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and N_E-—FA—RH B _"F
31 March 2023 —A=+—HAKRIZIZEZ=F
—BA=+—H 21,000
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT REEE
At 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 RWZEZ—FMB—HK
TETTHE=B=+—H -
Provided for the year FREE 4,700
At 31 March 2023 A TE T =ZF=RF=1+—H 4,700
CARRYING AMOUNT IR EE
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_#=F=+—H 21,000
At 31 March 2023 A E_=ZF=HA=1+—H 16,300

RREERERES RAERAEEZ
B2 ARRBEEEN Z HRIR o

Licences comprise the licences for Type 1, 2, 4 and 9
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance.
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17

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

17 BEREERBE ®)

(Continued)
HK$'000
FET
GOODWILL [k
COST 5%
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and R_E - —FOR—RH B "4F
31 March 2023 —B=+—HRZZE_=
=B=+—H 76,695
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT 2itEE
At 1 April 2021 RN_EBE-—EMB—H -
Provided for the year FEE 71,700
At 31 March 2022 R_E__F#=H=+—H 71,700
Provided for the year FEE 3,995
At 31 March 2023 R_ZE_=ZF=HA=+—H 75,695
CARRYING AMOUNT EREE&EE
At 31 March 2022 R_E__F#=HA=+—H 4,995
At 31 March 2023 R_E_=F=HA=+—H 1,000

Goodwill arose from acquisition of (i) 100% equity interest
in Comercializadora Ven 2010 C.A Limited and its subsidiary
on 9 July 2014, and (ii) 100% equity interest in ChaoShang
Financial Holding Limited and its subsidiaries on 31
December 2019.

BMEROR _ZE—MFLANBWEC
HEBBERARREKE QST Z100%
BAER ; R Z_ZE—NE+ZA
=t+—HKBEARERIERERATR
HL I &8 /2 B 2 100%% 21 7 P 22 4 ©

TEC=FFR
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 17 BREEREE @)

(Continued)

Impairment testing of intangible assets and HitnmpEEREERENR

goodwill

Intangible assets and goodwill have been allocated for BELBERBECSHAENHENTD

impairment testing purposes to the following cash- BEEUTHREELBEMN ((ReELES

generating units ("CGUS"): fiL1) :

- the operating activities of Comercializadora Ven 2010 — [CIHhEaBzREEE ItEmE
which is engaged in finance leasing business (the MExK ((CHEERSELSE
“Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU"); and i) ; &

-  the operating activities of ChaoShang Financial which —  HEemo&EEE B ERME
is engaged in provision of financial services business ERBRFEERE ((PasmReE
(the "ChaoShang Financial CGU"). HEEAfL) ©

The carrying amounts of intangible assets and goodwill DEERESELEBA BREEERBE

allocated to the CGUSs as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are as N_E_=F KRB F=A=1+—

follows: BZEREENT :
Intangible
R-IE_=F assets Goodwill Total
As at 31 March 2023 =A=+—H mEBEE 5k st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET

Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU  {“IxEABRSEEE N

Cost BRI 1,000 1,000

Less: Impairment loss recognised B BB RERE = =

- 1,000 1,000

ChaoShang Financial CGU MRS ELEEN

Cost BEN 21,500 75,695 97,195

Less: Impairment loss recognised B BB RERE (4,700) (75,695) (80,395)

16,800 = 16,800
16,800 1,000 17,800
Intangible
RIEZZ assets Goodwill Total
As at 31 March 2022 =B=+—H mILEE mE 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET

Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU {CIxEBIREELE

Cost PR AN - 1,000 1,000

Less: Impairment loss recognised B B2 R ERE - - -

- 1,000 1,000

ChaoShang Financial CGU HEERIREEEEMN

Cost (D% 21,500 75,695 97,195

Less: Impairment loss recognised B Bl 2R ERE - (71,700) (71,700)

21,500 3,995 25,495
21,500 4,995 26,495
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17

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
(Continueq)

Impairment testing of intangible assets and
goodwill (Continued)

Intangible assets and goodwill with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment at least annually or when there is
impairment indicator. Details of impairment testing are set
out below.

ChaoShang Financial CGU

An independent professional valuer was engaged by the
Company to perform an impairment test for intangible
assets and goodwill allocated to the ChaoShang Financial
CGU by comparing their recoverable amounts to their
carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period. The
recoverable amounts of the ChaoShang Financial CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period approved by the senior management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
11.8% (2022: 10.2%), and the cash flows beyond the five-
year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.5%
(2022: 2.5%). Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted revenue and profit margin,
such estimation is based on the past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development of
the ChaoShang Financial CGU. There was no change in the
basis on determination of the recoverable amounts as at 31
March 2023 and 2022.

Since the recoverable amount of the ChaoShang Financial
CGU determined based on value in use calculation was
less than their carrying amounts, impairment losses
on intangible assets and goodwill of approximately
HK$4,700,000 (2022: Nil) and HK$3,995,000 (2022:
HK$71,700,000) were recognised during the year
respectively.

For sensitivity analysis, if the discount rate is increased or
the growth rate beyond the five-year period is decreased
by 100 basis points respectively, the recoverable amount
of the ChaoShang Financial CGU would be lower than
its carrying amount and the impairment loss on goodwill
and the ChaoShang Financial CGU’s assets (including
intangible assets) would be increased by approximately
HK$13,270,000 and HK$3,810,000 respectively.

17

BREERBE ®
Hin\E\EEERBESRENS @

BEERACEAFMHZEVEERBESE
EOBFYINHRBETRFETRE
A - ARARENSZFBHIW T

HEERMIREEEEM
FABEREB L BEGEMERL
BZENAREHARN TR E S 564
HIEEE HoEEHnsmReES
BUMEBEFEERBEETRENR
HEeMIESEESAZOTRE ST
REEREEET FREBENRES
MEBEAEHAERERFH MEESE
ERAReREEAIE - RenEEA
FREER Z BEIRE A118% (T _—
10.2%) "M AEFHBZRERENER
25% (ZEZZHF :25%) 2IBEXH
Bt EEREEMANEMEZER
RERESRA REGEERE 296
EEEWE R HEFE BREGETER
HECHBECELEMNZBERRERE
BEEEMBEE B B#EZZ "=
FEM_E__F=A=+—H 'HBE~
W E) 558 7 MRyl S o

HRREFEREEEEZ iR
SEFENZAWREISBEENIRE G
AR EAFENEDEREBEEEKRS
2o B K518 494,700,0008 T (B2 -
F 1 4E) 3,995,000 T (ZE =
71,700,000 %) ©

MBREDTME  MRR RGNS A
FHRBRIRE LD 25100857 > BIEE
ERIRE EE B2 AR BT AR R
HifEEEEmERABmERIREEE
BUEE BRBRETVEER ZREBER
7 BIIE h04913,270,0007%8 75 523,810,000
BT

TEC=FFR

221



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

222

17

18

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
(Continued)

Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU

During the year, the management reviewed and assessed
the value in use of the Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU to
determine its recoverable amount. No impairment loss was
recognised for the Comercializadora Ven 2010 CGU (2022:
Nil).

17

BREEREE @

CIhHEEBREEL SN

RARFR EEEBERRTGHCIHEE
REELEBUNTEREBEUETEERK
Ol - CHEEREELFBEMNIEDS
BB HEBE (CEZ_F 1 8) -

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 18 HthERMEE
2023 2022
—E-= _EC_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 April rEA—H 43,250 4,721
Changes in fair value NREED) 11,806 74,089
Compensation receivable/fair value of  EREEINERE,Hithe/
other financial assets at the end of the BEAME
year 55,056 78,810
Reclassified to other receivables upon FEEEFI{RE 5T
completion of the CS Profit Guarantee &4 484 H it FEULER (55,056) (35,560)
At 31 March R=B=+—H - 43,250

ChaoShang Financial

The other financial assets of the Group represent the
profit guarantee (the “CS Profit Guarantee”) provided by
the vendors (the “CS Vendors”) to the Group arising from
the acquisition of ChaoShang Financial Holding Limited
(“ChaoShang Financial”) in December 2019.

The CS Profit Guarantee provided that for the period of
three-years commencing from the date of completion (i.e.
years ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year 1 PG"), 2021
(the “Year 2 PG") and 2022 (the “Year 3 PG") respectively),
the audited profit after tax of ChaoShang Financial shall
not be less than HK$20,000,000, HK$25,000,000 and
HK$30,000,000 respectively. Any shortfall (the “Shortfall”)
between the guaranteed profit and the actual profit for the
relevant guaranteed period shall be compensated by the
CS Vendors. On the contrary, if the actual profit is higher
than the guaranteed profit, 50% of the difference between
the guaranteed profit and the actual profit for the relevant
guaranteed period shall be shared by the CS Vendors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

18 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continuea) 18 HEMEE &

ChaoShang Financial (Continued)

The CS Profit Guarantee represents a right to the return of
previously transferred consideration for the acquisition of
ChaoShang Financial when the specified conditions are met
and hence constitutes a kind of contingent consideration
arrangement to be accounted for as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 3 and
HKFRS 9. The CS Profit Guarantee was initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the acquisition date at a fair value determined by an
independent professional qualified valuer.

As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of the CS Profit
Guarantee was determined to be approximately
HK$55,056,000 (2022: HK$78,810,000). As the guarantee
periods have been completed and the Shortfall was re-
classified to other receivables (Note 23), the carrying
amount of the CS Profit Guarantee was zero as at 31
March 2023. A fair value gain on other financial assets of
approximately HK$11,806,000 (2022: HK$74,089,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March
2023. Details of the valuation technigues and key input used
for other financial assets are disclosed in Note 3.1(f) to the
consolidated financial statements.

HEER @
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ERAENREBCENDHEE HEWR
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SR e B R B AR

19 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES R SR EHRIE
2023 2022
—EZ=HF BT TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Current portion of finance lease EHMERE MENER D

receivables 46,681 69,545

Non-current portion of finance lease  FEUWRBEREMRIEIERBIZ D
receivables 468 7,905
47,149 77,450
Less: Impairment loss B ORERIE (13,262) (10,105)
33,887 67,345
The carrying amounts of the finance lease receivables are ERRERERIE REEUARKS

denominated in RMB. Bo

Minimum finance lease

Present value of minimum

receivables finance lease receivables
REEKREHEERE RIEEWRBRENIARE
2023 2022 2023 2022
2= B F —ET°= BT HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET TET
Within one year —ERX 33,802 61,408 33,423 59,518
In the second to fifth years, £ _E=ERFE
inclusive (BEREEMT) 474 8,250 464 7,827
34,276 69,658 33,887 67,345
Less: Unearned finance B RBIREBE WA
income (389) (2,313)  N/AFEA N/A R 38H
Present value of minimum  REEKRSHEE
finance lease receivables  FIEIRME 33,887 67,345 33,887 67,345
Less: Current portion of W EWRERE
finance lease ENEPTEIES)
receivables (33,423) (59,518)
Non-current portion of EWRERERIE
finance lease receivables  3ERENER D 464 7,827
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

19 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continuea) 19 FEURHMEHRERIE @
The aged analysis of finance lease receivables that is not T RAEBREZ BN ERENIERE
considered to be impaired is as follows: DU
2023 2022
—E=-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Neither past due nor impaired BEREHATR R R E 7,439 24,301
Past due but not impaired BERHERRE
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 205 313
31 t0 90 days 31E90H 152 626
91 to 180 days 91Z2180H 228 2,005
more than 180 days 180H M k£ 25,863 40,100
33,887 67,345
Set out below is the information about the credit risk LUTFEHA B ERREEEIERRE
exposure on the Group's finance lease receivables using a AEZRBEEAREROEBR
provision matrix:
31 March 2023 —E-=%=H=+—H
Over 1 year
but less
0-90 91days-  181days - than Over
days 180 days 365 days 2 years 2 years Total
BRIE
Finance lease receivables due FEWRI BT SRR 0-90B  91-180R  181-365H fBbir2sE BB et
Effective expected BHENEREE
loss rate 4.61% 52.89% 52.85% 23.87% 86.20%
Gross carrying amount FREEE 8,173 484 806 32,540 5,146 47,149
ECL provision BEeE 377 256 426 7,767 4,436 13,262
31 March 2022 E__F=HA=+—H
QOver 1year
but less
0-90 91 days - 181 days - than Over
days 180 days 365 days 2years 2years Total
BIlE
Finance lease receivables due EhRERETERH 0-908 91-1808  181-365H B0 BiB2E 45t
Effective expected BHENEREE
loss rate 3.39% 3272% 13.84% 27.43% 36.55%
Gross carrying amount REBE 26127 2,980 37,216 10,692 435 77,450
ECL provision BEeE 887 975 5,151 2933 159 10,105

Maximum exposure of credit risk and effective expected
loss rates are adjusted by settlements and/or collaterals

secured subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

RAERRBAERAESEREFHERE

RIFEAREHARSHER

REERTEE.
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19 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19 BKRRERERIE @
The movement in the provision for impairment of finance ﬁ%ﬂ&mﬁé%ﬂ%?ﬂﬁm@%ﬂ% U -
lease receivables is as follows:

HK$'000

TFAET
At 1 April 2021 N _E_—FMBE—H 6,998
Provision for impairment BERE 2,765
Currency translation differences ERBEEER 342
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RIEZ—F#=-FB=+—HK

“ETFMA—H 10,105

Provision for impairment BB 3,931
Currency translation differences ERBEER (774)
At 31 March 2023 W_E_=fF=A=+—H 13,262
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, finance lease receivables N R =FRIBEITF=ZA=4+—
were secured over the leased assets mainly by machineries B EKRERERIEMIEFCHEE
and equipments. BRI REE
The maturity date for each finance lease contract is EMERESREIAH —RNEIRBSF-
normally not more than 5 years. The interest rate inherent REEESEHAN HEMEUSEBH
in the leases is fixed at the contract date for the entire FETEAE BEFMNENA10%E
lease term. The effective interest rate is approximately 15% (ZBE -4 1 10%E15%) o P& R
10% to 15% (2022: 10% to 15%) per annum. The maximum FHFR BARAZTRAEERRRTDE YR
exposure to credit risk at each of the end of the reporting BEMIaZ IRMEEC
period is the carrying value of the finance lease receivables.
There was no unguaranteed residual value of assets leased RIZZ=FRIZEZZF=R=+—
under finance leases as at 31 March 2023 and 2022. The BrummEfEE TeHEEEZE
Group applies the simplified approach to provide lifetime ERAGEE AEERBBLES L
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 for finance lease receivables. HEWMBEHEERBINEBUHREGE
The management assessed the expected loss on all finance B AEsH IR R FHEREERS
lease receivables individually and the credit quality of B-EEEBHMARKRERERIER
finance lease receivables has been assessed by reference AT LA 1B > MR BB E RIS
to historical information about counterparty default rates E’JT:.f\,\%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁziiﬁLﬁ’ﬂfE’J
and fair value of collaterals, if any. BEERN KRR WA NAREE

B
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 20 FEURERTR

2023 2022
—EC-= B CHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Receivables arising from securities MEBHLALET
broking business: EEZEWERRR :
- Loans to margin clients —AREEELER 60,438 67,411
- Clearing houses —4EER - 327
60,438 67,738
Less: Impairment loss B ORERE (28,431) (21,086)
__________________________________________________________ SEODAN 16652
Receivables arising from asset NEEEEEBEEBES
management business FE U BR R = -
Receivables arising from trading NEBHEBREEZIEWIRER
business 295,339 283,002
295,339 283,002
Less: Impairment loss o BEEE (43,571) (40,863)
_________________________________________________________ SOL7o8y @ 242137
Total trade and account receivables FEURBR TR 4R %R 283,775 288,791
Receivables arising from securities broking SR EERRULAR

With regard to receivables arising from securities broking,
the Group seeks to maintain tight control over its
outstanding account receivables and has procedures and
policies to assess its clients’ credit quality and define credit
limits for each client. All client acceptances and credit limits
are approved by designated approvers according to the

clients’ credit quality.

B EE ZBUERRM S » & &
) 55 SR A A B A ) LR UR [0 7B U BR
FoNRAEFRRBRAFEERZIE
BEEFErRBEEBRERNEERE %
REPRBEEERBESHEEMLZA
BRBEPNEEERM X

TEC=FFR
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Receivables arising from securities broking
(Continued)

The normal settlement term of cash clients and clearing
houses account receivables arising from the ordinary
course of business of securities broking is two trading days
after the trade date.

Loans to margin clients are secured by the underlying
pledged securities, repayable on demand and bear interest
at commercial rates. As at 31 March 2023, the total market
value of securities pledged as collateral in respect of the
loans to margin clients was amounted to approximately
HK$172,897,000 (2022: HK$255,114,000). Securities are
assigned with specific margin ratios for calculating their
margin values.

Receivables arising from asset management
business

There are no credit terms granted to clients for its asset
management business.

Receivables arising from trading business
The Group's trade receivables are generally with credit
periods of 60 to 120 days (2022: 60 to 120 days).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the end
of the reporting period is the carrying amount value of the
trade and account receivables. Except for the receivables
arising from securities broking, the Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

The carrying amounts of the trade and account receivables
are denominated in following currencies:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

20 FEURARFR (@

TR EE ZBINERR @)

RESRALEBEBBREREE 2B
Iﬁ.%%ﬁ&l\D%FﬁEET)\Eq RAEEHEA
RZBEMERZH-

BREESFT L BRI LUARIRRESE
%EHEﬁ BREERERE TIREENRK
R IEZF=ZRB=1+—H '5A
f%ua/f%ﬁ S IR IR IR R 2 9%2
MBTHELA172,897,00058 T (B -
£ 1 255,114,000 70) B HEWEFHT
ZIREBREELGIEERESEE

BEEEEEHELNEBIRR

MENEEEEEFOERARTEER
Hio

B EBRELWREIRERR
EENERER Z EEH—KRA60E
120K (ZEBZZF : 60E120K) ©

RERSHR BERZERAREERRTY
EWERM Z BREE - MFRESFELEEZ
FEUER RSN R E I B A IR
B ER

FEUER TR EE L NG HETIME !

2023 2022

—E-= TECF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

HK$ BT 32,007 46,652
RMB AR 251,768 242,139
283,775 288,791
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 20 FEURERFR (@)
(Continueq)

No ageing analysis of cash clients account receivables and
loans to margin clients is disclosed as in the opinion of the
Directors, the ageing analysis is not meaningful in view of
the nature of the cash clients account receivable arising

from securities broking and the revolving margin loans.

ENRERBHFEALZERIREERIRMN
RERFREEEMZEE  EFIBK
BoMTEEER R ERERRER
REFRERIAKAREEERERZIR
B DT

PRERERR - B A (RSBl E A
H-HER) 2B REEEEEBESE
Z FEWERREI BRI ERH 2 RE DT

An aged analysis of receivables arising from trading and
asset management businesses, net of allowance for
impairment, at the end of the reporting period, based on the

date of invoice (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier), is o
as follows:

2023 2022
—EZ= ECF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 26,967 6,831
3110 60 days 31260H 3,526 5,921
61 to 90 days 61290H - 25,263
91 to 180 days 91ZE180H 11,702 25,482
More than 180 days 180H L L 209,573 178,642
251,768 242,139

The aged analysis of receivables arising from trading and
asset management businesses that are not considered to
be impaired is as follows:

TEREREZEZREEEEERX
BEL 2 BUCBRFERE DTN T ¢

2023 2022

== BT TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FHET

Neither past due nor impaired BE R B A TR R BB 30,493 35,069
Past due but not impaired BEREHERRE

0 to 30 days 0%30H 4,041 10,731

31 to 90 days 31&90H 7,661 19,115

91 to 180 days 91&180H 9,279 50,022

more than 180 days 180H U k& 200,294 127,202

251,768 242,139
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 20 FEURBRFR (@
(Continued)
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide AEBERBBIESE HTEBYER
lifetime ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 for all trade and account LB AU B R EERNFRRE TR
receivables. The management assessed the expected 10ss EHERTEHREERB -EEEERF
on trade and account receivables individually. AR ERAR R TEET S8
The individually impaired trade and account receivables are EEEERERKERBERER
recognised based on the credit history of its customers, FREELR Al BRI RGE
such as financial difficulties or default in payments, and £ RIRITHIGBERIERRLIZH R
current market conditions and are adjusted for forward- BB AATB N AIERIEHAI RSN
looking information that is available without undue cost or FEE o
effort.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk DUT 8155 B R B B AR fE PV FE W AR AR
exposure on the Group's trade and account receivables ERARKOER
using a provision matrix:
31 March 2023 —E-=F=HB=+—H
Over 1 year
but less
0-90 91days- 181 days - than Over
days 180 days 365 days 2 years 2 years Tota
Trade and account BEE
receivables due FEMER AR 0-90H  91-180H 181-365H (U ki3 BiR2E st
Effective expected B ANREER
loss rate 28.08% 2.33% 2.53% 13.85% 60.91%
Gross carrying amount REBE 103,166 9,500 155,108 31,262 56,741 355,777
Provision Bt 28,964 221 3,928 4,330 34,559 72,002
31 March 2022 TETTF#F=ZR=+—H
QOver 1year
but less
0-90 91 days - 181 days - than Over
days 180 days 365 days 2 years 2 years Total
Trade and account BEE
receivables due FEMER a8 0-90H 91-1808  181-365H B0E BIE2E 485t
Effective expected B ANREER
loss rate 15.91% 1.40% 5.45% 18.06% 64.37%
Gross carrying amount FREBE 132,679 50,730 91,465 29,566 46,300 350,740
Provision B taist 21,112 708 4,987 5,340 29,802 61,949

Maximum exposure of credit risk and effective expected
loss rates are adjusted by settlements and/or collaterals
secured subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
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20 TRADE AND ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 20 FEURBRFR (@)

21

(Continued)
The movement in the provision for impairment of trade and FEWGRFURERBESWT !
account receivables is as follows:

HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2021 R_E_—FlMF—H 49,155
Provision for impairment R E R 11,275
Currency translation difference ERnEE=SR 1,519
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 WIE-_ _&F#=ZB=+—HKK
—ET_FPWPA—H 61,949
Provision for impairment AEEE 13,092
Currency translation difference ERmEESR (3,039)
At 31 March 2023 AR =_F=FB=+—H 72,002
FACTORING RECEIVABLES 21 FEWRIERE
2023 2022
—EZ=F i -
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Factoring receivables FEURIERRIE 20,862 52,152
Interest receivables FEWHI 2 22 895
20,884 53,047
Less: Impairment loss o BEEE (626) (1,564)
20,258 51,483
The carrying amounts of the factoring receivables are FEWRIZEFRIE BREMBEUAREHE
denominated in RMB.
The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL AEBBRAB KA X HEWRER
prescribed by HKFRS 9 for factoring receivables, which ERE BB S ERNFIRRETIE
permits the use of the 12 months ECL provision for these BHEEBREZEBE BPATMILESE
factoring receivables, unless there has been a significant FEWRIERIERA12E B FEREERE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, which the BE BRIEFEVEEIEREERRBERE
Group then recognises lifetime ECL. EB AEBERERFERFHRERE

Bi5Ee

TEC=FFR

231



HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e B R B AR

21 FACTORING RECEIVABLES (continuea) 21 FEWRIERRIA &

The movement in the provision for impairment of factoring

receivables is as follows:

EWREREREEFEZSINT

HK$'000
TFAET
At 1 April 2021 N _E _—FF—H 531
Provision for impairment BEEE 993
Currency translation differences ERREER 40
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RIE__F=ZRA=+—Hk
—E-_F#A—H 1,564
Reversal of impairment loss A (831)
Currency translation differences ERREER (107)
At 31 March 2023 A TET=ZF=ZHA=+—H 626
22 LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 22 FERETKRFE
2023 2022
—E= B _F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loan receivables FEW E =R 182,951 105,167
Interest receivables FEUWLFHI 2 26,952 20,385
Loan and interest receivables FEWERERF B 209,903 125,552
Less: Impairment loss B ORERE (31,677) (29,424)
178,226 96,128
Current portion of loan and FEWE R HM B mEn S5
interest receivables 55,106 77,678
Non-current portion of loan and FEWE R H] EIERENER1D
interest receivables 123,120 18,450
178,226 96,128
Analysed as: DA
Within one year —FRN 55,106 77,678
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ~ E_E=FAF (BEEEWE) 123,120 18,450
178,226 96,128
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SR e B R B AR

22 LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(Continuea)
The carrying amounts of loan and interest receivables are

22

RWERRFE @

EWER KRB ZREEU T &5

denominated in the following currencies: & :
2023 2022
—E== —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FAT
HK$ I 35,608 35,501
RVB AR 142,618 60,627
178,226 96,128

The aged analysis of loan and interest receivables that is not

FEREREZEEERRT BRED

considered to be impaired is as follows: MEE
2023 2022
== /O
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Neither past due nor impaired BE R B ER TR AR B 126,938 58,382

Past due but not impaired BRI ERRE

0 to 30 days 0Z30H 405 478
31 to 90 days 31E90H 720 658
91 to 180 days 91E180H 1,052 7,049
more than 180 days 180H U k& 49,111 29,561
178,226 96,128
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22 LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 22 FERERKRFE @
(Continued)
Loan receivables are interest-bearing at approximately B ERIUA8%EI8% (ZE -
8% t0 18% (2022: 8% t0 18%) and are repayable with fixed 8%E18%) 5T &> Iﬁfﬁiﬁ%l%ﬁ%i
terms agreed with the Group's customers. The maturity date NETCHRANER ZERSRIAR
for each loan contract is normally not more than 3 years — M HBE3E I A KR o ﬁ?%iﬁi
and were unsecured. The maximum exposure to credit risk MRPTERNERAEERESENER
at each of the end of the reporting period is the carrying KF) ERVERTEE
value of the loan and interest receivables.
The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECL KREBEHRA—RAZ HEWER K
prescribed by HKFRS 9 for loan and interest receivables, FMEMEAMBREERFIOFR T
which permits the use of the 12 months ECL provision RTAEEBEZEBE BRI
for these loan and interest receivables, unless there ERWERERFMERBI2ERSBEHEE
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial EEE A RIFBVIGRRBEER R
recognition, which the Group then recognises lifetime BREEEN AEEEDMMEAFHTE
ECL. The management assessed the expected loss on all HEEmE-BEEEHMEBERKENK
loan and interest receivables individually and the credit FE@RTEHAR R MEWER RIS
quality of loan and interest receivables has been assessed NEEBERILV2ZEMBFHENEN
by reference to historical information about counterparty BEERETT G

default rates.

The movement in the provision for impairment of loan and EWER A EREREZEEHNT
interest receivables are as follows:

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2021 A ZE T —FHA—H 14,760

Provision for impairment B E R 16,403

Written off b/ 67! (2,325)

Currency translation differences ERMEER 586
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RIEZZF=A=+—H

”r_E-_FWPA—H 29,424

Provision for impairment BEEE 3,569

Currency translation differences ERhEER (1,316)

At 31 March 2023 RZ2EZ=F=B=+—H 31,677

234  annval Report 2023



SR e B R B AR

23 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

BEHEERFRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 #BE - FAMREREMEURRIE

2023 2022
—E-= ==

HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FHEx

Deposits paid, prepayments and other B 11&& ~ FA(THIE
receivables (Note) R EanpEWEIE (M sh) 78,804 42,266
Less: Impairment loss B ORERE (4,532) (3,468)
74,272 38,798

The movement in the provision for impairment of deposits
and other receivables is as follows:

B K EL A S R IR R E B B 2 i
—FI

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 April 2021 R _E_—FMA—H 3,565

Provision for impairment REEE 1,152

Written off b1 (1,335)

Currency translation differences ERREER 86
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RN_E__F=HA=+—H

KRZEZZEME—H 3,468

Provision for impairment RERE 1,194

Currency translation differences ERREER (130)

At 31 March 2023 A _E=—F=-H=+—H 4,532

Note: As at 31 March 2023, included in deposits, prepayments and
other receivables was approximately HK$53,118,000 (2022:
HK$13,178,000) being the net amount of the compensation
receivables from the CS Vendors reclassified from other financial
assets (Note 18) and offset by the retained consideration
payables to the CS Vendors (Note 28) in relation to the CS Profit
Guarantee.

M RZEZ=F=A=+—H> 8EFEREZ
E - BERBEBRAEMERIBESH
—54953,118,0008 7T (Z & - —4F :
13,178,000 70) F18 > A BN EEE
FRE AEMSREEE D EIEYE
mE Az FmER (E18) - REENEH
BB Z S RE R ERRITH (5528) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

24 HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 24 FHIFEERE
2023 2022
—EZ=HF B _F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value through R ARBEABZNEHEE
profit or loss
Equity securities held-for-trading: FIEEERARS !
— Listed in Hong Kong —R&EBL™ 7,443 7,987

25

The held-for-trading investments are stated at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The fair values of listed
equity securities are determined by reference to the bid
prices on the Stock Exchange.

CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS

The Group maintains segregated trust accounts with
licensed banks to hold securities clients’ monies arising
from its normal course of business. The Group has classified
the clients” monies as “Cash held on behalf of clients” under
the current assets section of the consolidated statement
of financial position and recognised the corresponding
account payables to respective clients on the grounds that
the Group is liable for any loss or misappropriation of the
clients’” monies. The Group is not allowed to use the clients’
monies to settle its own obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 3 S 5 AR B ok

26 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 26 RERPITHEE
2023 2022
—EZ= TEI
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHETT
Cash at bank and on hand RITEFHERE 138,497 217,023
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances are RERIRTEFEZREEL T &
denominated in the following currencies: (=1
2023 2022
—ECZ=HF TEI A
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HK$ =P 30,251 40,769
Us$ E7T 4,408 4,049
EUR BRIt 4 4
RMB AR 103,834 172,201
138,497 217,023
The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign 1A R W 45 B 50 4 23 SNEE L i 1EE 25 M IS
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies IRITHE R RIREEHPE BETHEH
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are BT 5L 90 BE & I 08 1 2 A8 B AR B o0&
subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange o

control promulgated by the PRC government.
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27 SHARE CAPITAL 27 &
(a) Authorised capital (@) EERE
Number of Nominal
shares value
& B mH{E
HK$'000
TFAET
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 RIEZ—FWBE—H>
and 2023, ordinary shares of TETTERIETZ
HK$0.02 each —A=1+—H SkREE
0.028 Tz Z@mR M 5,000,000,000 100,000
(b) Issued and fully paid capital (b) BETRBEZRZE
Number of Nominal
shares value
i & 8 EfE
HK$'000
AT
As at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 A_E_—FMBE—H>
and 2023, ordinary shares of TEITFRIZI=F
HK$0.02 each =R=+—8 =sKEE
0.028 7tz BiERI1D 4,120,600,000 82,412
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27 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(c)

Share Option Scheme

At the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 2 September 2013, the shareholders of
the Company approved the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from 2 September 2013,
unless otherwise terminated. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to provide the Company
with a flexible and effective means of incentivising,
rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to the Directors, employees and
other participants of the Company and the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed
10% of shares in issue on 2 September 2013 unless
the Company seeks the approval of the shareholders
in general meeting for refreshing the 10% limit
under the Share Option Scheme. Pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company at an annual general meeting on 26 August
2016, the 10% limit under the Share Option Scheme
was refreshed to 73,612,000 shares. Subsequent to
this refreshment, pursuant to an ordinary resolution
passed by the shareholders of the Company at a
special general meeting on 5 September 2016, every
one share of the Company of HK$0.10 each was
subdivided into five subdivided shares of HK$0.02
each. Hence, the maximum number of shares
available for subscription was adjusted to 368,060,000
shares, and there were no further changes since then
up to 31 March 2023 and the date of this report.

The exercise price, vesting period, the exercisable
period and the number of shares subject to each
option will be determined by the Board at the time of
grant. No option has been granted by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption to
the date of this report.

27 BRE @&

(c)

fERRtEst Bl

RAEARTN _ZE—=FNBZHE
TZREBERG L XATRR
HERMBERES S (TERES
gl1) BRI 1T RS E
B_E-—=ZFNA_HERKESR
MR ER > 7H+F - BRI S
EEREAREREEEMERIE
HEMB EAERD REERZ
Ex BEARHMBRERMSE
2R Bl R TAER o

EITER R B RES B TR HE
e AR 1T SEBY P A B8 A R T P BE 3%
THRNEE aHESTSER
AT B EITRARIZ0%

HAITFEREBEERESIFTIRE
BIFT A BT A BE TR M,
WO EHAEBBEANR_Z—=
NBZHEZETRHB Z210% tEA
NE ARG EPRRE RS Lt
JEE TR ST 2IIE T 2 10%R
B RBEBRABRENRZZE—REF
NBZHARERITZEREREFK
BEB s TEAERE BRESE
TZ10%PREEEEHE73,612,000
RoEZEME  RIBEARBIRE
N ZE-RNFENBEBRETZR
REAERBZEERER &
— R EREEC10E T Z AR AT
DA ERESREEC.02E T ZIF
MR AL AIEEE 2 RZ K
1 88 B #5758 %8 %368,060,0008% » —
BEEE_E_=F=F=+—H
AR E B E B mEE) o

EFERNREBRERETS
EREZTEE BB 176
AR Py R IR B E - BRI B B
EXRBS A XA W ERERN
StEIR B EAIRERE-

TEC=FFR
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28 RETAINED CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 28 BIRENE

2023 2022
—E-= TEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
As at 1 April HUA—H 14,211 35,150
Accretion of interest recognised FERNERRH EE
during the year 907 1,443
Offset against compensation R m A REE T
receivables (Note 23) upon IEEH UL (MF5E23)
completion of the CS Profit Guarantee (15,118) (22,382)
As at 31 March W=B=+—H = 14,211
Current portion of retained FEREB L ERENID
consideration payables - -
Non-current portion of retained FEGRE R EBIERENZH
consideration payables - 14,211
- 14,211
The retained consideration of the Group represents the AEBNEMNRERENMRNR -Z—H
consideration payables to the CS Vendors in relation to the FE+_RlBEIREREMNEEE S Z
acquisition of ChaoShang Financial in December 2019. R o
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28 RETAINED CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 28 EHFENRE®

(Continueq)

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, a balance in
the amount of HK$37,500,000 (the “Retained Consideration
Payables”) shall be retained by the Company at completion
of acquisition as security, and subject to the fulfillment of
the relevant CS Profit Guarantee (Note 18), the Retained
Consideration Payable shall be released and payable by the
Company to the CS Vendors in the following manner:

(1) Subject to fulfillment of the Year 1 PG, HK$10,000,000
shall be released and payable to the CS Vendors;

(2)  Subject to fulfillment of the Year 2 PG, HK$12,500,000
shall be released and payable to the CS Vendors; and

(3)  Subject to fulfillment of the Year 3 PG, HK$15,000,000
shall be released and payable to the CS Vendors.

The Retained Consideration Payables were carried at
amortised cost which were discounted to their present
values by using appropriate discount rates.

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, the
Retained Consideration Payables shall be set off against the
compensation receivable from the CS Vendors in respect of
the CS Profit Guarantee. As such, the carrying amounts of
the relevant Retained Consideration Payables were offset
against other receivables (Note 23) as at 31 March 2023 and
2022.

RIE B E 5% > —=37,500,00078 7T ;A
(TN REARE) BBERB I TEH
W B R R R (E IR AR mE )
fRa8 (MEE18) BEME > A ABHLIU
ThXAPEE L ER R ANEMRE
RE:

) FTrEF—FEARISR FH
J# B2 32 110,000,000/ 7t F 4 i &
75

Q FREE_SEHFFRER
MUK 32 £412,500,00054 70 F 4 =
VR

£ 5%

B FmEFE=ZFERMfRER T
MU 3% £415,000,0005 70 F i m &=
750

BANRENEBUHENATE BEE
MMIREFTERRE

REEEHZ BRUNRERERTER
Mt afREMEBUCEEE S
NEER FHI R 2= _F
“_ZHF=A=t+—HEBEMREN
B2 R ED B EMEWEIEN (st
23) °

— s —
—=

" ZFFR
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29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 29

The major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the

EEREEE  (BfR)
AEECRIBEERELE/ (BE)

Group are as follows: ZEFEEHWOT -
Deferred tax
assets Deferred tax liabilities
BEREEE BEREEE
Fair value
Revaluation  adjustment on
Allowance on  of investment intangible
doubtful debts property assets Total
BEmE BYEE
RERER BB NRERER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TET
At 1 April 2021 RZE_—-FMNA—H 9,009 (1,940) (3,465) (5,405)
Recognised in profit or loss BERTHD 4,907 726 - 726
Currency translation difference ERHNEER 287 69) - 69)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 F‘?::E’H‘I— H
- _FMB—H 14,203 (1,283) (3,465) (4,748)
Recognised in profit or loss BiEm PR 3,962 546 776 1,322
Currency translation difference ERHMEER (667) 89 - 89
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H 17,498 (648) (2,639) (3,337)

At 31 March 2023, the Group did not recognise deferred tax
assets in respect of tax losses amounting to approximately
HK$202,886,000 (2022: HK$212,041,000). The Hong Kong
tax losses of approximately HK$183,723,000 (2022:
HK$160,690,000) can be carried forward indefinitely and the
remaining PRC tax losses will be expired from 2024 to 2027
(2022: 2023 to 2026). Deferred tax assets are recognised
for temporary difference on ECL to the extent that the
realisation of the related tax benefits through future taxable

profit is probable.
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29

30

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
(Continuea)

The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%, unless
reduced by a tax treaty, for dividends distributed by PRC
subsidiaries to its immediate holding company outside the
PRC for earnings generated beginning on 1 January 2008.

The Group's management determines the dividend
distribution plan of the subsidiaries in the PRC. Based on the
dividend distribution plan, retained profits as at 31 March
2023 amounting to approximately HK$65,100,000 (2022:
HK$67,879,000) will not be distributed by the subsidiaries
as dividend in the foreseeable future. Deferred taxation has
not been provided in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the temporary difference attributable to
retained profits of the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not release in the foreseeable future.

29

BIERIBEE (BB @

BT N\F—A—HBMR%5 FIFRE
MIBIFRAT LURL > B E R E FE
Mt~ B E A & A T ) B R E R S
ERERATDIKR B AGMI0%TAN
o

ZK%%@FZEEPIWE’&ﬂZH“
DikEtE  RIBRE DI ED ZEH
BRAEN _E_=ZF£=H=+— EIZT?
iR &£ 4965,100,0005 T (ZE -
£ 1 67,879,000 7T) R RERELE
DIKVEAIRE c M AR E BN ITHIE
B = BRI MAZERFMEE
ERUENRTRREIZE A > FILE
R ERE B A B D IRIR B E M ARSI BB
TR ER 2 BAEIERET R AR
BHFEHERPHE -

TRADE AND ACCOUNT PAYABLES 30 FE(TERFR
2023 2022
—EC-= B CHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Payables arising from securities REBFRGLESBEE
broking business: FE{TERRR :
- Cash clients account payables —EIREE P IRM 1,903 7,120
- Margin clients account payables —ENREEELRR 19,746 25,185
- Clearing houses —4EEFrR 55 2,610
Payables arising from trading business #{t25 & 5 235 E 4+ 2 FET IR 11,401 -
Total trade and account payables FE(TBR AR ZA 33,105 34,915
ZEC=FFR
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30 TRADE AND ACCOUNT PAYABLES 30
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of trade and account payables are
denominated in following currencies:

FEfFARRR (42

FEMTERRR Z BREE U T HI G HET(E :

2023 2022
—E-= —EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

HK$ BT 21,704 34,915
RMB AR 11,401 -
33,105 34,915

In view of the nature of the payables arising from securities
broking, no ageing analysis is disclosed as in the opinion
of the Directors, the ageing analysis is not meaningful. The
normal settlement terms of payables arising from securities
broking are two trading days after the trade date.

The aged analysis of the payables arising from trading
business at the end of the reporting period, based on the
date of invoice (or date of cost recognition, if earlier), is as

ENRARFELZBUERME &
$* IR DM EESR NI ERKE

BREC DT MBS ECETBRETEL
ZBEHEEME’J RAEFHARZBEM
[ER3z1=

RERERIAR R A (SR M4 H
o ﬁ%?) ZIREEREBELEZEN

BRFGREC DITAOT ¢

follows:
2023 2022
2= —ETTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
0 to 90 days 0&E90H 11,401 -
91 to 180 days 91E£180H = -
181 to 365 days 181£365H = -
More than 365 days 3650 U £ - -
11,401 -
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31 AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR 31 Bft—%ESNIAE
Amount due to a Director is unsecured, interest free and BN —REERBEARIKF - RERIZ
repayable on demand. The carrying amount of the balance ERFER ZEHEGZREELET
is denominated in HKS. F){E -

32 AMOUNT DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 32 FE(IIFIERRERTRIE
INTERESTS
Amount due to non-controlling interests is unsecured, EAIEERERRBEARIEF 28K
interest free and repayable on demand. The carrying BRERKER ZFHEBRZREABUA
amount of balance is denominated in RMB. RHEH(E

33 COMMITMENTS 33 KiE
(@) The Group as lessee (@) THEEBEAHEBEA

At the end of the reporting period, the lease
commitments for short-term leases are as follows:

RERE R A SRR E A
LI

2023 2022
== B CHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHEx
Not later than 1 year TIEIE 23 26
None of the leases include contingent rentals. BEAEE I AEE-
(b) The Group as lessor (b) HEREEALAA

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not
lease out its assets under short-term lease.

RIBE_=Fr-ZE_"_F=A8
=+—H FAEERBRELENR
EZHHaitiEEEE -

TEC=FFR
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HAERERER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e A AR B

Reconciliation of loss before taxation to (@) FMRMRAIEEAKEERERBR
cash used in operations &z HER
2023 2022
—E-= B
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET TFAET
Loss before taxation PRI AR 1E (44,855) (26,387)
Bank interest income HRITH EUA 7 (1,499) (2,605)
Sublease interest income DEBEF BWA 7 (223) (94)
Depreciation Es
— Property, plant and —E R E M
equipment 14(a) 5,286 5,975
- Right-of-use assets —(FREEE 14(b)(i) 8,363 11,637
Impairment loss on finance FEW R ETE ERIE
lease receivables AERTE 19 3,931 2,765
Impairment loss on trade FEU R FURE B8
receivables 20 5,747 5,700
Impairment loss on account  REE R EWERIURE
receivables from margin E518
clients 20 7,345 5,575
(Reversal of impairment loss)/  FEUIRIBRIERE
Impairment loss on factoring ~ (E14%) /#5148
receivables 21 (831) 993
Impairment loss on loan EWEHR T B RE
and interest receivables 518 22 3,569 16,403
Impairment loss on deposits o K E A e =R IE
and other receivables AERETE 23 1,194 1,152
Loss on changes in fair value of &R EYE A NELBEIE
investment property 15 2,185 2,904
Impairment loss on intangible EREERERE
assets 4,700 -
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 17 3,995 71,700
Gain on changes in fair value of &R EE A AE
other financial assets BB m 8 (11,806) (74,089)
Loss on changes in fair value of IFFEBRE N A EE
held-for-trading investments ~ E548 8 4,840 1,241
Gain on disposal of HEFIFEBERE WS
held-for-trading investments 8 (5,523) (5,662)
Loss on disposal of property, — HEYIZE RE MM EIE
plant and equipment 8 6 -
Gains on bargain purchase of RN EERE A B @R~
interest in an associate EEWERE 16 (820) (12,636)
Share of results of an associate DMLEE= AT 2EE 16 6,913 5,647
Finance costs FE A 9 2,156 2,020
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34 EZRRERER @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to (@) BRRAIESIEEARKE XFEAAR
cash used in operations (Continuead) EZHER @
2023 2022
—EZ=HF ECF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
MisE FET TFAT
Cash (used in)/generated from Rt R'EEE BB FIL S
operations before working %% FrR) /FiiERe
capital changes (5,327) 12,239
Decrease in finance lease FEW B &= E =R IE R
receivables 24,599 42,896
Increase in loan and interest  FEWE LA E1E0
receivables (90,103) (42,290)
Increase in amount due from  FEURERE A B FRIEIE N
an associate (500) (175)
Increase in trade and FE W BR R 38 0
account receivables (25,793) (16,674)
Decrease in factoring FEWRIBFRIE R D
receivables 28,289 81
Decrease/(Increase) in deposits, 1% & Bt FE K ZRIE
prepayments and other B ()
receivables 2,811 (7,014)
Decrease in cash held ER{EFEFEHRELD
on behalf of clients 13,065 6,440
Decrease in trade and FESBR R D
account payables (1,810) (10,079)
Decrease in contract liabilities &&#I&&ER /D = (40)
Decrease in accruals, FESTE R HENRIBER
other payables and Bz R
deposit received (2,438) (6,958)
Cash used in operations MEXBRARE (57,207) (21,574)

TEC=FFR
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
movements in net debt for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022 presented.

34 REHRERER @

(b)

REFERE AR

AHHIWNBE_SE_=FEKR_FT
__F=B=+—BLEEmRmZ
HEH FERAGER FREHN D

#re
2023 2022
—E-= TECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cash and cash equivalents RERIRETEEY 138,497 217,023
Borrowing EEN
— Lease liabilities —HEaE (20,882) (13,209)
- Amount due to a Director — N —REFEHRE (1,536) (1,214)
Net cash REFEE 116,079 202,600
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HthgE MEEHEL 28R
Cash and Amount
cash duetoa
equivalents Bond Lease Director
RERk payable liabilities fEf—4% Total
ReSEn EfES HEsR EENE EEh
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TET TET
Net cash as at 1 April 2021 RZEZ-FMNA—AH
ReFR 246,791 (7,800) (11,058) (764) 227,169
Cash flows changes: REmELE .
Cash inflows RERA - - - (450) (450)
Cash outflows REmd (56,069) 7,800 12,967 - (35,302)
Other changes: Hit£s) .
Recognition il - - (14,594) - (14,594)
Interest expense FEZH - - (524) - (524)
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ SNEZEZ 26,301 - - - 26,301
Netcashasat3TMarch2022 HZZE-—&#=ZB=+—-Hk
and 1 April 2022 “ET"ENA-AK
ReER 217,023 - (13,209) (1,214) 202,600
Cash flows changes: REneLE .
Cash inflows RERA - - - (322) (322)
Cash outflows Remd (66,619 - 10,566 - (56,053)
Other changes: Hthgs
Recogrition 5 - - (16,990) - (16,990)
Interest expense FEZH - - (1,249) - (1,249)
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ SMEZEZE (11,907) - - - (11,907)
Netcashasat31March 2023 MR-ZT-=&
“AZ+-HNREFR 138,497 - (20,832) (1,536) 116,079
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SR e B R B AR

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the

(b)

35 FAEALRS

BRI EMBREAMBHIKEZRS
MG FEBRAFERHARRERE

Group entered into the following transactions with related TTUTRS -
parties during the year:
(@) Transactions with related parties (@) EREARZRS
2023 2022
—E-= .=
Related parties relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
BRAERS Z R RAME FET TAT
Associate company and Commission expenses 30 17
companies controlled by the X H
associate company Rental income in relation to sub-
BENB RZHE R EH lease of office premises (1,945) (650)
HAE] BEASARAEZEEWA
Key management compensation (b) FEEEASRM
The remuneration of key management personnel of TEEAXREBREZTEEEAEN
the Group during the year was as follows: T -
2023 2022
—E=HF B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Salaries, allowances and other e R R EAMER
benefits 9,910 9,754
Contributions to retirement benefits 3B R4&F) 5t &Ik
scheme 170 160
10,080 9,914

TEC=FFR
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36 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 36 RAERAT
The Directors of the Company regard Superb Smart Limited, RABEERNRE R L FEEMAIL
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as ZSuperb Smart Limited2& 722 B B 4% 4%
being the ultimate holding company of the Company. NI

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37 BABMBRRRRFAEEE
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY
(@ Information about the statement of financial position @ AERBIRMEMERZMBRTER
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is BRI
as follows:
2023 2022
—E°= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEx
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREMEBE
Property, plant and equipment ME - RE K2 28 41
Right-of-use assets FREEE 5,400 8,100
Net investment in sublease DK EFEE 1,902 3,717
Investment in an associate BEATKE 13,213 12,975
Investments in subsidiaries B ARKRE 150,490 183,710
Other financial assets HitemEE - 43,250
171,033 251,793
Current assets MENEE
Amount due from an associate R E AR FIB 3,112 175
Amount due from subsidiaries RIS B AR FIA 596,915 669,955
Deposits, prepayments and & FANRIER
other receivables Hutrg W zra 55,920 16,444
Held-for-trading investments RHIEEBERE 7,443 7,987
Net investment in sublease DHREFEE 1,815 2,214
Cash and bank balances RERIRITER 1,591 324
666,796 697,099
Total assets BEMRE 837,829 948,892
EQUITY L
Capital and reserves BARRGEE
Share capital [N 82,412 82,412
Reserves 5 741,116 834,442
Total equity R AREE 823,528 916,854
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37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (continuead)

Information about the statement of financial position

of the Company at the end of the reporting period is

@)

as follows: (Continued)

FABMBRARRFEEES

f-

@

KRBRBEMRZHHRRE

BT @

2023 2022
—E-= BT F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities EREMEE
Retained consideration payables — FEfT{RER(E - 14,211
Lease liabilities HEaE 4,363 8,901
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 4363 23112
Current liabilities B U=k
Lease liabilities HEESRA 4,906 4,308
Accruals, other payables and FESTE I~
deposit received FIEREWEE 3,496 3,404
Amount due to a Director B —EENE 1,536 1,214
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 9938  89%
Total liabilities =L 14,301 32,038
Total equity and liabilities EnkafERELE 837,829 948,892
Net current assets MENEEFE 656,858 688,173
Total assets less BEEHEERREBARE
current liabilities 827,891 939,966

The statement of financial position of the Company
was approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June

2023 and was signed on its behalf.

Zheng Juhua
BHIE
Director

EE

FABZHMBRRERERZZ
T=ZHERBZThHKEFEH

EHRARES

Chan Chi Yuen

R&E
Director
EF

TEC=FFR
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37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37 ZRBPBHBRARKRFEED

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE ()

COMPANY (continued)

() Information about the reserve movement of the b)) EKRBIRREMERZFHEEHE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as BT
follows:

Share  Contributed Accumulated

premium surplus losses Total

B EE BRRER 2t ekl

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHERT FHET

At 1 April 2021 RZZZ—FNA—H 1,000,745 34,178 (229,973) 804,950
Profit for the year KEERF - - 29,492 29,492
At 31 March 2022 R_E-__&#=B=1+—H 1,000,745 34,178 (200,481) 834,442
Loss for the year AEEEE - - (93,326) (93,326)
At 31 March 2023 RZZEZ=F=A=+—H 1,000,745 34,178 (293,807) 741,116
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38 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31

38 XEMEBAT

T ARANBR _E_=F=B=+—

March 2023: HZzFEZMRBAE
Particulars of issued/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/  registered and fully paid Principal activities and shares held by
Name Note registration share capital place of operation the Company
KRS
k] Wik Mg BRIRMBLERET TEEBREENY RRIAE AL
Shares held directly:
ERFE
Noble Century Investment British Virgin Islands 1 share of US$1 each Investment holdings 100%
Group Limited ABUEMRES IRERERIETZRN REER
Shares held indirectly:
ki
Noble Century Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Money lending operated in Hong Kong 100%
CHUBERAR B 10,000 7T REBLEREER
3% (R ERERRAR @ People’s Republic of China  US$43,000,000 Finance leasing operated in the PRC 100%
H 43,000,000 7T RPBRSEHEREER
Noble Century KS Group Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Investment holdings and mould trading 100%
CHBFERERAT &E 100,000 7T in Hong Kong and the PRC
BREERRPNEBRPELE
REES
3% (R ESBRAT @) People’s Republic of China  RMB200,000,000 Electronic products trading in the PRC 100%
H B #200,000,0007T RPBKEEFERE
HEIREE (F) BRAT @0 People’s Republic of China  HK$40,000,000 Seafood trading in the PRC 100%
F 40,000,000 7T RRELEEHES
Hidili Pacific Industrial Co Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Methanol trading in the PRC 100%
ERHEBEERA B 1,000,000 7T RAEEEREEZER
FhREEHOBRAR (0) People’s Republic of China  RMB2,000,000 Frozen food trading in the PRC 70%
H A E#2,000,0007T ROBARE L RERES
CHESZE (R BRA (@ b People’s Republic of China  RMB50,000,000 Provision of entrusted loan in the PRC 100%
H A\ E 150,000,0007T RHRELERTER
Upwell Miracle Limited British Virgin Islands 1 share of US$1 each Investment holdings 100%
HEEAREE REREEIETZ RN REER
CIhE (R BEXER RT @b People’s Republic of China  US$150,000 Provision of consultancy and 100%
(mIFE{ 1% CRII) 7 H 150,000% 7T factoring services and
BRAT) general trading in the PRC
RREEHAARRIZRE K&
RE—RES
CHAOSHANG ASSET MANAGEMENT Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 Provision of asset management services 100%
LIMITED &5 10,000,000 7 in Hong Kong
HEEEEEARRAR REBEHEEBERS
ChaoShang Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$102,780,000 Provision of securities brokerage, 100%
BEESBERAT B 102,780,000 7T underwriting, placing, margin

financing services in Hong Kong
REFRERESEL 8 BE-
REEMERY

TEC=FFR
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39

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(a) The subsidiary is registered as wholly-foreign owned enterprises
under the PRC law.

(b) The subsidiary is registered as a limited liability enterprise under
the PRC law.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the reporting period or at anytime during both
years.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Significant restrictions

Cash and bank balance of approximately HK$103,870,000
(2022: approximately HK$172,240,000) are held in the PRC
and are subject to local exchange control regulations.
These exchange control regulations provide for restrictions
on exporting capital from the country, other than through
normal dividends.

COMPARATIVES FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.
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38

39

FEMBAE @
GEE

@ ZMBEBRRDBREREERTMAINGE
BmEhE-

O ZMEARRBEREERFEMAISE
REMERQAC

MEABBENREARAWEFER
ERIEEETERERES

?ﬁ% D7 ERFTPINAABMER
%ﬁ%$¢fﬁ¥u”‘m§ﬁk$$@éﬁ§

@TEZI;S‘BT c BRI HHE A

BRARZHBERTRIEBBENR TR

B AR

H& R IB1T451749103,870,000% 7T (Z
T T4 L #9172,240,0005%8 7T) FEHEE
BFEMINESHIIRG c ZEEHINE
EHROEEEE LB INEINBR S > 1
BB —ARRE BEEERRIN o

EEEBEF
ATHEREFECEMDEUTELRE
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HONG KONG CHAOSHANG GROUP LIMITED

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
TARA 5 2

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—ECZ= B EBEC-E  ECZE “T-AE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TET TET TER AT
Restated
==l
Results ES
Revenue from continuing REFELSE
operations e Al Gt 198,924 169,386 337,853 238,518 105,088
Loss before taxation from RERBEEREZ
continuing operations PriEIRE (44,855) (26,387) (24,409) (9,910) 21,912)
Taxation credit/(expense) wEge,/ (&R 3,062 (768) 960 (12,535) (7,909)
Loss for the year from continuing  REFFELEEB
operations AEERBE (41,793) (27,155) (23,449) (22,445) (29,821)
Profit/(Loss) for the year froma  RE B LTEEH
discontinued operation ZEEEERN/
(548) - - - 1,682 (6,207)
Loss for the year AFEBE (41,793) (27,155) (23,449) (20,763) (36,028)
Loss attributable to KABFBAERS
owners of the Company B (41,749) (26,842) (23,168) (19,469) (32,167)
Loss attributable to FEIERR R FE (G
non-controlling interests B8 (44) (313) (287) (1,294) (3,867)
Dividends RE = - - - -
Assets and liabilities BERAR
Total assets BELEE 916,102 1,018,657 1,067,749 1,044,105 806,474
Total liabilities BEEE 83,007 94,321 143,774 148,880 58,176
Net assets BERE 833,095 924,336 923,975 895,225 748,298
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